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successful in executing our strategic plan positioning us to capitalize

on our large and expanding market opportunities We anticipate that

our expanding sales and marketing organizations commitment to

innovation new product launches and FDA approvals will enhance

our market leadership position and continue to drive growth and

increase operating leverage during 2011 and beyond

As we entered 2010 we outlined the following key priorities for

achieving both near term and long-term success growth execution

of our regulatory and clinical milestones and customer valued

innovation The following key accomplishments highlight the

successful execution of those priorities

2010 revenue of $59 million 4th quarter revenue

growth of 20% on constant currency basis

Demonstration of increased profitability and

operating leverage adjusted EBITDA for 2010

of $1 .9 million and our first quarter of net income

recorded for the 4th quarter

FDA clearance of our AtriClipTM system in June

the first system in the U.S specifically cleared for

exclusion of the left atrial appendage

Successful commercial launch of the AtriClip

system during the 3rd quarter with adoption into

over 100 U.S accounts and revenue of $1.3

million during the 4th quarter

Expansion of our U.S sales organization by 20% to capitalize

on our growth platforms including the AtriClip system and

anticipated atrial fibrillation or AF approvals

Expansion of our direct selling efforts in select international

markets positioning us to capitalize on underpenetrated market

opportunities and new products

Submission of the final clinical module for our ABLATE clinical trial

positioning us to be the first company to obtain an AF label for

surgical ablation and

Initiation of enrollment in our DEEP AF clinical trial which

evaluates combined epicardial/endocardial or hybrid ablation

and mapping procedure for patients with persistent forms of

AF and failed catheter ablation patients representing large and

rapidly growing patient populations and large untapped market

opportunities

Our successful execution of our 2010 priorities demonstrates our

teams ability to achieve results and gives us confidence in our ability

tn tc ur 2011 strategic plan

To Our Valued Stakeholders

Di iring 2010 AtriOures passion fnr improving and presarving human

life by providing innovative technologies translated into strong

financial results and increased shareholder value We were highly
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One of our key accomplishments during 2010 was

FDA clearance and release nf the AtriOlip system in

the United States The AtriGlip system is designed to

provide physicians with safe and effective means

to exclude the left atrial appendage The AtriOlip

system was the first device cleared by the FDA

that is designed specifically for exclusion of the left

atrial appendage during concomitant open-heart

procedures and provides us with strong first-mover

advantage We estimate this new market opportunity

to be $200 million annually in the United States

The AtriOlip system also provides us access to new

customers and creates cross-selling opportunities

to broaden the adoption of our portfolio of ablation

products During 2011 we plan to leverage the

existing platform to develop totally thorocoscopic

AtriOlip platform for stand-alone exclusion of the

left atrial appendage which we believe will compete

favorably with endovascular devices

During 2011 we plan to launch several new surgical

ablation products to enhance our product offering

and expand our reputation as the market innovator

These anticipated product introductions include

New articulating bipolar radiofrequency ablation

clamp designed for use during open-heart

procedures

New cryoablation platform disposable probe

designed for less invasive open heart approaches

and robotic positioning and

New highly featured cryo generator which will

facilitate ease of use and support our enhanced

disposable cryoablation portfolio

We believe these advancements to our open heart

product offering will secure our leadership position

and provide additional cross-selling opportunities

when we sell the AtriOlip system to new customers

and to competitive ablation accounts

Since our inception we have been committed to

investing in clinical science and achieving FDA

approvals We have completed enrollment in our

ARLJATE clinical trial which is pivotal trial designed

to treat patients who have documented history

of permanent AF and are undergoing an elective

open-heart procedure We submitted the final clinical

module of our PMA during the fourth quarter We

believe achievement of this major milestone positions

our Isolator Synergy system to be the first surgical

ablation product with an AF indication Importantly

we believe that obtaining AF approval will increase

market penetration for our surgical ablation products

leading to improved long-term patient outcomes and

competitive share gains

During the fourth quarter we also initiated enrollment

in our feasibility trial for our Dual Epicardial/

Endocardial Persistent AF DEEP AF clinical trial

which is designed to investigate the safety and

effectiveness of our minimally invasive product

platform in combined thoracoscopic or key hole

surgical ablation and catheter ablation and mapping

procedure We believe this novel approach generally

known as hybrid procedure represents highly

promising treatment alternative and that the DEEP

AF hybrid approach will become standard of

care for patients with persistent or long standing

persistent AF as well as for the rapidly growing

number of patients who have failed single or multiple

catheter ablation attempts

We are also working to develop feasibility trial

to evaluate the AtriOlip system to exclude the left

atrial appendage through stand alone totally

thoracoscopic approach for the reduction of stroke

risk We believe there is growing physician interest

in the exclusion of the left atrial appendage and

its potential to reduce the risk of stroke in safe

and effective manner We plan to work with the

FDA during 2011 to design feasibility trial and if

successful anticipate initial enrollment during 2012

Leading Technologies and Innovation
e5t in Clinical Science

Drive New and Expanded Market
and FDA Approvals

Opportunities and Share Gains



Driving Near-Term

and Long-Term Growth

AtriCures broad and technologically superior product

ufferirig has established us as the market leader We

believe that our ongoing commitment to customer

valued innovation clinical science and FDA approvals

continues to represent the core of our competitive

advantage and positions our expanded highly

experienced sales and marketing organization to

capitalize on our underpenetrated and growing market

opportunities

We anticipate our near-term growth will be driven

primarily by sales of our AtriClip system and our

ablation products in our domestic markets and

by continued market share gains and expansion

in our international markets We exited 2010 with

approximately 65 sales professionals in the United

States which represents 20 percent increase over

the beginning of 2010 We believe this expansion will

help us to capitalize on our first-to-market advantage

with the AtriClip system as well as support expansion

of our ablation markets driven by our new product

offerings smaller selling territories and cross-selling

opportunities created by the AtriClip system Further

we anticipate an AF indication for our Isolator Synergy

open heart ablation system during 2012 which we

believe will also drive increased market share and

market expansion of the open heart ablation market

We are also well positioned for long term growth

and anticipate executing on our minimally invasive

and hybrid opportunities as well as stand-alone

exclusion of the left atrial appendage We believe we

have leading technologies and regulatory strategies

to capitalize on these large market opportunities

2010 marked AtriCures ten year anniversary and

wanted to take this opportunity to thank our

employees for their contributions dedication and

passion to improving patient care Their efforts have

resulted in the creation of leading technologies

that have been used globally to improve the lives

of an estimated 100000 patients in more than 30

countries would also like to thank our customers

and our stockholders for their ongoing support

and confidence am very proud of what we have

achieved over the past ten years at AtriCure and

am confident that our greatest accomplishments and

advancements are ahead us

Sincerely

LoLt
David Drachman

President and

Chief Executive Cfficer
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PART

This Form 10-K including the sections titled Managements Discussion and Analysis qf Financial

Condition and Results of Operations and Risk Factors contains foruarcl looking statements regarding onr

future peiformance Allforwardlooking in/ormation is inherently uncertain and actual results may differ

materially from assumptions estimates or expectations reflected or contained in the forward looking statements

as result of various factors including those set forth under Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Form 10K
Forward-looking statements convey our current expectations or forecasts offuture events All statements

contained in this Form 10 other than statements of historical fact are forwardlooking statements Forward

looking statements include statements regarding our future financial position busineis strategy budgets

projected costs plans and objectives of management for future operations The words may continue

estimate intend plan will believe project expect anticipate and sinnlar expressions may

identify forward-looking statements but the absence of these words does not necessarily mean that statement is

not forward looking With respect to the forvvard-looking statements we claim the protection of the safe harbor

forforward looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Refonn Act ef 1995 These forward-

looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K Unless required by law we undertake no

obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect new information or future

events or otherwise

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

We are medical device company and leader in developing manufacturing and selling innovative cardiac

surgical ablation systems designed to create precise lesions or scars in cardiac or heart tissue and devices for

the exclusion of the left atiial appendage We have two primary product lines for the ablation of cardiac tissue

Our primary product line for the ablation of cardiac tissue which accounts for majority of our revenue is the

Isolator Synergy bipolar ablation clamp system or Isolator system and related radiofrequency ablation devices

Additionally we offer cryoablation product line which features reusable and disposable cryoablation devices

Additionally we offer the AtriClipTM Gillinov Cosgrove Left Atrial Appendage System or AtriClip system

which is designed to safely and effectively exclude the left atrial appendage

Cardiothoracic surgeons have adopted our Isolator and cryoablation systems to treat atrial fibrillation or

AF in an estimated 100000 patients since January 2003 and we believe that we are currently the market leader

in the surgical treatment of AF Our products are utiliLed by cardiothoracic surgeons during concomitant cardiac

surgical procedures and also during sole-therapy minimally invasive cardiac ablation procedures During

concomitant open procedure the surgeon ablates cardiac tissue and/or treats the left atrial appendage secondary

or concomitant to primary cardiac procedure such as valve or coronary bypass Additionally cardiothoracic

surgeons have adopted our products as standard treatment altemative for AF patients who niay be candidates

for sole-therapy minimally invasive surgical procedures To date none of our products have been approved or

cleared by the Food and Drug Administration or FDA for the treatment of AF However we are conducting

clinical trials to investigate the safety and effectiveness of our products for the treatment of AF We anticipate

that substantially all of our revenue for the foreseeable future will relate to products we currently sell or are in

the process of developing which surgeons generally use to ablate cardiac tissue for the treatment of AF or for the

exclusion of the left atrial appendage

AF affects approximately 1% of the population in the United States It is the most common cardiac

arrhythmia or irregular heartbeat encountered in clinical practice and accounts for more doctor visits and

hospital days than any other cardiac arrhythmia AF is condition wherein abnormal electrical impulses cause

the atria or upper chambers of the heart to fibrillate or quiver at rapid rates of 400 to 600 beats per minute As

result of this quivering blood in the atria may become static creating an increased risk that blood clot will

form and cause stroke or other serious complications If AF persists patients often progress from expet-iencing



AF intermittently to having AF continuously condition that is more difficult to treat Symptoms of AF may
include heart palpitations dizziness fatigue and shortness of breath and these symptoms may be debilitating and

life threatening in some cases Although there is often no specific cause of AF the condition is often associated

with high blood
pressure

and other forms of heart disease In most cases AF is associated with cardiovascular

disease in particular hypertension congestive heart failure left ventricular dysfunction coronary artery disease

and valvular disease

In the United States we primarily sell our products to medical centers through our direct sales force

AtriCure Europe B.V our wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated and based in the Netherlands markets and

sells our products throughout Europe the Middle East and Africa or EMEA primarily through distributors

while in certain markets such as Germany and the Netherlands we sell directly to medical centers Additionally

we sell our products to other international distributors primarily in Asia South America and Canada Our

business is primarily transacted in U.S dollars with the exception of transactions with our European subsidiary

which are substantially transacted in Euros Our sales outside of the United States represented 19% of our

revenue during 2010 and 2009

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware as AtriCure Inc on October 31 2000 in connection with

spin-off transaction from Enable Medical Corporation in which shares of our common stock were distributed to

the Enable shareholders The spin-off was intended to allow us to focus on the development of products designed

to treat AF and to raise capital for that purpose while Enable continued its broader research and manufacturing

activities On August 2005 we completed an initial public offering of our common stock On August 10 2005

we acquired Enable Medical Corporation the manufacturer of our Isolator clamps which are an essential part of

our Isolator system Additionally in December 2005 we formed AtriCure Europe B.

Market Overview

AF is the most commonly diagnosed sustained cardiac arrhythmia and affects more than million people

worldwide including more than 2.5 million in the United States where approximately 160000 new cases of AF

are diagnosed each year According to data from the Framingham Heart Study study originally undertaken by

the National Heart Institute now known as the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute it is estimated that the

incidence of AF doubles with each decade of an adults life At age 40 remaining lifetime risk for AF is 26% for

men and 23% for women AF is an under-diagnosed condition due in large part to the fact that patients with AF

often have mild or no symptoms and their AF is only diagnosed when they seek treatment for an associated

condition such as stroke or heart disease We believe that increasing awareness of AF and improved diagnostic

screening will iesult in an increased nun bci of patients diagnosed with AF Also sinee the prevalence of AF

increases with age there will likely be an increase in the number of diagnosed AF patients in the United States as

the population ages

According to the American Heart Association people with AF are about five times more likely to have

stroke and AF is thought to be responsible for approximately 15% to 20% of the estimated 700000 strokes that

occur annually in the United States It is estimated that 90% of cardiac clots in AF patients form in the left atrial

appendage AF-related strokes tend to be severe and approximately 35% of AF patients will have stroke in their

lifetime Studies suggest that 25% of people who have an AF-related stroke die within the first thirty days

following their stroke and over 40% are permanently bedridden AF accounts for $6.7 billion in hospitalization

related costs in the United States each year and an estimated millinn in nffice visits annually Additinnal cncts

include the cost of drugs and indirect costs such as the management of AF related strokes the costs of which are

believed to be significant

AF is condition that doctors often find difficult to treat and historically there has been no widely accepted

long-term cure for AF Doctors typically begin treating AF with drugs which are often ineffective not well

tolerated and may be associated with serious side effects Patients who cannot effectively be treated with drugs

may be candidates to undergo catheter-based procedures to treat their AF To perform catheter ablation an



electrophysiologist performs the ablation from the inside of the heart using flexible catheter The heart is

reached via blood vessel most commonly through the femoral vein Catheter based procedures are often

technically challenging can be associated with serious complications are generally not indicated for certain

pnpulation nf AF patients and ha been known to yield inconsistent results Implantable devices such

pacemakers and deflbrillators are sometimes used to reduce the frequency and symptoms of AF although they

are not designed to treat the underlying disease In the past an open heart surgical procedure known as the cut

and sew Maze was used to treat AF but this procedure has not been widely adopted because it is technically

challenging highly invasive and involves long recovery
times

Of the patients undergoing open-heart surgery
in the United States we estimate that over 80000 of these

patients are potential candidates for surgical ablation using our ablation products Of the United States population

diagnosed with AF approximately 12% or 300000 of these patients are symptomatic and do not respond to

drug therapy or are intolerant to the drugs used to treat AF For these patients the cut and sew Maze procedure is

typically too invasive and catheter ablation may not be indicated Accordingly we believe that there is large

population of under-treated patients who would potentially benefit from minimally invasive AF treatnient using

our Isolator system and related products and that these patients comprise our largest growth opportunity

It is estimated that 15% to 20% of all strokes are attributable to AF and that substantial majority of cardiac

clots in patients with AF form in the left atrial appendage which some physicians believe is associated with

AF related strokes We believe that the surgical practice of excluding the left atrial appendage has become

growing trend in procedures performed to treat AF and current practice guidelines indicate that the left atrial

appendage should be removed when possible during cardiac surgery in patients at risk of developing

postoperative AF We also believe that our AtriClip system is potentially safer more effective and easier to use

when permanently excluding the left atrial appendage than other products and techniques The AtriClip system

was cleared in the United States in June 2010 and was commercially released in the United States during July

2010 We believe the market for the AtriClip system is large and represents significant new growth opportunity

tor us

The AtriCure Solution and Products

We believe that traditional surgical and catheter based ablation devices are not ideal for safely rapidly and

reliably creating the transmural lesions required to block the abnormal electrical impulses that cause AF
particularly for patients with more chronic forms of AF or patients who have failed single or multiple catheter

ablations Reports of clinical studies conducted by doctors cit prominent medical centers suggest that oui

products including our Isolator sytcm enable cardiac
surgeons to simplify thc cut and sow Maze procedure with

faster less invasive and less technically challenging approach that appears to have comparable effectiveness

Over eighty medical centers in the United States have used our Isolator system er the last year as sole

therapy minimally in ask treatment for AF

Our clinical studies for the use of our products to treat AF are ongoing Leading cardiothoracic surgeons
and

electrophysiologists including those who serve or who have served as consultants to us have published results of

initial clinical studies utilizing our Isolator system The results of these studies are promising in terms of efficacy

ease of use and safety



We have two primary product lines for cardiac tissue ablation and product line for left atrial appendage

exclusion

Product lines for cardiac tissue ablation

Isolator System and Related Radio-Frequency Ablation Devices Our Isolator system and related

radio frequency or RE devices such as our multifunctional pens and CoolrailIM device represent our

primary product line and currently generate substantial majority of our revenue Our Isolator system

and related RE devices are used in both open and minimally invasive procedures and primarily consist

of the following products

Isolator Synergy Bipolar Radio-Frequency Ablation Clamps We sell multiple configurations of

our Isolator Synergy clamps One design is for ablation during open heart procedures and one

design is for ablation during minimally invasive procedures Our Isolator Synergy clamps are

single use disposables and have jaws that close in parallel fashion The parallel closure

compresses the tissues and evacuates the blood and fluids from the energy pathway in order to make

the ablation more effective During the fourth quarter of 2009 we introduced and commercially

released in Europe new open heart configuration of our Isolator Synergy clamps known as the

Isolator Synergy Access clamp The Isolator Synergy Access clamp features pivoting clamp head

which promotes easier access to challenging anatomy The Isolator Synergy Access clamp has not

yet been cleared for use in the United States We anticipate clearance and commercial release to

occur in the United States during the first half of 2011

Ablation and Sensing Unit or ASU Our ASU is compact power generator that uses our

proprietary software and delivers bipolar radio frequency or RF energy The ASU provides the RE

energy necessary for our clamps multifunctional pens and Coolrail linear ablation device We

generally lend ur ASU free nf charge to our direct custnmers and sell it to our distributors

AtriCure Switch Box or ASB Our ASB is compact switch box which provides the technology

needed for the dual pulsing electrodes in our Isolator Synergy clamps as well as the ability to

connect and toggle between our multiple RE devices We generally lend our ASB free of charge to

our direct customers and sell it to our distributors

Isolator Multifunctional Pen Our Isolator multifunctional pens are disposable RE devices that

come in two configurations one that makes linear ablations and one that makes spot ablations The

pens enable surgeons to evaluate cardiac arrhythmias perform temporary cardiac pacing sensing

and stimulation and ablate cardiac tissue with the same devicc When the multifunctional pens are

used with our ASB surgeons are able to toggle back and forth between temporary pacing sensing

and stimulation and ablation Because of their broad range of capabilities we believe surgeons are

generally using one or both of our pen devices in combination with our Isolator clamps during both

minimally invasive and open heart procedures

Coolrail Linear Ablation Device During the second quarter of 2008 we released our Coolrail

linear ablation device which is disposable linear RE ablation device designed to allow physicians

to create an expanded cardiac ablation lesion set during minimally invasive procedures We believe

physicians are using our Coolrail device during minimally invasive procedures in order to improve

long-term results for patients who have non-paroxysmal forms of AE

Cryoablation System Our cryoablation offering consists of variety of reusable and disposable

devices which use erynthermy nr extreme enld tn ablate cardiac tiscue In August 2107 we acquired

the Erigitronics CCS-200 product line for cardiac ablation which included console and variety of

reusable cardiac ablation probes During the first half of 2009 we launched our Cryol cryoablation

device and during the fourth quarter of 2010 we launched our next generation disposable cryoablation

device eryolceTM Our disposable cryoablation devices are used with the CCS-200 console and are

being adopted by physicians for AE ablation treatment during certain open heart procedures for which

physicians prefer cryoablation over RE ablation We believe our cryoablation devices provide us with

superior competitive product offering



Product line for left atrial appendage exclusion

AtriClip System Our AtriClip systeni is designed to exclude the left atrial appendage by implanting the

device during concomitant open surgical procedures from the outside of the heart avoiding contact with

the circulating blood pool while eliminating blood flow between the left atrial appendage and the atria

We believe that our AtriClip system is potentially safer more effective and easier to use when

permanently excluding the left atrial appendage than cuiTent products and techniques The AtriClip

system received clearance in the United States in June 2010 and was commercially released in July

2010 It was launched in Europe during the second half of 2009

In addition to the above product lines we also sell enabling technologies including our LumitipTM dissector

and MicroPace ORLabTM system The Lumitip dissector is used by surgeons to gently separate tissues to provide

access to key anatomical structures that are targeted for ablation Our ORLab system is stimulating mapping

and recording system which we believe when used with mapping probe enables physicians to effectively

Lonfirm that the ablation lilies being created are forming electrical barriers or lines of block

Current AF Treatment Alternatives

Doctors usually begin treating AF patients with variety of drugs intended to prevent blood clots control

heart rate or restore the heart to normal sinus rhythm If patients AF cannot be adequately controlled with drug

therapy doctors may perform one of several procedures that vary depending on the severity of the AF symptoms

and whether or not the patient suffers from other forms of heart disease During 2007 the Heart Rhythm Society

published an expert consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation for the treatment of AF The expert

consensus concluded that the current indications for the surgical treatment of AF are the following

Symptomatic AF patients undergoing other cardiac surgery

Selected asymptomatic AF patients undergoing cardiac surgery in whom the ablation can be performed

with minimal risk or

Stand alone or sole therapy AF surgery
should be considered for symptomatic AF patients who prefer

surgical approach have failed one or more attempts at catheter ablation or are not candidates for

catheter ablation

Other treatment alternatives include

Drugs Currently available drugs are often ineffective not well tolerated and may be associated with

severe side effects For these reasons drug therapy for AF fails for as niany as 50% of patients within

one year Of those who initially respond to drug therapy only approximately 25% of patients can

continue to be managed with drugs after five years

Implantable Devices Implantable devices such as defibrillators and pacemakers can be effective in

reducing the symptoms and frequency of AF episodes but neither device is intended to treat AF
Patients may continue to experience the adverse effects of AF as well as some of the symptoms and

complications including dizziness fatigue palpitations and stroke because the AF continues

Catheter Based Treatment Catheter ablation is an ablation procedure that is typically performed by an

electrophysiologist The ablations are made from the inside of the heart using flexible catheter The

heart is reached via blood vessel most commonly through the femoral vein Catheter-based AF

treatments are often technically challenging can be associated with serious complications and have been

known to yield inconsistent results In proportion to the prevalence of AF only small number of

catheter based AF treatments are performed each year in the United States

Cut and Sew Maze The cut and sew Maze procedure is highly invasive open heart surgical procedure

that involves the use of heart lung bypass machine and cutting and sewing back together sections of

the heart in order to block the abnormal electrical impulses causing AF Although this procedure is



highly effective at treating AF it is rarely perfornied because it requires extensive open heart surgery is

technically challenging and is typically associatcd with long recovery times For these reasons only

limited number of these procedures have been perfornied by small nuniber of cardiothoracic surgeons

Surgeons have adopted our products for use in open-heart and minimally invasive procedures for the

treatment of AF During elective open-heart surgical procedures such as bypass or valve surgery cardiothoracic

surgeons use our Isolator and/or cryoablation systems to treat patients with pre-existing history of AF
Surgeons report that ablation using our products generally adds approximately 20 minutes to an open heart

surgical procedure Surgeons use our products to perform cardiac procedures that may vary depending on the

length of time patient has been diagnosed with AF and whether the patients AF is intermittent known as

paroxysmal or more continuous known as persistent long standing persistent or permanent AF Patients who

have been diagnosed with AF for longer duration and have non-paroxysmal forms of AF generally receive

more extensive ablation procedures than patients who have been diagnosed with AF for shorter duration or who

have paroxysmal AF Additionall during an open-heart procedure ph sicians are beginning to use our AtriClip

system to exclude the left atrial appendage which has been reported to add less than one minute to procedure

Surgeons using our Isolator system and/or cryoablation system and related products during an open-heart surgical

procedure typically perform the following steps

Pulmonaty Vein Isolation Regardless of the duration or type of AF surgeons will create lesions in the heart

tissue surrounding the pulmonary veins to create an electrical barrier between the pulmonary veins and the

atrium or upper chanibers of the heart In patients with intermittent AF those lesions are often the extent of the

treatment performed and in some cases doctors may also use our multifunctional pens to sense pace stimulate

or ablate cardiac tissue Surgeons utilize our Isolator system and/or our cryoablation system to perform

pulmnnary vein isnlatinn

Additional Lesions For those patients who have non-paroxysmal forms of AF doctors may determine that

idditional lesions are required to treat their AF In cases where patients require such additional lesions surgeons

may use our devices during opcn heart or concomitant surgical procedures to create lesions in the atrium that are

intended to reproduce similarelectrical barriers to those created by surgeons during the cut and sew Maze

procedure In some cases doctors may also use multifunctional pen to sense pace stimulate or ablate cardiac

tissues Additionally our reusable cryoablation probes are sometimes used to ablate cardiac tissue near the heart

valves

For those patients with AF who do not require concomitant open heart surgical procedure surgeons have

used our Isolator system and related products for minimally ins asive AF treatment procedures These procedures

have generally been performed through minimally invasive incisions without the need to place patients on

heart-lung bypass machine Surgeons havc reported that the procedure takes approximately two to three hours

and that the average hospitalization period has typically been two to five days Similar to the open heart surgical

procedure patients who have non paroxysmal forms of AF gencrally require an expanded lesion set that mimics

the cut and sew Maze procedure Our Coolrail device and multifunctional pens are often used during these

procedures to enable physicians to perform additional ablations

Physicians have recently developed and are exploring an emerging minimally invasive stand alone

procedure sshich combines epicardial ablation ablation on the outside of the heart with endocardial ablation and

mapping techniques from the inside of the heart Physicians are reporting that they are performing this

emerging procedure also known as hybrid procedure utilizing our Isolator system and related products in

combination with catheter ablation and mapping techniques to primarily treat patients who have non parox smal

forms of AF In December 2010 the first patient was enrolled in feasibility clinical trial DEEP AF which

explores the safety and effectiveness of this procedure when utilizing our Isolator system and related products in

combination with commercially available catheter for the treatment of persistent and long-standing persistent

AF



Product Development

Our product development team develops product enhancements and new products to address unmet

procedural and market needs with the goal of increasing revenue and optimizing procedural outcomes Our

current product development activity includes projects extending and improving our existing products the

creation of new enabling devices and research into new technologies

Our product development initiatives have been partially funded by variety of grant programs From June

2005 through December 2009 we participated in grant program whereby we received publicly announced

grants from the State of Ohio for among other things the creation of the Atrial Fibrillation Innovation Center

We received total of $0.9 million for personnel and materials in matching dollars associated with our required

$7.7 million spend for research and development-related operating expenses and The Cleveland Clinic acquired

$2.4 million in matching capital equipnient under the grant for our use in support of our performance under the

grant which we earned by spending $4.8 million in qualifying capital expenditures through the period ended

December 31 2009

Effective April 2010 we received an additional grant from the State of Ohio through the Global

Cardiovascular Innovation Center Pursuant to the terms of the grant we are eligible to receive $0.5 million in

support of defined research and development activities through September 2011 During 2010 we earned $0.1

million ptirsuant to the grant

In October 2010 we were awarded two grants totaling $0.5 million in aggregate under the IRS Qualifying

Therapeutic Discovery Program The grants related to completed research and development activities and were

funded in full in November 2010

Business Strategy

Our mission is to expand the treatment options for patients who suffer from AF through the continued

development of our technologies and expansion of our product offerings The key elements of our strategy

include

New Product Innovation We plan to continue to develop new and innos ative products including those that

allow us to enter nest market opportunities or expand our growth in existing markets During 2010 we launched

the AtriClip system in the United States which provides new growth platform and allows entrance into new

market Our product des elopment and growth plans include continued innovation to expand on both new and

existing niarket opportunities

Provide Product Education We have recruited and trained sales professionals who have strong

backgrounds in the medical device industry to effectively communicate to doctors the unique features and

benefits of our technologies as they relate to their cleared indications Our highly trained sales professionals meet

with doctors at leading institutions to provide education and technical training on the technical features and

benefits of our products In addition to our sales activities we provide medical information on our products in

response to information requests from physicians and we have provided educational grants to institutions that

have facilitated the education of doctors concerning the treatment of AF including the use of our products as an

AF treatment alternative As result of the educational process we believe that awareness of our technology is

growing and will result in the increased use of our products

Expansion of International Markets and Entrance into New Markets Our international business

represented 19% of our total revenue for 2010 Many of the international markets in which we curiently do

business are underpenetrated markets which present high growth opportunities for our products Further we plan

to continue to evaluate expansion opportunities in new geographic markets and capitalize on new product

introductions



Form Investigational Relationships with Key Opinion Leaders at Leading Institutions We have formed

investigational relationships with key opinion leaders at several leading medical centers who have worked with

us as consultants to evaluate and develop our products Additionally several key opinion leaders have published

peer-reviewed data that describes the use of our products as treatment alternative for AF These opinion leaders

have assisted and continue to assist us with the design and/or evaluation of our products To date there have been

over 40 peer reviewed publications that describe our Isolator systems ability to create transmural lesions or the

use of our Isolator system as an AF treatment alternative Key publications and presentations have highlighted

promising results utilizing our products to treat patients with AF during sole-therapy minimally invasive surgical

procedures Further initial presentations and publications have described our AtriClip system as means of

excluding the left atrial appendage We believe that these publications and presentations have contributed to and

we expect will continue to contribute to the expanded adoption of our products

ExpandAdoption of Our Minimally Invasive Products We believe that the catalysts for expanded

adoption of our minimally invasive products include procedural advancements such as the hybrid procedure and

the publication of peer-reviewed articles which we believe will help validate the successful long-term use of our

products for patients with AF We believe that ongoing research activities including clinical trials new

procedural techniques and anticipated presentations and publications will create an increased demand for our

minimally invasive products

Clinical Trials

During 2007 we worked with the FDA and leading cardiothoracic surgeons to design our pivotal clinical

trial ABLATE which was approved by the FDA for patients with permanent AF as defined in the trials

protocol undergoing concomitant cardiac surgical procedures The primary efficacy endpoints of the trial were

an estimated minimum of 70% of patients treated being free of AF and off of antiarrhythmic drugs at their

six-month follow-up 24-hour holter monitor was used to determine the rhythm status six months following

surgery The ABLATE clinical trial completed enrollment and preliminary follow-up at 55 patients during 2009

and we believe that the trial niet or exceeded the defined endpoints During 2010 we worked with the FDA to

gather and provide supplementary data and follow up associated with the ABLATE trial In December 2010 we

submitted our final clinical module to the FDA including the supplementary data in support of PMA approval

During February 2011 we were notified by the FDA that our PMA achieved fileable status and received

expedited review status In March 2011 we received major deficiency letter related to the ABLATE PMA
which highlights items that the FDA requests clarification on We plan to work interactively with the agency to

respond to these questions Additionally the FDA began its PMA manufacturing review An approval of the

ABLATE PMA would allow us to market our Isolator system for the treatment of patients with permanent AF

during open heart procedures

In November 2010 we received approval from the FDA for an ABLATE AF Registry which allows for

centers to enroll up to an additional 50 patients in accordance with the ABLATE trial protocol We anticipate that

the data from this registry will be used as additional supporting clinical evidence during the PMA process and at

the anticipated FDA advisory panel review meeting

In 2008 we received FDA approval for our EXCLUDE clinical trial for our AtriClip system which was used

in support of our 510k filing The primary endpoint for the trial was safe and effective exclusion of the left

atrial appendage which was evaluated at three months for all patients and at six months for 30 patients The

clinical trial was completed with 70 patients treated 61 patients were followed through the primary endpoint at

three months post procedure and 45 patients were followed through six months post procedure The clinical data

were submitted to the FDA in December 2009 and 510k clearance was received in June 2010

During the third quarter of 2010 we received approval from the FDA for feasibility trial DEEP AF Thc

trial evaluates the safety and efficacy of our minimally invasive products with catheter ablation and mapping

technologies for persistent and long-standing persistent patients DEEP AF is 30 patient feasibility trial and is



being conducted at six medical centers in the United States The trials primary endpoint is freedom from AF and

off of antiarrbythmic drugs at the twelve-month follow up Enrollment in the trial was initiated in December

2010 and is anticipated to be completed during the third quarter of 2011

Sales Marketing and Medical Education

Our United States sales and marketing efforts focus on educating doctors about our unique technologies and

their technical benefits It is our policy not to market or promote our products for the treatment of AF or

reduction in stroke risk unless and until we receive FDA approval or clearance for those uses Our sales

personnel visit physicians to discuss the general attributes of our products and promote them for their FDA

cleared indications We train our sales force on the use of our products to treat AF so that they are able to

respond to unsolicited requests from doctors for information In addition medically trained clinical application

specialists attend surgical procedures to discuss the use of our products and to respond in non-promotional

manner to unsolicited requests for information on the use of our products

We have formed healthcare compliance committee in support of our ongoing compliance efforts with

applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations This committee has instituted standard operating

procedures relating to our marketing and promotional activities grant review and funding procedures and the

training and education of our sales force Our training and educational programs include training on federal and

state requirements for marketing medical devices During 2010 we entered into five-year Corporate Integrity

Agreement with the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services The

Agreement provides for increased training monitoring and compliance activities with respect to our healthcare

compliance activities

Our sales team in the United States is led by Vice President of Sales and has over 60 employees

supporting approximately 40 sales territories We select our sales personnel based on their expertise sales

experience and reputation in the medical device industry and their knowledge of our products and technologies

We market and sell our products in selected markets outside of the United States through independent

distributors and in EMEA markets through our European subsidiary which includes combination of

independent distributors and direct sales personnel During 2010 and 2009 sales outside of the United States

accounted for 19% of our total revenue We have network of distributors outside of the United States who

currently market and sell our products and are located primarily in Europe Asia South America and Canada

Our international sales team is led by Vice President of Sales and has direct sales representatives who sell to

customers in markets we sell directly to such as Germany and the Netherlands We continue to esaluate

opportunities for further expansion into markets outside of the United States

Competition

Our industry is highly competitive subject to change and significantly affected by new product

introductions and other activities of industry participants Many of our competitors have significantly greater

financial and human resources than we do and have established reputations with our target customers as well as

worldwide distribution channels that are more established and developed than ours Our primary competitors

include Medtronic Inc St Jude Medical Inc nContact Inc and Endoscopic Technologies Inc We and our

competitors provide products that have been adopted by doctors for the off-label treatment of AF As of

December 31 2010 no company had received FDA approval or clearance to market surgical ablation system

for the treatment of AF Some of our competitors offer catheter-based treatments including but not limited to

Biosense Webster Inc subsidiary of Johnson Johnson St Jude Medical Inc and Medtronic Inc These

companies sell products that are used by doctors to treat the population of patients that have AF but are not

candidates for open-heart surgery However catheter based treatments often do not effectively treat patients with

non-paroxysmal forms of AF which we believe is segment of the AF patient population that would benefit

from minimally invasi AF procedures



We believe that we compete favorably against companies that have products used for the surgical treatment

of AF during both open-heart and sole-therapy minimally invasive procedures although we cannot assume that

we will be able to continue to do so in the future or that new devices that perform better than our products will

not be introduced We also believe that our products compete favorably when compared to catheter bascd

treatments for non-paroxysmal forms of AF Further we believe our AtriClip system provides an improved

treatment alternative for the exclusion of the left atrial appendage

Due to the size of the AF and left atrial appendage exclusion markets and the unmet need for an AF cure

competitors have dedicated and will continue to dedicate significant resources to aggressively develop and

market their products New product developments that could compete with us more effectively are likely because

the AF treatment and left atrial appendage exclusion markets are characterized by extensive research efforts and

technological progress Further recent publications and industry events are expanding knowledge of the markets

and treatment alternatives

Existing or new competitors may develop technologies and products that are safer more effective easier to

use or less expensive than our products To compete effectively we have to demonstrate that our products are an

attractive alternative to other treatments by differentiating our products on the basis of safety efficacy

performance ease of use brand and name recognition reputation service and price We have encountered and

expect to continue to encounter potential customers who due to existing relationships with our competitors are

committed to or prefer the products offered by competitors Competitive pressures may result in price reductions

and reduced gross profit margins for our products over time Technological advances developed by one or more

of our competitors may render our products obsolete or uneconomical

Third-Party Reimbursement

Payment for patient care in the United Statcs is generally made by third party payors These payors include

private insurers and government insurance programs such as Medicare and Mcdicaid The Medicare program

.the largest single payor in the United Statcs is federal health benefit program administered by the Centers for

Medicare and Medicaid Services CMS and covers certain medical caie items and sen ices for eligible

beneficiaries such as individuals over 65 years old as well as chronically disabled individuals Reimbursemcnt

under Part of the Medicare program includes hospitals and other institutional services while Medicare Part

covers physician services Because Medicare beneficiaries comprise large percentage of the populations for

which our products are used and private insurers may folloss the covcrage and payment policics for Medicaie

Medicares coding coverage and payment policies for cardiothoracic surgical procedures are significant to our

business

Medicares Part program pays hospitals for inpatient services under thc Inpatient Prospcctive Payment

System or IPPS which provides predeterniined payment based on thc patients discharge diagnoses Discharge

diagnoses are grouped into Medicare Severity Diagnosis Related Groupings MS-DRGs There are several

cardiac surgery MS DRGs associated with the surgical treatment of AF with and without concomitant open-

heart procedure When an ablation device and/or LAA exclusion device are used during concomitant open-

heart procedure Medicares hospital reimbursement is based upon the patients primary surgical

procedure Reimbursement for sole-therapy minimally invasive AF ablation treatment is also influenced by the

patients severity of illness Currently we believe hospital reimbursement rates for sole therapy and concomitant

therapy cardiac surgical tissue ablation are adequate to cover the cost of our products Medicares coding

coverage and payment policies are subject to change As result the continuance of current coverage coding or

payment determinations cannot be guaranteed and any change may have an ad\ erse impact on our business

Doctors are reimbursed for their services separately under the Medicare Pait physician fee schedule

When surgically performing cardiac ablation with and without concomitant openheart procedure surgeons

report Current Procedural Terminology or CPT codes to receive professional fee Surgeons have choice ol

CPT codes to report sole therapy and concomitant therapy cardiac tissue ablation
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In addition to the Medicare program many private payors look to CMS policies as guideline in setting

their coverage policies and payment amounts The current coverage policies of these private payors may differ

from the Medicare program and payment rates may be higher lower or the same as the Medicare program If

CMS or other agencies decrease or limit reimbursement payments to doctors and hospitals this may negatively

impact our business Additionally some pris ate payors do not follow the Medicare guidelines and those payors

niay reimburse only portion of the cost of cardiac ablation or not at all It is our understanding that there has

recently been an increase in certain pa ors declining rcimbursement for sole-therapy minimally invasivc AF
ablation treatment Physicians in combination with their industry organiLations and societies are responding and

working to secure reimbursement for the procedure to the extent the payor has denied reimbursement

The FDA generally does not regulate the practice of medicine Doctors may use our products in

circumstances where they deem it medically appropriate such as for the treatment of AF even though the FDA
has not approved or cleared our products for that indication In these circumstances some government or private

payors including some Medicare carriers may make coverage and payment determinations on case-by case

basis Additionally some government or private payors may deem the treatment of AF using our products for

indications not approved or cleared by the FDA to be experimental or not medically necessary and as such may
not provide coverage or payment

Government Regulation

Our products are medical des ices and are subject to regulation by the FDA as well as other federal and state

regulatory bodies in the United States and comparable authorities in other countries We cunently market our

Isolator system and Coolrail device in the United States under 510k clearance for the ablation of cardiac

tisstie Our multifunctional
pen

and multifunctional linear pen are marketed in the United States undcr 10k
clearancc for temporary pacing sensing stimulating and recording during the evaluation of cardiac arrhythmias

and for the ablation of cardiac tissue Our cryonblation products are appros
ed for the cryosurgical treatment of

cardiac arrhythmias We currently market the Lumitip dissector in the United States under 510k clearance for

use in the dissection of soft tissues during general ear nose and throat thoracic urological and gynecological

surgical procedures We markct our AtriClip systeni for cxclusion of the left atrial appcndage under direct

visualization in conjunction with othcr open heart procedures Our products may not be marketed for thc

treatment of AF or the rcduction of stroke without obtaining additional approvals from the FDA

The FDA requires that premarkct approval or PMA bc obtaincd for device before it can be marketed for

the treatment of AF During 2007 wc worked with the FDA and leading cardiothoracic surgeons to design our

clinical trial ABLATE which svas approved by the FDA for paticnts with pcrmanent AF undergoing

concomitant opcn heart surgical ablation procedures Wc filed the final module of our PMA during Dccembcr

2010 which if approved by thc FDA would allow us to market our Isolator system foi the treatment of patients

with AF during opcn heart procedures Since the filing of our ABLATE trial guidelines with respect to thc

classification of AF patients has changed As result thc approval we may obtain for the type of AF is not likely

to be permanent AF and is unknown at this time We cannot be certain that we will successfully completc

ABLATE receivc approval for any additional clinical trials or submit and obtain approval for any of our

products for use in treating AF Submission of PMA is much more demanding process than the 510k
notification process Further both 10ks and PMAs must now be submitted with potentially substantial u.ser

fee payment to the FDA although certain exemptions and waivers of the user fee can apply including ccrtain

exemptions and waivers for small businesses

FDA regulations govern nearly all of the activities that wc perform or that are performcd on our behalf to

ensurc that medical products distributed domestically or exported internationally are safe and effective for their

intended uses The activities that the FDA regulates include the following

prodtict design development and manufacture

product safety testing labeling and storage

prcclinical testing in animals and in thc laboratoiy
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clinical investigations in humans

premarketing clearance or approval

record keeping and document retention procedures

advertising and promotion

the import and export of products

product marketing sales and distribution

post-marketing surveillance and medical device reporting including reporting of deaths serious

injuries device malfunctions or other adverse events and

corrective actions removals and recalls

FDAs Premarket Glearance and Approval Requirements Unless an exemption applies each medical

device distributed commercially in the United States will require either prior 510k clearance or approval of

PMA from the FDA Medical devices are classified into one of three classesClass Class II or Class III

depending on the degree of risk and the level of control necessary to assure the safety and effectiveness of each

medical device Devices deemed to pose lower risks are placed in either Class or II which requires the

manufacturer to submit to the FDA 10k notification requesting clearance to commercially distribute the

device Some low risk devices are exempted from this requirement Devices deemed by the FDA to pose the

greatest risk such as life-sustaining life-supporting or implantable devices or devices deemed not substantially

equivalent to previously cleared 510k device or predicate device are generally placed in Class III requiring

submission of PMA supported by cliaical trial data

510k Clearance Pathway When 510k clearance is required we niust submit notification to the FDA

demonstrating that our proposed device is substantially equivalent to predicate device previously cleared aad

legally marketed 510k device or device that was in commercial distribution before May 28 1976 for which

the FDA has not yet called for the submission of PMA The FDA is required to respond to 10k
notification within 90 days of submission but the response may be request for additional information or data

including clinical data As practical matter 10k clearance often takes significantly longer than 90 days and

may take up to year or more If the FDA determines that the device or its intended use is not substantially

equivalent to previously cleared device or use the device is automatically placed into Class III requiring the

submission of PMA Any modification to 510k-cleared device that would constitute maior change in its

intended use design or manufacture requires new 510k clearance or possibly in connection with safety and

effectiveness approval of PMA The FDA requires every manufacturer to niake the determination regarding

new 510k submission in the first instance but the FDA may review any manufacturers dccision We have

made modifications to elements of our products which we believe did not require us to seek additional 0k
clearance We have recently been in communication with the FDA regarding our decision not to file new

510k related to change in indication for our Isolator Synergy clamps At the time our Isolator clamps received

510k clearance for the ablation of cardiac tissue through our internal and external regulatory review process

we determined that new 510k was not needed for our Isolator Synergy clamps to change their intended use

from the ablation of soft tissue to the ablation of cardiac tissue During 2010 the FDA reviewed this dccision and

indicated that 510k was required to be tiled for us to market our Isolator Synergy clamps for cardiac tissue

ablation instead of soft tissue ablation During 2010 we filed 10k and received clearance in November 2010

to market our Isolator Synergy clamps for the ablation of cardiac tissue

Premarket Approval Pathway PMA must be submittcd to the FDA if the device cannot be cleared

through the 10k process and is not otherwise exempt PMA must be supported by extensive data including

but not limited to technical preclinical clinical trials manufacturing and labeling to demonstrate to the FDAs

satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of the devicc
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After PMA is submitted and the FDA has determined that the application is sufficiently complete to

permit substantive review the FDA will accept the application for filing The FDA has 180 days to review an

accepted PMA although the review of an application generally occurs over significantly longer period of

time and can take up to several years During this review period the FDA may request additional information or

clarification of the information already provided Also an advisory panel of experts from outside the FDA may
be convened to review and evaluate the application and provide recommendations to the FDA as to the

approvability of the device In addition the FDA will conduct preapproval inspection of the manufacturing

facility to ensure compliance with quality systeni regulations Any approvals we receive may be limited in
scope

or may be contingent upon further post-approval study commitments or other conditions New PMAs or PMA
supplements are required for significant modification to the device including indicated use manufacturing

process labeling and design of device that is approved through the premarket approval process PMA

supplements often require submission of the same type of information as PMA except that the supplement is

limited to information needed to support any changes from the device covered by the original PMA and may not

require as extensive clinical data or the convening of an advisory panel

Clinical Trials Clinical trials are required to support PMA and are sometimes required for 510k
clearance In the United States clinical trials for significant risk device require the prior submission of an

application for an Investigational Device Exemption or IDE to the FDA for approval An IDE amendment must

be submitted before initiating new clinical study Some trials require feasibility study followed by pivotal

trial An IDE supplement is utilized as means of obtaining approval to initiate pivotal trial following the

conclusion of feasibility trial IDE applications must be supported by appropriate data such as animal and

laboratory testing results and any available data on human clinical experience showing that it is safe to test the

device in humans and that the testing protocol is scientifically sound The animal and laboratory testing must

meet the FDAs good laboratory practice requirements

The IDE and any IDE supplement for new trial must be approved in advance by the FDA Clinical trials

for significant risk devices may not begin until the IDE application is approved by the FDA and each centers

Institutional Review Board IRE overseeing the welfare of the research subjects and responsible for that

particular clinical trial If the product is considered non-significant risk device under FDA regulations only the

centers IRE approval is required Under its regulations the agency responds to an IDE application amendment

or supplement for new trial within 30 days The FDA may approve the IDE unconditionally grant an approval

with certain conditions or identify deficiencies that must be addressed prior to the approval of the study It is

common for the FDA to require additional information before approving an IDE and thus final FDA approval on

submission commonly extends beyond the initial 30 days The FDA may also require that small-scale

feasibility study be conducted before pivotal trial mas commence In feasibility trial the FDA limits the

number of patients and centers that may participate Feasibility trials are typically structured to obtain

information on safety and to evaluate the clinical efficacy to determine the number of subjects required to

demonstrate statistical significance in pivotal trial

Clinical trials are subject to extensive recordkeeping and reporting requirements Our clinical trials must be

conducted under the oversight of an IRE for the relevant clinical trial sites and must comply with FDA

regulations including but not limited to those relating to good clinical practices We are also required to obtain

the patients written informed consent in form and substance that complies with both FDA requirements and state

and federal privacy and human subject protection regulations We the FDA or the IRE may suspend clinical

trial at any time for various reasons including belief that the risks to study subjects outweigh the anticipated

benefits Even if trial is completed the results of clinical testing may not adequately demonstrate the safety and

efficacy of the device or may otherwise not be sufficient to obtain FDA approval to market the product in the

United States Similarly in Europe the clinical study must be approved by local ethics committee and in some

cases including studies with high-risk devices by the ministry of health in the applicable country

Educational Grants The FDA permits device manufacturer to provide financial support including

support by way of grants to third-parties for the purpose of conducting medical educational activities If these
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funded activities are considered by the FDA to be independent of the manufacturer then the activities fall outside

the restrictions on promotion to which the manufacturer is subject

The FDA considers several factors in determining whether an educational event or activity is independent

from the substantive influence of the device manufacturer and therefore nonpromotional including but not

necessarily limited to the following

whether the intent of the funded activity is to present clearly defined educational content free from

commercial influence or bias

whether the third-party grant recipient and not the manufacturer has maintained control over selecting

the faculty speakers audience activity content and materials

whether the program focuses on single product of the manufacturer without discussion of other

relevant existing competitive products or treatment options

whether there was meaningful disclosure to the audience at the time of the program regarding the

nianufacturers funding of the program any significant relationships between the provider presenters

or speakers and the supporting manufacturer and whether any unapproved uses will be discussed and

whether there are legal business or other relationships between the supporting manufacturer and the

provider or its employees that could permit the supporting manufacturer to exert influence over the

content of the program

We seek to ensure that the activities we support pursuant to our educational grants program are in

accordance with these criteria for independent educational activities However we cannot provide an assurance

that the FDA or other government authorities would view the programs we have supported as being independent

Pervasive and Continuing Regulation There are numerous regulatory requirements that apply after

product is cleared or approved These include

the FDAs Quality System Regulation or QSR which requires manufacturers including thirdparty

manufacturers to follow stringent design testing control documentation and other quality assurance

procedures during all aspects of the manufacturing process

labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions against the false or misleading promotion or the promotion of

products for uncleared unapproved or off label use or indication

requirementc tn nbtain clearance nr approval nf product modificationc that could significantly affect

safety or efficacy or that would constitute major change in intended use

medical device reporting or MDR regulations which require that manufacturers comply with reporting

requirements of the FDA and report if their device may has caused or contributed to death or serious

injury or malfunctioned in way that would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if the

malfunction were to recur

post approval restrictions or conditions including post-approval study commitments

post market surveillance regulations which apply when necessary to protect the public health or to

provide additional safety and effectis eness data for the device and

requirements to issue notices of correction or removal or conduct market withdrawals or recalls where

quality or other issues arise

During 2010 we submitted to the FDA ten MDRs related to complications during procedures utiliLing our

products Of these MDRs six related to our Isolator clamps two related to our Coolrail device one related to our

reusable cryoablation device and one related to our Lumitip dissector Included in the above MDR filings was at

least one patient death The death as not categoriLed as an outcome related to the failure of our des ices
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Additionally there may have been other incidents including patient deaths which have occurred during

procedures utilizing our products although we are not aware of any such incidents during the period noted above

The advertising and promotion of medical devices are also regulated by the Federal Trade Commission and

by state regulatory and enforcement authorities Recently some promotional activities for FDA regulated

products have been the subject of enforcement action brought under healthcare reimbursement laws and

consumer protection statutes In addition under the Federal Lanham Act and similar state laws competitors and

others can initiate litigation relating to advertising claims

We have registered with the FDA as medical device manufacturer The FDA has broad post-market and

regulatory enforcement powers We are subject to unannounced inspections by the FDA to determine our

compliance with the QSR and other regulations and these inspections may include the manufacturing facilities of

our suppliers

Failure by us or by our suppliers to comply with applicable regulatory requirements can result in

enforcement action by the FDA or other federal or state authorities which may include
any

of the following

sanctions among others

warning letters fines injunctions consent decrees and civil penalties

customer notifications repair replacement refundsrecall or seizure of our products

operating restrictions partial suspension or total shutdown of production

suspension or termination of our clinical trials

refusing our requests for 510k clearance or premarket approval of new products new intended uses or

modifications to existing products

withdrawing 10k clearance or premarket approvals that have already been granted and

criminal prosecution

Fraud Abuse and False Claims We are directly and indirectly subject to various federal and state laws

governing our relationship with healthcare providers and pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse including Eulti

kickback laws In particular the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from

knowingly and willfully soliciting offering receiving or providing remuneration directly or indiiectly in

exchange for or to induce either the referral of an indi\ idual or the furnishing arranging for or recommending

good or sen ice for which payment may he made in ss hole or par under federal hcalthcare programs such as the

Medicare and Medicaid programs Penalties for violations include criminal penalties and civil sanctions such as

fines imprisonment and possible exclusion from Medicare Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs The

Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and prohibits many arrangements and practices that arc lawful in businesses

outside of the healthcare industry In implementing the statute the Office of Inspector General of the U.S

Department of Health and Human Services or GIG has issued series of regulations known as the safe

harbors These safe harbors set forth provisions that if all their applicable requirements are met will assure

healthcare providers and other parties that they will not be prosecuted under the Anti Kickback Statute The

failure of transaction or arrangement to fit precisely within one or niore safe harbors does not necessarily mean

that it is illegal or that prosecution will be pursued However conduct and business arrangements that IC not

fully satisfy each applicable element of safe harbor may result in increased scrutiny by government

enforcement authorities such as the GIG

The Federal False Claims Act or FCA imposes civil liability on any person or entity that submits or causes

the submission of false or fraudulent claim to the United States Government Damages under the ECA can be

significant and consist of the imposition of fines and penalties The FCA also allows pris ate individual or entity

with knowledge of past or present fraud against the federal government to sue on behalf of the go eminent to

recover the civil penalties and treble damages The U.S Department of Justice or DOJ on behalf of the
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government has previously alleged that the marketing and promotional practices of pharmaceutical and medical

device manufacturers included the off label promotion of products or the payment of prohibited kickbacks to

doctors violated the FCA resulting in the submission of improper claims to federal and state healthcare

entitlement programs such as Medicaid In certain cases manufacturers have entered into criminal and civil

settlements with the federal government under which they entered into plea agreements paid substantial

monetary amounts and entered into corporate integrity agreements that require among other things substantial

reporting and remedial actions going forward

As previously reported in late 2008 we received letter from the DOJ informing us that they were

conducting an investigation for potential FCA and common law violations relating to our surgical ablation

devices for the period beginning January 2005 Other manufacturers of medical devices adopted for the

treatment of AF reported receiving similar letters Specifically the letter stated that the DOJ was investigating

our marketing practices utilized in connection with our surgical ablation system to treat AF specific use outside

the FDAs 10k clearance and was also investigating whether we instructed hospitals to bill Medicare for

cardiac surgical ablation using incorrect billing codes On February 2010 we entered into settlement

agreement with the DOJ the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services or

OIG and Elaine Bennett also know as Elaine George the relator in the related qui tarn complaint the

Relator which definitively resolved all claims related to the DOJ investigation and qui tarn complaint which

has been dismissed We did not and will not admit wrongdoing in connection with the settlement Additionally

we entered into five-year corporate integrity agreement with the 01G For discussion of the terms of the

settlement see Item Legal Proceedings

AdvaMed is one of the primary voluntary United States trade associations for medical device

manufacturers This association has established guidelines and protocols for medical device manufacturers in

their relationships with healthcare professionals on matters including research and development product training

and education grants and charitable contributions support of third party educational conferences and consulting

arrangements Adoption of the AdvaMed Code by medical device manufacturer is voluntary and while the

OIG and other federal and state healthcare regulatory agencies encourage its adoption and may look to the

AdvaMed Code they do not view adoption of the AdvaMed Code as proof of compliance with applicable laws

We have adopted the AdvaMed Code and incorporated its principles in our standard operating procedures sales

force training programs and relationships with doctors Key to the underlying principles of the AdvaMed Code is

the need to focus the relationships between manufacturers and healthcare professionals on matters of training

education and scientific research and limit payments between manufacturers and healthcare professionals to fair

market value for legitimate services provided and payment of modest meal travel and other expenses for

healthcare professional under limited circumstances We have incorporated these principles into our relationships

with healthcare professionals under our consulting agreements payment of travel and lodging expenses grant

making procedures and sponsorship of third party conferences In addition we have conducted training sessions

on these principles However we cannot provide any assurance that regulatory or enforcement authorities will

view these arrangements as being in compliance with applicable laws

Regulation Outside of the United States Sales of medical devices outside of the United States are subject

to foreign governmental regulations which vary substantially from country to country The time required to

obtain certification or approval by foreign country may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA

clearance or approval and the requirements may be different

The primary regulatory body in Europe is that of the European Union which has adopted numerous

directives and promulgated voluntary standards regulating the design manufacture and labeling of and clinical

trials and adverse event reporting for medical devices Devices that comply with the requirements of relevant

directive will be entitled to bear CE conformity marking indicating that the device conforms to the essential

requirements of the applicable directives and accordingly can be commercially distributed throughout the

member states of the European Union and other countries that comply with or minor these directives The

method for assessing conformity varies depending on the type and class of the product but normally involses
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combination of self-assessment by the manufacturer and third party assessment by notified body an

independent and neutral institution appointed by country to conduct the conformity assessment This third party

assessment may consist of an audit of the manufacturers quality system and specific testing of the

manufacturers device Such an assessment is
reqiured

für manufacturer tn cnmmercially distrihute the prnduct

throughout these countries We are compliant with the International Organization for Standardization ISO
134852003 Quality Management System Compliance establishes the presumption of conformity with the

essential requirements for CE Marking We have the authorization to affix the CE Mark to our Isolator clamps

and to commercialize our Isolator clamps in the European Union for the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias

including atrial fibrillation

Intellectual Property

Protection of our intellectual property is strategic priority for our business and we rely on combination of

patent copyright trademark and trade secret laws to protect our interests Our ability to protect and use our

intellectual property rights in the continued development and commercialization of our technologies and

products operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others and prevent others from infringing our

proprietary rights is crucial to our continued success We will be able to protect our products and technologies

from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that they are covered by valid and enforceable patents

trademarks or copyrights or are effectively maintained as trade secrets know how or other proprietary

information

We seek patent protection relating to technologies and products we develop in both the United States and in

selected foreign countries While we own much of our intellectual property including patents patent

applications trademarks trade secrets know-how and proprietary information we also license patents and

related technology of importance to the commercialization of our products For example to continue developing

and commercializing our current and future products we may license intellectual property from commercial or

academic entities to obtain the rights to technology that is required for our research development and

conimercialization activities

All of our employees and technical consultants are required to execute confidentiality agreements in

connection with their employment and consulting relationships with us We also generally require them to agree

to disclose and assign to us all inventions conceived in connection with their relationship with us We cannot

provide any assurance that employees and consultants will abide by the confidentiality or assignment terms of

these agreements Despite nieasures taken to protect our intellectual property unauthorized parties might copy

aspects of our products or obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary We devote significant

resources to obtaining patents and other intellectual property and protecting our other proprietary information If

valid and enforceable these patents may give us nieans of blocking competitors from using infringing

technology to compete directly with our products We also have certain proprietary trade secrets that
niay not be

patentable or for which we have chosen to maintain
secrecy

rather than file for patent protection With respect to

proprietary know how that is not patentable we have chosen to rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality

agreements to protect our interests

As of December 31 2010 we had the following portfolio of patents or patent applications covering our

proprietary technologies and products

38 issued or approved United States patents expiring between 2015 and 2028

27 United States non-provisional patent applications

United States provisional patent applications

issued foreign patents and

16 pending foreign patent applications that are in various national stages of prosecution
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Additionally as of December 2010 we had ten registered and two pending trademark registrations

covering our product branding

Manufacturing

We manufacture substantial majority of the disposable and implantable products we sell and generally

purchase items that would be deemed capital equipment including our ASU ASB and ORLab We inspect

assemble test and package our products in West Chester Ohio and our products are sterilized by third party

outside sterilizers at their facilities Purchased components are generally available from more than one supplier

However some products such as our ASU and ASB are critical components of our Isolator system and there are

relatively few alternative sources of supply available We generally carry six month supply of these products

however obtaining replacement supplier for the ASU and ASB if required may not be accomplished quickly

or at all and could involve significant additional costs Generally our suppliers have no contractual obligations to

supply us with and we are not contractually obligated to purchase from them any of our supplies During 2007

we entered into development manufacturing and supply agreement with MicroPace Pty Ltd of Australia to

develop manufacture and supply our ORLab system Under the terms of the agreement as amended we are

obligated to meet certain minimum purchase commitments in order to retain exclusive distribution rights

Order quantities and lead times for components purchased from outside suppliers are based on our forecasts

derived from historical demand and anticipated future demand Lead times may vary significantly depending on

the size of the order time required to fabricate and test the components specific supplier requirements and

current market demand for the components and subassemblies To date we have not experienced significant

delays in obtaining any of our components There are no unique or proprietary processes required in

manufacturing our components We generally do not have contractual obligations that preclude us from

developing products or sourcing components from new suppliers

We and our component suppliers are required to manufacture our products in compliance with the FDAs

QSR The QSR regulates extensively the methods and documentation of the design testing control

manufacturing labeling quality assuiance packaging storage and shipping of our products The FDA enforces

the QSR through periodic inspections that may be announced or rmannounced and may include the

manufacturing facilities of our suppliers Our failure or the failure of our suppliers to maintain compliance with

the QSR requirements could result in the shutdown of our manufacturing operations or the recall of our products

which would have material adverse effect on our business In the event that one of our suppliers fails to

maintain compliance with our quality requirements we may have to qualify new supplier and could experience

manufacturing delays as result We also could be subject to injunctions product sei7ures or civil or criminal

pemdties

We regularly audit our suppliers for compliance with QSR and applicable ISO standards We have been

FDA registered medical device manufacturer since November 7002 We obtained our CE Mark in June of 2002

and our quality systems and facility practices are certified to ISO 134852003 MDD 93/42/EEC or CL Mark

and CMDCAS or Canadian regulations We believe that we are currently in good standing with the FDA and are

subject to pre announced inspections Our current quality system is developed to comply with QSR and ISO

standards During June 2010 representative from the FDA visited our facility to investigate an issue related to

one of our third party sterilizers who had received warning letter from the FDA AtriCure had already been

notified of the sterilizers warning letter and had taken corrective actions accordingly The FDA completed their

review of the matter as it related to our response to the warning letter and related correctis actions and no

further action was needed

During February 7011 the FDA conducted an inspection of our West Chester Ohio facility and manufacturin2

processes As result of the inspection we received Form FDA 483 Inspectional Observations which outlined

deficiencies obseived by the FDA inspectors We have taken corrective and preventis.e actions with respect to the

findings and has formally responded in writine to the FDA While our actions aie subject to FDAs verification ss

believe we have addiessed FDAs findings and we will remain in good standine with the FDA
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We are subject to numerous federal state and local laws relating to such matters as laboratory practices the

experimental use of animals the use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances safe working

conditions manufacturing practices environmental protection and fire hazard control We may incur significant

costs to comply with those laws and regulations now or in the future but as we currently believe we are in

compliance with such laws and regulations we do not expect that continued compliance will have material

impact on our business

Consulting Relationships

We have developed consulting relationships with number of leading scientists and doctors throughout the

world to give our research and development team additional technical and creative breadth We work closely

with these thought leaders to understand unmet needs and emerging applications for the treatment of AF Until

October 2010 we typically entered into written agreement with our consultant pursuant to which the consultant

was obligated to provide services such as advising us regarding the design and development of our products

educating doctors on the cleared or approved use of our technologies conducting clinical trials and providing

supporting data for clinical trials and providing advice concerning grants and regulatory submissions These

agreements were generally for terni of one year and generally could be terminated by us or by the consultant

upon written notice Generally we own the rights to any inventions or ideas made or conceived by our

consultants during the performance of the consulting services

In October 2010 we elected to cancel and restructure all of our physician contracts to include more specific

language on proctoring and preceptor training which can be performed only in conjunction with our

FDA regulated clinical trials This change in physician consulting has significantly reduced the number of

current physician consulting contracts

Most of our consulting agreements provide for payment of compensation in cash only and on per diem

basis in addition to travel and other expenses upon determination by us that services have been provided to our

satisfaction In addition under agreements entered into prior to the fourth quarter of 2005 some of our

consultants were entitled to recei\ stock options We do not expect or require the consultant to utilize or

promote our products and consultants are required to disclose their relationship with us as appropriate such as

when publishing an article in which one of our products is discussed See Risk Factors Risks Relating To Our

Business We may be subject to fines penalties injunctions and other sanctions if we are deemed to be

promoting the use of our product for non FDA approved or off label uses

Royalty Agreements

We have certain royalty agreements in place with terms that include payment of royalties based on product

revenue from sales of current products certain other inventions improvements or ideas During 2010 we had

royalty agreements with rates of 5% of product revenue related to our AtriClip system and .5% of product

revenue related to our Lumitip dissector The agreement for the Lumitip dissector also calls for minimum royalty

payments and limits the maximum aggregate in royalties during the term of the agreement Parties to royalty

agreements have the right at any time to terminate the agreement immediately for cause Royalty expense for

each of the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $0.3 million $0.2 million and $0.2 million

respectively

Employees

As of December 31 2010 we had approximately 220 full time employees None of the employees were

represented by labor union or covered by collective bargaining agreement We have never experienced any

employment-related work stoppages and consider our employee relations to be good although we cannot provide

any assurance that we will not experience such work stoppages in the future
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Available Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Consequently we

are required to file reports and information with the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC including

reports on the following forms Form 10-K Form l0-Q Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or

furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 These reports and other

information concerning us may be accessed through the SECs website at http//www.sec.gov You may also

find free of-charge on our website at http//www.atricure.com electronic copies of our Form 10-Ks

Form 10 Qs Form 8-Ks and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Such filings are placed on our website as soon as reasonably possible after

they are filed with the SEC Our charters for our Audit Compensation and Noniinating and Corporate

Governance Committees and our Code of Ethics are available on our website In the event that we grant waiver

under our Code of Ethics to any of our officers and directors we will publish it on our website Information

contained in any of our websites is not deemed to be part of this Form 10

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Risks Relating To Our Business

If our products do not achieve widespread market acceptance in the United States our operating results

will be harmed and we may not achieve profitability

Our success will depend in large part on the medical communitys acceptance of our principal products in

the United States which is the largest revenue market in the world for medical devices The U.S medical

communitys acceptance of our products will depend upon our ability to demonstrate the safety and efficacy

advantages long-term clinical performance and cost effectiveness of our products as compared to other products

In addition acceptance of products for the treatment of AF is dependent upon among other factors the level of

screening for AF and the awareness and education of the medical community about the surgical treatment of AF
in general and the existence effectiveness and in particular the safety of our products Market acceptance and

adoption of our products for the treatment of AF also depends on the level of reimburscnient to doctors and

hospitals for use of our products

We cannot predict whether the U.S medical community will accept our products or if accepted the extent

of their use Negative publicity resulting from isolated incidents invo1 ing our products or other products related

to those we sell could have significant adverse effect on the overall acceptance of our products If we encounter

difficulties developing market for our products in the United States we may not be able to increase our revenue

enough to achieve profitability and our business and operating results will be seriously harmed

We rely on the Isolator system and related products as our primary sources of revenue If we are not successful

in selling these products or if these products become obsolete our operating results will be harmed

Currently our Isolator system and related RF products generate large majority of our revenue We expect

that sales of our Isolator system and related products will account for majority of our revenue for the

foreseeable future and that our future revenue will depend on the increasing acceptance by the medical

community of our Isolator system and related products as standard treatment alternative for the surgical

treatment of AF during open-heart surgical procedures and as sole-therapy minimally invasive procedure We

may not be able to maintain or increase market acceptance of our Isolator system and related products for

number of additional reasons including those sct forth elsewhere in this Risk Factors section In addition our

Isolator system and related products may become obsolete prior to the end of their anticipated useful lives or we

may introduce new products or next generation products prior to the end of the useful life of prior generation

either of which may require us to dispose of existing inventory and related capital instruments and/or write off

their value or accelerate their depreciation Since we believe that doctors are using our Isolator system only for

the surgical treatment of AF if doctors do not use our Isolator system and other products to treat AF we would

lose substantially all of our rcvenue
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Current worldwide economic conditions may have reduced demaud for procedures using our products or

otherwise resulted in adverse implications on our business operating results and financial condition

General worldwide economic conditions deteriorated beginning in late 2007 due to the effects of among

other developments the subpriine lending ciisis general credit market ciisis collatetal effects on the finance and

banking industries concerns about inflation slower economic activity decreased consumer confidence reduced

corporate profits and capital spending adverse business conditions and liquidity concerns Although there are

signs of an improving economic environment the deteriorated economic environment continues Because many

procedures using our products are elective they can be deferred by patients In addition patients may not be as

willing under current economic conditions to take time off from work or spend their money on deductibles and

co-payments often required in connection with the procedures that use our products

Beyond patient demand any continuing worldwide economic crisis including in particular its effect on the

credit and capital markets may have other adverse implications for our business For example our customers

ability to borrow money from their existing lenders or to obtain credit from other sources to purchase our

products may be impaired resulting in decrease in sales Although we maintain allowances for estimated losses

resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments we cannot guarantee that we will

accurately predict the loss rates we will experience especially given any continuing turmoil in the worldwide

economy significant change in the liquidity or financial condition of our customers could cause unfavorable

trends in our receivable collections and additional allowances may be required which could adversely affect our

operating results

Healthcare costs have risen significantly over the past decade There have been and may continue to be

proposals by legislators regulators and third-party payors to keep contain or reduce healthcare costs

The continuing efforts of governments insurance companies and other payors of healthcare costs to contain

or reduce these costs combined with closer scrutiny of such costs could lead to patients being unable to obtain

approval for payment from these third party payors The cost containment measures that healthcare providers are

instiluting both in the U.S and internationally could harm our business Some health care providers in the U.S

have adopted or are considering managed care system in which the providers contract to provide

comprehensive health care for fixed cost per person Health care providers may attempt to control costs by

authorizing fewer elective surgical procedures or by requiring the use of the least expensive devices possible

which could adversely affect the demand for our products or the price at which we can sell our products Some

healthcare providers have sought to consolidate and create new companies with greater market power including

hospitals As the healthcare industry consolidates competition to provide products and services has become and

will continue to become more intense This has resulted and likely will continue to result in greater pricing

pressures
and the exclusion of certain suppliers from important marketing segments

We face significant uncertainty in the iudustry due to government healthcare reform

The recently enacted amended Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act the Patient Act as well as

other healthcare reform may have significant impact on our business The impact of the Patient Act on the

health care industry is extensive and includes among other things the federal government assuming larger role

in the health care system expanding healthcare coverage
of United States citizens and mandating basic

healthcare benefits In addition any health care reforms enacted in the future may like the Patient Act be phased

in over number of
years but if enacted could reduce our revenue increase our costs or require us to revise the

ways in which we conduct business or put us at risk for loss of business In addition our results of operations

financial position and cash flows could be materially adversely affected by changes under the Patient Act and

changes under any
federal or state legislation adopted in the future

Our quarterly financial results are likely to fluctuate significantly because our sales prospects are uncertain

Due to current worldwide economic conditions and other factors discussed in this Risk Factors section

which may impact our sales results our quarterly operating results are difficult to predict and may fluctuate
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significantly from quarter to quarter or from prior year to current year periods particularly because our sales

prospects are uncertain These fluctuations may also affect our annual operating results and may cause those

results to fluctuate unexpectedly from year to year

Restrictions in our ability to train doctors in the use of our products could reduce the market acceptance

of our products or result in injuries to patients or other adverse events that could possibly lead to litigation

that could harm us or could reduce our revenue

It is critical to the success of our sales efforts to ensure that there are sufficient number of doctors familiar

with trained on and proficient in the use of our products While we educate and train doctors as to the skills

involved in the proper use of our products it is not our policy to educate or train them to use any products for the

surgical treatment of AF Doctors learn to use our products for the treatment of AF through independent training

programs sponsored by hospitals and universities and through independent peer to-peer training among doctors

We cannot assure you that sufficient number of doctors will become aware of training programs or that doctors

will dedicate the time funds and energy necessary to obtain training for themselves or to train others in the use of

our products In addition our inability to directly train doctors in off label use exposes us to risk that our

products may not be used correctly and may also
expose us to greater risk of product liability for injuries

sustained during procedures utilizing our products

Unless and until we obtain FDA approval for our products we will not be able to promote our products to

treat AF and our ability to maintain and grow our business could be harmed

We have not received FDA clearance or approval to promote any of our products for the treatment of AF
See BusinessGovernment Regulation Unless and until we obtain FDA clearance or approval for the use of

our products for the treatment of AF we and others acting on our behalf may not promote our products for such

uses make any claim that our system is safe and effective for such uses or proactively discuss or provide

information on the use of our system in connection with such uses We cannot assure you that future clearances

or approvals of our products will be granted or that current or future clearances or approvals will not be

withdrawn Failure to obtain clearance or approval or loss of an existing clearance or approval could hurt our

ability to maintain and grow our business

Unless and until we are able to complete the clinical trials required to support future submissions to the

FDA aud unless and until the data generated by such trials supports the use of our products as safe and

effective for the treatment of AF we may not be able to secure additional FDA clearances or approvals

and our ability to maintain and gross our business could be harmed

In order to obtain FDA approvals to promote our products for the treatment of AF we will need to

demonstrate in clinical trials that our products are safe and effective for such use We cannot assure you that any

of our clinical trials will be completed in timely manner or successfully or that the results obtained will be

acceptable to the FDA In addition if the results obtained from our clinical trials any other clinical studies or

clinical or commercial experience indicate that any of our products are not safe or effective or not as safe or

effective as other treatment options the FDA may not approve our products for the treatment of AF adoption of

the use of our products for the treatment of AF may suffer and our business would be harmed

We have experienced and may continue to experience unfavorable publicity relating to our business and

our industry This publicity has had and may continue to have negative impact on our ability to attract

and retain customers our sales clinical studies involving our products our reputation and our stock price

We believe that we experienced negative impact on our business from newspaper articles relating to

among other things concerns of conflicts of interest between the Cleveland Clinic and us our compliance with

FDA regulations for medical device reporting concerns that certain of our consultants who arc involved ss ith

clinical studies and the publication of articles concerning our products failed to adequately disclose their



financial relationships with us and our previously settled Department of Justice investigation We believe that

this publicity has had and may continue to have negative impact on our clinical studies business results of

operations and financial condition We also believe that future unfavorable publicity could cause other adverse

effects including decline in the price of our stock

We may be subject to fines penalties injunctions and other sanctions if we are deemed to be promoting

the use of our products for non-FDA approved or off-label uses

Our business and future growth depend on the continued use of our products for the treatment of AF which

is considered an off-label use of our products Under the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act and other laws

we are prohibited from promoting our products for off-label uses We may not make claims about the safety or

effectiveness of our products for the treatment of AF and may not proactively discuss or provide information on

the use of our products for the treatment of AF except in certain limited scientific and other settings

These limitations present material risk that the FDA or other federal or state law enforcement authorities

could determine that the nature and scope of our sales marketing and/or product support activities though

designed to comply with all FDA requirements constitute the promotion of our products for non FDA

approved use in violation of the law We also face the risk that the FDA or other governmental authorities might

pursue enforcement based on past activities that we have discontinued or changed including sales activities

arrangements with institutions and doctors educational and training programs and other activities Investigations

concerning the promotion of off-label uses and related issues including our settlement with the DOJ see further

discussion in Item Legal Procecdings of this Form 10 are typically expensive disruptive and

burdensome and generate negative publicity If our promotional activities are found to be in violation of the law

we may face significant fines and penalties and may be required to substantially change our sales promotion

grant and educational activities There is also possibility that we could be enjoined from selling some or all of

our products for any non-FDA approved use which effectively would bar all sales of our products in the United

States until we receive FDA clearances or approval if ever In addition as result of an enforcement action

against us or our executive officers we could be excluded from participation in government healthcare programs

such as Medicare and Medicaid Also our failure to comply with the terms of the settlement agreement with the

DOJ or the related corporate integrity agreement could result in additional action by the DOJ or the 01G in tines

or penalties or in restrictions on our sales promotion grant or educational activities

The use of products we sell may result in iajuries or other adverse events that lead to product liability

suits which could be costly to our business or our customers businesses

The use of products we sell may result in variety of serious complications including damage to the heart

internal bleeding death or other adverse events potentially leading to product liability claims Serious

complications including death have been encountered in connection with the surgical treatment of AF including

in connection with limited number of sole therapy minimally invasive procedures in which our products were

used If products we sell are defectively designed manufactured or labeled contain inadequate warnings contain

defective components or are misused we may become subject to costly litigation by our customers or their

patients We carry product liability insurance that is limited in scope and amount and may not be adequate to

fully protect us against product liability claims We could be required to pay damages that exceed our insurance

coverage Any product liability claim with or without merit could result in an increase in our product insurance

rates or our inability to secure coverage on reasonable terms if at all Even in the absence of claim our

insurance rates may rise in the future Any product liability claim even meritless or unsuccessful one would be

time-consuming and expensive to defend and could result in the diversion of our managements attention from

our business and result in adverse publicity withdrawal of clinical trial participants injury to our reputation and

loss of revenue Any of these events could negatively affect our earnings and financial condition
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Competition from existing and new prodncts and procednres may decrease our market share and cause

our revenue to decline

The medical device industry including the market for the treatment of AF is highly competitive subject to

rapid technological change and significantly affected by new product introductions and promotional activities of

its participants We cannot assure you that our products will compete effectively against drugs catheter-based

ablation implantable devices other ablation systems other products or techniques to exclude the left atrial

appendage or other surgical AF treatments which may be more well-established among doctors and hospitals

We anticipate that new or existing competitors may develop competing products procedures and/or clinical

solutions There are few barriers to prevent new entrants or existing competitors from developing products to

compete directly with ours Some companies also compete with us to attract qualified scientific and technical

personnel as well as funding Some of our competitors have greater financial manufacturing marketing and

research and development capabilities than we have or may obtain FDA approval for the use of their products in

the treatment of AF before we obtain approval for
any

of our products The introduction of new products

procedures clinical solutions oi our competitois obtuining no AF uppioval iiiay iesult in price ieductions

reduced margins or loss of market share and may render our products obsolete which could adversely affect our

net revenue and future profitability

Our intellectual property rights may not provide meaningful commercial protection for our products

which could enable third-parties to nse our technology or methods or very similar technology or methods
and conld reduce our ability to compete

Our success depends significantly on our ability to protect our proprietary rights to the technologies used in

our products We rely on patent protection as well as combination of copyright trade secret and trademark

laws and nondisclosure confidentiality and other contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary technology

However these legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us

to gain or keep any competitive advantage Our patent applications may not issue as patents at all or in form

that will be advantageous to us Our issued patents and those that may be issued in the future may be challenged

invalidated or circumvented which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing related products

Although we have taken steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology we cannot assure

you that third parties will not be able to design around our patents or if they do infringe upon our technology

that we will be successful in or will have sufficient resources to pursue claim of infringement against those

third-parties We believe that third parties may have developed or are developing products that could infringe

upon our patent rights Any pursuit of an infringement claim by us may invol\ substantial expense or diversion

of management attention In addition although we have generally entered into confidentiality agreements and

intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees consultants investigators and advisors such

agreements may be breached may not be enforceable or may not provide mcaningful protection for our trade

secrets or other proprietary inforniation in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the

agreements Additionally as is common in the medical device industry some of these individuals were

previously employed at other medical equipment or biotechnology companies including our competitors

Although no claims are currently pending against us we niay be subject to claims that these individuals or we

have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former

employers

Furthermore the laws of foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent

as the laws of the United States Foreign countries generally do not allow patents to cover methods for

performing surgical procedures If our intellectual property does not provide significant protection against

foreign or domestic competition our competitors could compete more directly with us which could result in

decrease in our market share All of these factors may harm our competitive position
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The medical device industry is characterized by extensive litigation and administrative proceedings over

patent and other intellectual property rights and any litigation or claim against us may cause us to incur

substantial costs could place significant strain on our financial resources divert the attention of

management from our business and harm our reputation

Whether product infringes patent involves complex legal and factual issues the determination of which

is oftea uncertain Any patent dispute even one without merit or an unsuccessful one would be time consuming

and expensive to defend and could result in the diversion of our managements attention from our business and

result in adverse publicity the disruption of development and marketing efforts injury to our reputation and loss

of revenue Litigation also puts our patent applications at risk of being rejected and our patents at risk of being

invalidated or interpreted narrowly and may provoke third parties to assert claims against us Any of these

events could negatively affect our earnings and financial condition

In the event of patent dispute if third-partys patents were upheld as valid and enforceable and we were

found to be infunging we could be prevented fiorn selling ow pioduets unless we weie able to obtain license to

use technology or ideas covered by such patent or are able to redesign our system to avoid infringement

license may not be available at all or on terms acceptable to us and we may not be able to redesign our products

to avoid any infringement Modification of our products or development of new products could require us to

conduct additional clinical trials and to revise our filings with the FDA and other regulatory bodies which would

be time-consuming and expensive If we are not successful in obtaining license or redesigning our products we

may be unable to sell our products and our business could suffer

The increase in cost of medical malpractice premiums to doctors and hospitals or the lack of malpractice

insurance coverage due to the use of our products by doctors for an off-label indication may cause certain

doctors or hospitals to decide not to use our products and may damage our ability to grow and maintain

the market for our system

Insurance carriers have been raising premiums charged for medical malpractice insurance due at least in

part to increased risks associated with off label procedures including higher damage awards for successful

plaintiffs Insurance carriers may continue to raise premiums or they may deny malpractice coverage for

procedures performed using products such as ours on an off-label basis If this trend continues or worsens our

revenue may fall as doctors or hospitals decide against purchasing our products due to the cost or unavailability

of insurance coverage

We have history of net losses aiid we may never become profitable

We have incurred net losses each year since our inception including net losses of $3.8 million in 2010

$16.5 million in 2009 $10.2 million in 2008 $11.3 million in 2007 $13.7 million in 2006 and $12.7 million in

2005 As of December 31 2010 we had an accumulated deficit of $97.8 million

Our net losses have resulted principally from costs and expenses relating to sales and promotional efforts

research and development seeking regulatory clearances and approvals goodwill impairment litigation and

settlement costs associated with the DOJ investigation and general operating expenses We expect to continue to

make substantial expenditures and to potentially incur additional operating losses in the future as we further

develop and commercialize our products including completing clinical trials and seeking regulatory clearances

and approvals If sales of our products do not continue to grow as we anticipate we will not be able to achieve

profitability Our expansion efforts may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate and we may not

succeed in increasing our revenue sufficiently to offset these highcr expenses Our losses have had and are

expected to continue to have an adverse impact on our working capital total assets and stockholders deficit and

we may never become profitable
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Our federal tax net operating loss and general business credit carryforwards generated prior to the initial

public offering of our common stock will be limited or may expire which could result in greater future

income tax expense and adversely impact future cash flows because we experienced an ownership change

of more than 50 percentage points upon the initial public offering of our common stock

In connection with our initial public offering in August 2005 we experienced an ownership change as

defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 Section 382 iniposes limitations Section 382

limitation on companys ability to use net operating loss and general business credit carryforwards if

company experiences more-than 50 percent ownership change over three-year testing period The

Section 382 limitation could limit the availability of our net operating loss and general business credit

carryforwards to offset any future taxable income which may increase our future income tax expense and

adversely impact future cash flows We had federal income tax net operating loss and general business credit

carryforwards at August 2005 that if not utilized to reduce our taxable income will begin to expire in 2021 In

addition if the company were to experience second ownership change of more than 50 percentage points in

future period the companys NOL carryforward at the date of the oiiginal owuer ship change would be subject to

second Section 382 limitation In addition the companys NOLs generated subsequent to the original

ownership change would be subject to the second Section 382 limitation Since December 2005 the company

has generated additional net operating loss and general business credit carryforwards of $30.1 million and $2.1

million respectively which if not utilized to reduce our taxable income will begin to expire in 2026

Our capital needs after the next 12 months are uncertain and we may need to raise additional funds in the

future and such funds may not be available on acceptable terms if at all

We believe that our current cash cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to meet our projected

capital requirements for at least the next 12 months Our current loan agreement the Agreenient with Silicon

Valley Bank the Bank as amended includes term loan and revolving credit facility under which we can

borrow maximum of $17.5 million We have borrowed the maximum amount of approximately $7.5 million

under the term loan We can borrow the lesser of the amount available pursuant to borrowing base formula and

$10.0 million under the revolving loan facility Based on our current borrowing base we hase availability of

approximately $8.0 million The Agreement is secured by all of our assets including intellectual property and

the term loan and revolving loan mature on March IS 2016 and April 30 2014 respectively Interest on the term

loan accrues at rate of 6.75% per year and interest on the revolving loans will accrue at fluctuating rate equal

to the Banks announced prime rate of interest plus between 0.25% and 0.75% depending on our Adjusted Quick

Ratio as defined in the Agreement

We may be unable to comply with the covenants of our credit facility

Our Agreement contains covenants that include among others covenants that limit our ability to dispose of

assets enter into mergers or acquisitions incur indebtedness incur liens pay dividends or make distributions on

our capital stock make investments or loans and enter into certain affiliate transactions in each case subject to

customary exceptions for credit facility of this size and type Additional covenants apply when we have

outstanding borrowings under the revolving loan facility or when we achieve specific covenant milestones The

occurrence of an event of default could result in an increase to the applicable interest rate by 3.0% an

acceleration of all obligations under the Agreement an obligation to repay all obligations in full and right by

the Bank to exercise all remedies available to it under the Agreement and related agreements including the

Guaranty and Security Agreement If we are unable to pay those amounts the Bank could proceed against the

collateral granted to it pursuant to the credit facility

If we need to raise additional funds we cannot be certain that such funds will be available to us on

acceptable terms if at all Furthermore if we issue equity securities to raise additional funds our existing

stockholders may experience dilution and if we issue equity or debt securities such securities may have rights

preferences and privileges senior to those of our existing stockholders In addition if we raise additional funds
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through collaboration licensing or other similararrangements it may be necessary to relinquish potentially

valuable rights to our future products or proprietary technologies or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable

to us If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms we may not be able to expand our operations develop new

products take advantage
of future opportunities or respnnd to competitive pressures nr unanticipated customer

requirements

We depend upon single and limited source third-party suppliers and third-party logistics providers

making us vulnerable to supply problems and price fluctuations which could harm our business

We currently rely on single and limited source third-party endors for the manufacture of many of the

components used in our products For example we rely on one vendor to manufacture our ASU and ASB It

would be time consuming and lengthy process to secure these products from an alternative supplier In

addition in some cases there are relatively few or no alternative sources of supply for certain other components

that are critical to our products We also rely on third party to handle our warehousing and logistics functions

for EMEA markets on our behalf

Our reliance on outside manufacturers and suppliers also subjects us to risks that could harm our business

including

we may not be able to obtain adequate supply in timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms

we may have difficulty locating and qualifying alternative suppliers

switching components may require product redesign and new submissions to the FDA which could

significantly delay production or if the FDA refuses to approve the changes completely eliminate our

ability to manufacture or sell our products

our suppliers manufacture products for range of customers and fluctuations in demand for the

products those suppliers manufacture for others may affect their ability to deliver components to us in

timely manner and

our suppliers may encounter financial hardships unrelated to our demand for components which could

inhibit their ability to fulfill our ordcrs and meet our requirements

Identifying and qualifying additional or replacemcnt suppliers for any of the componcnts used in our

products or replacement warehousing and logistics provider if required may not be accomplished quickly or at

all and could involve significant additional costs Any inter uption or delay in the supply of components

materials or warehousing and logistics or our inability to obtain components or materials from alternate sources

at acceptable prices in timely manner could impair our ability to meet the demand of our customers and cause

them to cancel orders or switch to competiti\ products and could therefore have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition and results of operations

An inability to forecast future revenue or estimate life cycles of products may result in inventory-related

charges that would negatively affect our gross margins and results of operations

To mitigate the risk of supply interruptions we may choose to maintain excess inventory of our products or

component parts Managing our inventory levels is important to our cash position and results of operations and is

more challenging in the current economic environment As we grow and expand our product offerings managing

our inventory levels becomes more difficult particularly as we expand into new product areas and bring product

enhancements to market While we rely on our information technology systems for inventory management and to

effectively manage accounting and financial functions our information technology systems may fail to

adequately perform these functions or may experience an interruption An excessive amount of inventor reduces

our cash available for operations and may result in excess or obsolete materials Conversely inadequate

inventory levels may make it difficult for us to meet customer product demand resulting in decreased revenue

An inability to forecast future revenue or estimated life cycles of products may result in inventoryrelated chaues

that would negatively affect our gross margins and results of operations
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If we or our third-party vendors fail to comply with extensive FDA regulations relating to the

manufacturing of our products or any component part we may be snbject to fines injunctions and

penalties and our ability to commercially distribute and sell our products may be hurt

Our manufacturing facility and the manufacturing facility of any of our third party component

manufacturers critical suppliers or third-party sterilization facility are required to comply with the FDAs

Quality System regulation or QSR which sets forth minimum standards for the procedures execution and

documentation of the design testing production control quality assurance labeling packaging sterilization

storage and shipping of our Isolator system and other products we sell The FDA may evaluate our compliance

with the QSR among other ways through periodic announced or unannounced inspections which could disrupt

our operations and interrupt our manufacturing If in conducting an inspection of our manufacturing facility or

the manufacturing facility of any of our third party component manufacturers critical suppliers or third party

sterilization facility FDA investigators observe conditions or practices believed to violate the QSR the

investigators may document their observations on Form FDA 483 that is issued at the conclusion of the

inspection manufacturer that receives an FDA 483 may respond in writing and explain any corrective actions

taken in response to the inspectional observations The FDA will typically review the facilitys written response

and may re inspect to determine the facilitys compliance with the QSR and other applicable regulatory

requirements Failure to take adequate and timely corrective actions to remedy objectionable conditions listed on

an FDA-483 could result in the FDA taking administrative or enforcement actions Among these may be the

FDAs issuance of Warning Letter to manufacturer which informs it that the FDA considers the observed

violations to be of regulatory significance that if not corrected could result in further enforcement action

FDA enforcement actions which include seizure injunction and criminal prosecution could result in total or

partial suspension of facilitys production and/or distribution product recalls fines suspension of the FDAs

review of product applications and the FDAs issuance of adverse publicity Thus an adverse inspection could

force shutdown of our manufacturing operations or recall of our products Adverse inspections could also

delay FDA approval of our products and could have an adverse effect on our production sales and profitability

During February 2011 in connection with an inspection of our West Chester Ohio facility the FDA issued

Form FDA 483 which outlined deficiencies observed by the FDA inspectors We have fonrially responded in

writing to the FDA and taken other corrective and preventative actions While we believe we have addressed the

findings in the Form 483 and will remain in good standing with the FDA our actions are subject to the FDAs

verification and if the FDA does not verify our actions we could receive warning letter and/or be subject to

any of the sanctions described above among others These sanctions if imposed could materially harm our

operating results and financial condition

We and any
of our third-party vendors may alsu encounter thcr problems during manufacturing including

failure to follow specific protocols and procedures equipment malfunction and environmental factors any of

which could delay or impede our ability to meet demand The manufacture of our product also subjects us to

risks that could harm our business including problems relating to the sterilization of our products or facilities and

errors in manufacturing components that could negatively affect the efficacy or safety of our products or cause

delays in shipment of our products Any interruption or delay in the manufacture of the product or any of its

components could impair our ability to meet the demand of our customers and cause them to cancel orders or

switch to competitive products and could therefore have material adverse effect on our business financial

condition and results of operations

If we fail to comply with the extensive FDA regulations relating to our business we may be subject to fines

injunctions and penalties and our ability to commercially distribute and promote our products may be

hurt

Our products are classified by the FDA as medical devices and as such are subject to extensive regulation in the

United States by the FDA and numerous other federal state and foreign governmental authorities FDA regulations

guidance notices and other issuances specific to medical devices are broad and regulate among other things

product design development manufacturing and labeling
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product testing including electrical testing transportation testing and sterility testing

pre clinical laboratory and animal testing

clinical trials in humans

product safety effectiveness and quality

product manufacturing storage and distribution

pre-market clearance or approval

record keeping and document retention procedures

product advertising sales and promotion

post-market surveillance and medical device reporting of events where our device caused or contributed

to death or other serious injury or malfunctioned in such way that if it were to recur would likely

cause or contribute to death or serious injury

product corrective actions removals and recalls and

product import and export

Compliance with FDA state and other regulations can be complex expensive and time-consuming The

FDA and other authorities have broad enforcement powers Furthermore changes in the applicable governmental

regulations could prevent further commercialization of our products and technologies and could materially harm

our business

If seiious failuie to comply with applicable tegulatuty tequiteutents weie deteiiiiiiied it could iesult in

enforcement action by the FDA or other state or federal agencies including the DOJ which may include any of

the following sanctions among others

warning letters fines injunctions consent decrees and civil penalties

repair replacement refunds recall or seixure of our products

operating restrictions partial suspension or total shutdown of production

suspension or termination of our clinical trials

refusing or delaying our pending requests for 510k clearance or PMAs new intended uses or

modifications to existing products

withdrawing 510k clearance or PMAs that have already been granted and

criminal prosecution

If any of these events were to occur we could lose customers and our production product sales business

results of operations and financial condition would be harmed

We are also subject to medical device reporting regulations that require us to file reports with the FDA if

our products reasonably are the cause of or contribute to an adverse event death serious injury or in the event of

product malfunction that if it were to recur would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury We

have history of submitting medical device reports to the FDA involving our products including patient deaths

which were categorized as outcomes based on physician judgment not on the failure of our devices There have

also been other incidents including patient deaths which have occurred during procedures using our products

that we have not and believe were not required to be reported to the FDA because we and our physician

consultants determined that our products did not cause ot contribute to the outcomes in these incidents If the

FDA disagrees with us however and determines that we should have submitted reports for these adverse events

we could be subject to significant regulatory fines or other penalties In addition the number of medical device
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reports we make or the magnitude of the problems reported could cause the FDA or us to terminate or modify

our clinical trials or recall or cease the sale of our products and could hurt commercial acceptance of our

products

Modifications to our products may require new clearances or approvals or require us to cease promoting

or to recall the modified products until such clearances or approvals are obtained and the FDA may not

agree with our conclusions regarding whether new clearances or approvals were required

Any modification to 510k cleared device that would constitute change in its intended use design or

manufacture could require new 510k clearance or possibly submission and FDA approval of PMA The

FDA requires every medical device company to make the determination as to whether new 510k is to be filed

but the FDA may review
any medical device companys decision We have made modifications to our products

but do not believe such modifications required us to submit an additional 10k The FDA may not agree with

our decisions regarding whether new clearances or approvals were required We have recently been in

communication with the FDA regarding our decision not to file new 510k related to change in indication for

our Isolator Synergy clamps At the time our Isolator clamps received 510k clearance for the ablation of cardiac

tissue through our internal and external regulatory review process we determined that new 510k was not

needed for our Isolator Synergy clamps to change their intended use from the ablation of soft tissue to the

ablation of cardiac tissue The FDA revicwed this dccision and indicated that 510k was required to be filed

for us to market our Isolator Synergy clamps for cardiac tissue ablation instead of soft tissue ablation During

2010 we filed 510k and received clearance in November 2010 to market our Isolator Synergy clamps for the

ablation of cardiac tissue

If the FDA disagrees with us and requires us to submit new 510k or PMA for then existing

iiiodifieatiuos we may be iequiied to LeaSe proaiuti ig ut to reLaIl the modified prudLiet uiitil we ubtaiii eleaianee

or approval In addition we could be subject to significant regulatory fines or other penaltics Furthermore our

products could be subject to recall if the FDA determines for any reason that our products are not sate or

effective or that appropriate regulatory submissions weie not made Delays in receipt or failure to receive

clearances or approvals the loss of prcviously received clearances or approvals or the failure to comply with

existing or future regulatory requirements could reduce our sales profitability and future growth prospects

We will spend considerable time and money complying with federal state and foreign regulations in

addition to FDA regulations and if we are unable to fully comply with such regulations we could face

substantial penalties

We arc subject to extensive regulation by the federal government ansI the states and forcign countries in

which we conduct our business The laws that affect our ability to operate our business in addition to the Federal

Food Drug and Cosmetic Act and FDA regulations include but are not limited to the following

state food and drug laws including laws regulating the manufacturc promotion and distribution of

medical devices

state consumer protection fraud and business practice laws

the Federal Anti Kickback Statute which prohibits persons froni knowingly and willfully soliciting

offering receiving or providing remuneration directly or indirectly in cash or in kind to induce either

the referral of an individual or furnishing or arranging for good or servicc for which payment may be

made under fcderal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid Programs

the Federal False Claims Act which prohibits submitting false claim or causing of the submission of

false claim to the government

Medicare laws and regulations that prescribe the requirements for coverage and payment including thc

amount of such payment and laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement under IVledicare and

Medicaid
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the federal doctor self-referral prohibition commonly known as the Stark Law which in the absence of

statutory or regulatory exception prohibits the referral of Medicare patients by doctor to an entity for

the provision of certain designated healthcare services including inpatient and outpatient hospital

services if the doctor or member of the doctors immediate family has direct or indirect financial

relationship including an ownership interest in or compensation arrangement with the entity and also

prohibits that entity from submitting bill to federal payor for scrvices rendered pursuant to

prohibited referral

state laws that prohibit the practice of medicine by non doctors and by doctors not licensed in

particular state and fee-splitting arrangements between doctors and non-doctors as well as state law

equivalents to the Anti Kickback Statute and the Stark Law which may not be limited to government

reimbursed itenis

federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws or laws protecting the privacy of patient medical

information including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act or HIPAA which

protects medical records and other personal health information by limiting their use and disclosure

giving individuals the right to access amend and seek accounting reasonably necessary to accomplish

the intended purpose and although we are not covered entity under HIPAA as business associate of

covered entities through our contractual agreements with them we are required to implement and

maintain policies procedures and reasonable and appropriate security measures to protect individually

identifiable health information we receive from covered entities

the Federal Trade Commission Act and similar laws regulating advertising and consumer protcction

and

similar and other regulations outside the United States

Certain federal and state laws regarding Medicare Medicaid and ph sician self referrals are broad and we

may be required to change one or more of our practices to be in compliance with these laws Healthcare fraud

and abuse regulations are complex and een minor inadvertent irregularities in submissions can potentially give

rise to claims that statute has been violated Any violations of these laws could rcsult in material adverse

effect on our business financial condition and results of operations For example if we were found to be in

violation of the Federal False Claims Act we would likely face significant fines and penalties and would likely

be required to change substantially our sales promotion grant and educational activities There is also

possibility that we could face an injunction that would prohibit in whole or in part our current business activities

and as result of enforcement actions against us or our senior officers we could be excluded from participation

in government healtltcare piugiatits such as Medicate and Medicaid If tltete is change in law iegulatiun ut

administrative or judicial interpretations we may have to change our business practices or our existing business

practices could be challenged as unlawful which could have material adverse effect on our business financial

condition and results of operations In October 2008 the DOJ initiated an investigation of our marketing and

promotional practices Although we admitted to no wrongdoing and believe there was no wrongdoing on the part

of us or our employees during 2010 this investigation resulted in financial settlement of $4.4 million which

includes interest based on payment terms Additionally we incurred substantial legal costs through the

investigation and settlement process

If our past or present operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described abos or the other

gnvernmental regulatinns to which we our distributars our customers are subject ss may be subject to the

applicable penalty associated with the violation including civil and criminal penalties damages fines exclusion

from Medicare Medicaid and other government programs and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations

If we are required to obtain permits or licensure under these laws that we do not already possess we mas become

subject to substantial additional regulation or incur significant expense Any penalties damages fines

curtailment or restructuring of our operations would adversely affect our abilits to operate our business and our

financial results The risk of our being found in violation of these laws is increased by the fact that many of them

have not been fully or clearly interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts and their
pros

isions are
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subject to variety of interpretations and additional legal or regulatory change Any action against us for

violation of these laws even if we successfully defend against it could cause us to incur significant legal

expenses divert our managements attention from the operation of our business and damage our reputation

Adverse changes in payors policies toward coverage and reimbursement for surgical AF treatment would

harm our ability to promote and sell our Isolator system and other prodncts

Third party payors are increasingly exerting pressure on medical device companies to reduce their prices

Even to the extent that the treatment of AF using our products is reimbursed by private payors and governmental

payors adverse changes in payors policies toward coverage and reimbursement for surgical AF treatment would

also harm our ability to promote and sell our products Payors continue to review their policies and can without

notice deny coverage for treatments that include the use of our products Because each third-party payor

individually approves coverage and reimbursement obtaining these approvals may be time-consuming and

costly In addition third-party payors may require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our

products Alternatively government or private payors may deem the treatment of AF utilizing our products

experimental or not medically necessary and as such not provide coverage Adverse changes in coverage and

reimbursement for surgical AF treatment could harm our business and reduce our revenue

We have limited long-term clinical data regarding the safety and efficacy of our products Any long-term

data that is generated may not be positive or consistent with our limited short-term data which would

affect the rate at which our products are adopted by the medical community

Important factors upon which the efficacy of our products will be measured include long-term data on the

number of patients that continue to experience AF following treatment with our products and the number of

patients that have serious cnmplicatinns resulting from AF treatment using our products Our clinical trials may

produce limited data regarding the efficacy of our products for the treatment of AF or may identify unexpected

safety issues We cannot provide any assurance that the data collected during our clinical trials will be

compelling to the medical community because it may not be scientifically meaningful and may not demonstrate

that procedures utilizing our products are an attractive option when compared against data from alternative

procedures and products In addition the long-term effects of ablation system procedures are not known

Negative long-term data would affect the use of our products and harm our business and prospects

We sell our products outside of the United States and we are subject to varions regulatory and other risks

relating to international operations which could harm our international revenue and profitability

Doing business outside of the United States
exposes us to risks distinct from those we tace in our domestic

operations For example our operations outside of the United States are subject to different regulatory laws and

requirements in each jurisdiction where we operate or have sales Our failure or the failure of our distributors to

comply with current or future foreign regulatory requirements or the assertion by foreign authorities that we or

they have failed to comply could result in adverse consequences including enforcement actions fines and

penalties recalls cessation of sales civil and criminal prosecution and the consequences could be

disproportionate to the relative contribution of our international operations to our results of operations Moreover

if political or economic conditions deteriorate in these countries or if
any

of these countries are affected by

natural disaster or other catastrophe our ability to conduct our international operations or collect on international

accounts receivable could be limited and our costs could be increased which could negatively affect our

operating results Engaging in business outside of the United States inherently involves number of other

difficulties and risks including but not limited to

export restrictions and controls relating to technology

pricing pressure that we may experience internationally

difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems

political and economic instability
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consequences arising from natural disasters and other similar catastrophes such as hurricanes tornados

earthquakes floods and tsunamis

potentially adverse tax consequences tariffs and other trade barriers

the need to hire additional personnel to promote our products outside of the United States

international terrorism and anti American sentiment

fluctuations in exchange rates for future sales denominated in foreign currency which represent

majority of our sales outside of the United States and

difficulty in obtaining and enforcing intellectual property rights

In addition our business practices in foreign countries comply with U.S law including the Foreign Corrupt

Practices Act FCPA We have compliance program in place designed to reduce the likelihood of potential

violations of the FCPA and othcr U.S laws If violations were to occur they could subject us to fines and other

penalties as well as increased compliance costs

Our
exposure to each of these risks may increase our costs and require significant management attention

We cannot assure you that one or more of these factors will not harm our business

Our manufacturing operations are conducted at single location and any disruption at our

manufacturing facility could increase our expenses

All of our manufacturing operations are conducted at single location in West Chester Ohio While we take

precautions at this location we do not maintain backup manufacturing facility making us dependent on our

current facility for the continued operation of our business natural or other disaster could cause substantial

delays in our manufacturing operations damage or destroy our manufacturing equipment and cause us to incur

additional expenses The insurance we niaintain may not be adequate to cover our losses in any particular case

With or without insurance damage to our facility or our other property due to natural disaster or casualty

event could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

We primarily rely on independent distributors to market and sell our products outside of the United

States and failure of our independent distributors to successfully market our products in these markets

or any disruption in their ability to do so may adversely impact our sales

We primarily dcpend on third party distributors to sell our products outside of the United States and if these

distributors do not perform we may be unable to increase or maintain our level of international revenue Over the

long term we intend to continue to grow our business outside of the United States and to do so we will need to

attract additional distributors or hire direct sales personnel to expand the territories in which we sell our products

Independent distributors may terminate their relationship with us or devote insufficient sales efforts to our

products We are not able to control our independent distributors and they may not be successful in

implementing our marketing plans In addition many of our independent distributors outside of the United States

initially obtain and niaintain foreign regulatory approval for sale of our products in their respective countries

Our failure to maintain our relationships with our independent distributors outside of the United States or our

failure to recruit and retain additional skilled independent distributors in these locations could have an adverse

effect on our operations Turnover among our independent distributors even if replaced may adversely affect

our short term financial results while we transition to new independent distributors or direct personnel

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates including in particular any strengthening of the U.S dollar may
cause our independent sales distributors to seek longer payment terms to offset the higher prices they are paying

in local currency for our products The ability of these third-party distributors to market and sell our products

could also be adversely affected by unexpected events including but not limited to power failures nucleai

events natural or other disasters and war or terrorist activities In addition in light of the worldwide economic

crisis the ability of our distributors to borrow money from their existing lenders or to obtain credit from other
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sources to purchase our products may be impaired or our distributors could experience significant change in

their liquidity or financial condition all of which could impair their ability to distribute our products and

eventually lead to distributor turnover

If coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement from governmental and third-party payors outside of

the United States are not attained and maintained sales of our products outside of the United States may
decrease and we may fail to achieve or maintain significant sales outside of the United States

Our revenue generated from sales outside of the United States is also dependent upon the availability of

coverage and reimbursement within prevailing foreign healthcarc payment systems In general foreign

healthcare payors do not provide reimbursement for sole therapy minimally invasive procedures utilizing

ablation devices such as our Isolator system and related products In addition healthcare cost containment efforts

similar to those we face in the United States are prevalent in many of the other countries in which we sell our

products and these efforts are expected to continue To the extent that the use of an ablation device such as our

Isolator clamp has historically received reimbursement under foreign healthcare payment system if any such

reimbursement if any has typically been significantly less than the reimbursement provided in the United States

If
coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement from governmental and third party payors outside of the

United States are not attained and maintained sales of our products outside of the United States may decrease

and we may fail to achieve or maintain significant sales outside of the United States

The outcome of litigation in which we have been named as defendant including two class action

shareholder lawsuits is unpredictable and an adverse decision in any such matter could have material

adverse affect on our financial position and results of operations

We along with certain ol our current and tormer officers were named delendants in two purported

securities class action lawsuits These proceedings have resulted and are expected to continue to result in

diversion of managements attention and resources and in significant professional fees These professional fees

have increased and in the near term may continue to increase our cash needs

We have certain obligations to indemnify our officers and directors and to advance
expenses to such officers

and directors Although we have purchased liability insurance for our directors and officers if our insurance

carriers should deny coverage for all or portion of the amount to be paid or if the indemnification costs exceed

the insurance coverage we may be forced to bear some or all of these indemnification costs directly which could

be substantial and may have an adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and cash

flows

During 2010 we reached settlement of the class action suits for $2.75 million which was funded by the

insurance company Additionally we have recorded liability of $2.0 million representing our estimate of the

potential defense and/or settlement costs in connection with the Levine AtriCure Inc class action We cannot

assure you that we will be able to settle the case without incurring additional liability failure to resolve the

Levine case as we currently estimate or failure to successfully defend ourselves in our other class action lawsuit

may adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows as result of the

damages that we would be required to pay It is possible that our insurance policies either may not cover potential

claims of this type or may not be adequate to indemnify us from all liability that may be imposed While we

believe that the allegations and claims made in these lawsuits are wholly without merit and intend to defend

against these actions vigorously we cannot be certain that we will be successful in any or all of these actions

An adverse resolution of any lawsuits could have material adverse affect on our financial position and

results of operations
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We depend on our officers and other skilled and experienced personnel to operate our business effectively

If we are not able to retain our current employees or recruit additional qualified personnel our business

will suffer and our future revenue and profitability will be impaired

We are highly dependent on the skills and experience of our President and Chief Executive Officer David

Drachman and certain other officers and key employees We do not have any insurance in the event of the death

or disability of our key personnel other than Mr Drachman Our officers and key employees with the exception

of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer do not have employment agreements and they may
terminate their employment and work elsewhere without notice and without cause or good reason Currently we

have non-compete agreements with our officers and other employees Due to the specialized knowledge that each

of our officers possesses with respect to our products and our operations and the limited pool of people with

relevant experience in the medical device field the loss of service of one or more of these individuals could

significantly affect our ability to operate and manage our business The announcement of the loss of one or more

of our key personnel could negatively affect our stock price

We depend on our scientific and technical personnel for successful product development and innovation

which are critical to the success of our business In addition to succeed in the implementation of our business

strategy our management team must rapidly execute our sales strategy obtain expanded FDA clearances and

approvals achieve market acceptance
for our products and further develop products while managing anticipated

growth by implementing effective planning manufacturing and operating processes Managing this growth will

require us to attract and retain additional management and technical personnel Our offices are located in West

Chester Ohio where it can be difficult to attract and retain employees with experience in the medical device

industry We rely primarily on direct sales employees to sell our products in the United States and failure to

adequately train them in the use and benefits of our products will prevent us from achieving our market share and

revenue growth goals We have key relationships with doctors that involve procedure product market and

clinical development If
any

of these doctors end their relationship with us our business could be negatively

impacted We cannot assure you that we will be able to attract and retain the personnel and doctor relationships

necessary to grow and expand our business and operations If we fail to identify attract retain and motivate these

highly skilled personnel and doctors we niay be unable to continue our development and sales activities

Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be expensive Failure to comply with

environmental laws and regulations could subject us to significant liability

Our manufacturing operations and research and development activities involve the use of biological

materials and hazardous substances and are subject to variety of federal state and local environmental laws and

regulations relating to the storage use discharge disposal remediation of and human exposure to haiardous

substances Our research and development and manufacturing operations may produce biological waste

materials such as animal tissues and certain chemical waste These operations are permitted by regulatory

authorities and the resultant waste materials are disposed of in material compliance with environmental laws and

regulations Compliance with these laws and regulations may be expensive and non compliance could result in

substantial liabilities In addition we cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury

to third parties from the use storage handling or disposal of these materials In the event of contamination or

injury we could be held liable for any resulting daniages and any liability could exceed any applicable insurance

coverage we niay have In addition our manufacturing operations may result in the release discharge emission

or disposal of hazardous substances that could cause us to incur substantial liabilities including costs for

investigation and remediation
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Risks Relating To Our Common Stock

The price and trading volume of our common stock may experience extreme fluctuations and you could

lose some or all of your investment

Because we operate within the medical device segment of the healthcare industry our stock price is likely to

be volatile The market price of our common stock may have and has had history of substantial fluctuation due

to variety of factors including but not limited to

doctor and patient acceptance of the surgical treatment of AF using our products

adverse regulatory developments with respect to our products such as recalls new regulatory

requirements changes in regulatory requirements or guidance and timing of regulatory clearances and

approvals for new products

coverage and reimbursement determinations for our products and the related procedures

the timing of orders received

delays or interruptions in manufacturing or shipping of our products

pricing of our products

media reports publications and announcements about products or new innovations that could compete

with our products or about the medical device product segment in general

investigations claims or allegations by regulatory agencies such as the DOJ

market conditions or trends related to the medical device and healthcare industries or the market in

general

additions to or departures of our key personnel

disputes litigation or other developments relating to proprietary rights including patents and our ability

to obtain patent protection for our technologies

changes in financial estimates investors perceptions or recommendations by securities analysts

variations in our quarterly financial and operating results

failure to achieve or maintain an effective healthcare compliance environment

changes in accounting principles and

failure to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment

These factors sonie of which are not within our control niay cause the price of our stock to fluctuate

substantially If our quarterly or annual operating results fail to meet or exceed the expectations of securities

analysts or investors our stock price could drop suddenly and significantly We believe the quarterly and annual

comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication

of our future performance

The market prices of the securities of medical device companies particularly companies like ours without

consistent product revenue and earnings have been highly volatile and are likely to remain highly volatile in the

future This volatility has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies These

market prices generally are not sustainable and are highly volatile In the past companies that experience

volatility in the market price of their securities have often faced securities class action litigation Whether or not

meritorious litigation brought against us could result in substantial costs divert our managements attention and

resources and harm our ability to grow our business
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The ownership of our common stock is highly concentrated Yonr interests may conflict with the interests

of our existing stockholders and sales of significant number of shares may cause our stock price to

decline

Our executive officers and directors and their affiliates beneficially owned approximately 30% of our

outstanding common stock as of December 31 2010 Accordingly these stockholders have significant influence

over the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval The interests of these stockholders may be

different than the interests of other stockholders on these matters This concentration of ownership could also

have the effect of delaying or preventing change in our control or otherwise discouraging potential acquirer

froni attempting to obtain control of us which in turn could reduce the price of our common stock If our

common stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market through registration

statement or otherwise or the market perceives that such sales may occur the market price of our common stock

could decline

Sales of common stock by us in capital raising transaction may dilute your ownership of common stock

and cause decline in the market price of our common stock

We may need to raise capital in the future to fund our operations or new initiatives If we raise funds by

issuing equity securities our stock price may decline and our existing shareholders may experience significant

dilution Furthermore we may enter into financing transactions at prices that represent substantial discount to

market price negative reaction by investors and securities analysts to any sale of our equity securities could

result in decline in the trading price of our common stock

Anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and

restated bylaws and under Delaware law could inhibit change in control or change in management that

you consider favorable

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could delay or prevent change of control or

change in management that would provide you with premium to the market price of your common stock These

provisions include those

authorizing the issuance without further approval of blank check preferred stock that could be issued

by our board of directors to increase the number of outstanding shares and thwart takeover attempt

prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors which would otherwise allow lcss than

majority of stockholders to elect director candidates

limiting the ability to remove directors

limiting the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders

prohibiting stockholder action by written consent thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken

at meeting of stockholders and

establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for

proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings

In addition Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law limits business combination transactions

with 15% stockholders that have not been approved by our board of directors These provisions and others could

make it difficult for third party to acquire us or for members of our board of directors to be replaced even if

doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders Because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the

members of our management team these provisions could in turn affect any attempt to replace the current

management team If change of control or change in management is delayed or prevented you may lose an

opportunity to realiLe premium on your shares of common stock or the market price of our common stock

could decline
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We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future As result you must rely on stock

appreciation for any return on your investment

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future Any payment of

cash dividends will atso depend on our financial condition results of operations capital requirements and other

factors and will be at the discretion of our board of directors Accordingly you will have to rely on capital

appreciation if any to earn return on your investment in our common stock Furthermore pursuant to our

credit facility we are currently subject to restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and we may in the future

become subject to other contractual restrictions on or prohibitions against the payment of dividends

The requirements of being public company may strain our resources and distract management

As public company we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

as amended the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act We are also

subject to certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 the

Dodd Frank Act These requirements may place strain on our systems and resources The Exchange Act

requires that we file annual quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal

controls over financial reporting In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls

and procedures and internal control over financial reporting significant resources and management oversight will

be required While the Dodd Frank Act requires the SEC to adopt certain rules and regulations relating to our

public disclosures corporate governance and executive compensation among other things we expect such rules

and regulations will require significant attention from management Compliance with all of these laws rules and

regulations may divert managements attention from other business concerns which could have material

adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

The Company maintains its headquarters in West Chester Ohio in facility of approximately 29100 square

feet which contains office
space in addition to other technical and support functions and manufacturing The

monthly rent for this space is approximately $26700 In addition the Company has two leases in West Chester

Ohio totaling 17400 square feet of manufacturing office and distribution space Thc Company currently pays

monthly rent for these properties of approximately $9300 All West Chester leases will expire in August 2013

Internationally the Company maintains office
space

in the Netherlands The monthly rent for this lease is

approximately $2500 and the lease expires on June 30 2011 The Company believes that its existing facilities

are adequate to meet its immediate needs and that suitable additional space will be available in the future on

commercially reasonable terms as needed

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is not party to any material pending or threatened litigation except as described below

Class Action Lawsuits

AtriCure Inc and certain of its current and former officers were named as defendants in purported

securities class action lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York

Levine AtriCure Inc Case No 06 CV 14324 United States District Court for the Southern District of Ness

York The suit alleges violations of the federal securities laws and secks damages on behalf of purchasers of

our common stock during the period from our initial public offering in August 2005 through Fchruar\ 16 2006
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The Company filed motion to dismiss the lawsuit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction This motion was

denied in September 2007 and motion for reconsideration of that denial was denied in January 2009 Although

the Company admitted no wrongdoing as of December 31 2009 the Company recorded liability of

S2tltTh000 which represented an estimate of the pntential defense and/ar settlement casts On flctnber 22 2010
the parties signed Definitive Stipulation of Settlement agreement for $2000000 which is subject to notice to

the class as well as approval by the court The Company expects to recover all of the $2000000 loss through an

insurance claim and has recorded $2000000 asset within current assets which represents the amount expected

to be recovered beyond reasonable doubt from the insurance claim

On December 12 2008 AtriCure Inc and certain of its current executive officers were named in putative

class action lawsuit which is now captioned In re AtriCure Inc Securities Litigation filed in the U.S District

Court for the Southern District of Ohio Western Division The plaintiffs allege violations of Sections 10b and

20a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule lOb-S promulgated thereunder and seek unspecified

damages against AtriCure Inc and certain of its current executive officers The plaintiffs allege among other

things that the defendants issued materially false and misleading statements that failed to disclose that the

Company improperly promoted certain products to physicians and caused the filing of false claims for

reimbursement In July 2009 the Company filed motion to dismiss and in September 2009 the plaintiffs filed

their memorandum in opposition to the Companys motion to dismiss to which the Company responded on

November 2009 On March 29 2010 the court granted in part and denied in part the Companys motion to

dismiss and in particular dismissed the claim that the Company caused the filing of false claims for

reimbursement Although the Company admitted no wrongdoing as of June 30 2010 the Company recorded

liability of $2750000 which represented an estimate of the potential defense and/or settlement costs The

Company expected to recover all of that loss through an insurance claim As such the Company recorded

$2750000 asset within current assets which represents the amount expected to be recovered beyond

reasonable doubt fiom the insuianee claim On Oetobei 2010 the cuuit uidered final appioval of the

settlement for $2750000 which was funded in full by the insurance carrier

Department of Justice Investigation

On October 27 2008 the Company received letter from the DOJ informing the Company that the DOJ

was conducting an investigation for potential FCA and common law iolations relating to its surgical ablation

devices Specifically the letter stated that the DOJ was investigating the Companys marketing practices utilized

in connection with its surgical ablation system to treat AF specific use outside the FDAs 10k clearance

The letter also stated that the DOJ was in estigating whether the Company instructed hospitals to bill Medicare

for cardiac surgical ablation using incorrect billing codes The Company cooperated with the investigation and

operated its business in the ordinary course during the investigation As of December 2009 the Company
reached tentative settlement with the DOJ to resolve the investigation and recorded liability and charged

operating expenses for total of $3955405 which represented the net present value of the proposed settlement

amount to be paid to the DOJ the Relator and Relators counsel total payments based on the settlement

inclusive of interest were estimated to be $4350000 payable over five years

On February 2010 the settlement was finalized pursuant to the preliminary terms and the Company

entered into settlement agreement with the DOJ the OIG and the Relator in the qui tarn complaint discussed

below The settlement agreement definitively resolved all claims related to the DOJ investigation The Company

did not admit nor will it admit to any wrongdoing in connection with the settlement As of December 2010

the Company made $675000 in pay nients including interest and has liability related to this settlement

totaling $3420545 of which $486975 is classified as current

As part of the resolution the Company also entered into five
year Corporate Integrity Agreement with the

010 This agreement acknowledges the existence of the Companys corporate compliance program and provides

for certain other compliance-related activities during the five
year term of the agreement Those activities include

specific written standards monitoring training education independent review disclosure and reporting

requirements
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Qui Tam Complaint

On July 10 2009 copy of qui ta/n complaint against the Company was unsealed The qui taiti complaint

filed in the U.S District Court for the Southern District of Texas was originally filed by the Relator in August

2007 The complaint which was related to the DOJ investigation alleged cause of action under the FCA

relating to the Companys alleged marketing practices in connection with its surgical cardiac ablation devices In

August 2009 the DOJ declined to intervene in the qui tarn complaint The qui tarn complaint was settled in

February 2010 in accordance with the DOJ settlement agreement

The Company may from time to time become party to additional legal proceedings

ITEM REMOVED AND RESERVED
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQIJITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Market Price

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol ATRC The following

table sets forth the high and low closing sales price of our common stock for 2010 and 2009

Price Range

High Low

2010

First Quarter 6.12 $4.56

Second Quarter 6.76 $4.84

Third Quarter 8.60 $6.05

Fourth Quarter $10.27 $7.89

Price Range

High Low

2009

First Quarter 2.20 $1.21

Second Quarter 3.90 $1.07

Third Quarter 5.15 $2.90

Fourth Quarter 6.05 $4.00

As of March 2011 the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market was $10.10

per share and the number of stockholders of record was 56

Dividend Policy

The Company has not declared or paid any
dividends on its capital stock since incorporation Furthermore

pursuant to the credit facility the Company is currently subject to certain restrictions on its ability to pay

dividends The Company currently expects to retain future earnings if any for use in the operation and

expansion of the business and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the

cumulative total return of the NASDAQ Composite and the NASDAQ Medical Equipment Index for the period

beginning on January 2006 and ending on December 31 2010
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COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG ATRICURE INC THE NASDAQ COMPOSITE INDEX

AND THE NASDAQ MEDICAL EQUIPMENT INDEX

ATRICURE INC NASDAQ COMPOSITE -- NASDAQ MEDICAL EQUIPMENT

$100 invested on 1/1/06 in stock or index including reinvestment ot dividends

Fiscal year ending December 31

This graph assumes that $100.00 was invested on January 2006 in our common stock the NASDAQ
Composite Index and the NASDAQ Medical Equipment Index and that all dividends are reinvested No

dividends have been declared or paid on our common stock Stock performance shown in the above chart for

our common stock is historical and should not be considered indicative of future price performance

6/30/06 12/31/06 6/30/07 12/31/07 6/30/08 12/31/08 6/30/09 12/31/09 6/30/10 12/31/10

AtriCure Inc 70.61 83.94 80.19 123.10 101.41 20.85 32.86 56.71 62.44 96.43

NASDAQ Composite 99.15 111.74 121.24 124.67 107.89 73.77 86.12 107.12 99.74 125.93

NASDAQ Medical Equipment ... 97.22 101.15 113.78 135.54 109.26 72.03 79.91 101.17 102.65 106.70

6/06 12/06 6/07 12/07 6/08 12/08 6/09 12/09 6/10 12/10
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table reflects selected financial data derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements for

each of the last five years The statement of operations data for the
years ended December 2010 2009 and

2008 and the balance sheet data as of December 2010 and 2009 are derived from our audited financial

statements included in this Form 10 The statement of operations data for the
years

ended December 31 2007

and 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 are derived from our audited

financial statements not included in this Form 10-K Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future

results The selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with our financial statements

the related notes and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009fl 2008 2007 2006

in thousands except per share data

Operating Results

Revenue 59006 54534 55257 48309 38243

Cost of revenue 13618 12751 13225 10137 7626

Gross profit 45388 41783 42033 38172 30617

Gross margin 76.9% 76.6% 76.1% 79.0% 80.1%

Operating expenses 48580 57295 53031 50740 45386

Other expense income 581 1042 774 1315 1052

Income tax expense benefit 19 59 57
Net loss 3792 16495 10167 11253 13717
Basic and diluted net loss per share 0.25 1.13 0.72 0.84 1.13

Weighted average shares outstanding 15095 14564 14191 13382 12137

Financial Position

Cash cash equivalents and short term investments .512571 15722 11448 20007 19488

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6000

Working capital 17613 19.545 17997 24624 23031

Total assets 33716 34982 43369 46071 39128

Long term debt and capital leases 662 2670 6.037 282 693

Accumulated deficit 97762 93970 77475 67308 D6055
Stockholders equity 16.736 17090 29119 36237 30.694

As result of reduction in our market capitalization during the first quarter of 2009 we believed an

indication of impairment existed and as such performed an interim analysis of our goodwill as of

March 31 2009 as required by FASB ASC 350 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ASC 350 The

analysis concluded that the carrying value of our goodwill exceeded the estimated fair value and as such

full impairment loss of $6.8 million was recognized during 2009 See Note Goodwill and Intangible

Assets to our Consolidated Financial Statements Also during 2009 we recorded $4.0 million in expense

related to settlement with the DOJ See Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies to our Consolidated

Financial Statements
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and notes thereto contained in Item Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data to provide an understanding of our results of operations financial

condition and cash flows This discussion and analysis contains forward looking statements that involve risks

uncertainties and assumptions The actual results may differ from those anticipated in these forward-looking

statements as result of many factors including but not limited to those set forth under Item 1A Risk Factors

the cautionary statement regarding forward looking statements at the beginning of Part and elsewhere in this

Form 10

Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31 2010 compared to December 31 2009

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated our results of operations expressed as dollar

amounts and as percentages of total revenue

Year Ended December 31

Revenue Revenue increased $4.5 million or 8.2% from $54.5 million in 2009 to $59.0 million in 2010

Revenue from sales to customers in the United States increased $3.4 million or 7.7% and revenue from sales to

international customers increased $1.1 million or 10.3% The increase in sales to customer.s in the United States

was primarily due to increased sales of our disposable cryoablation devices of $2.5 million new product

offering that was initially released at the end of the first quarter of 2009 and sales of the AtriClip system of 52.4

million new product offering that was released at the end of the second quarter of 2010 International revenue

increased $1 million primarily due to an increase in sales to European customers due to new products

cryoablation products and the AtriClip system increased market penetration particularly in direct mat kcts and

an increase in average selling prices due to increased growth from direct markets as well as the transition of the

2010 2009

Amount

%of
Revenue Amount

%of
Revenue

dollars in thousands

Revenue $59006 100.0% 54534 100.0%

Costofrevenue 13618 23.1% 12751 23.4%

Gross profit 45388 76.9% 41783 76.6%

Operating expenses

Research and development expenses 11531 19.5% 11415 20.9%

Selling general and administrative expenses

Goodwill impairment

37049 62.8% 35113

6812

64.4%

12.5%

Settlement reserve 3955 7.3%

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

48580

3192
82.3% 57295

-5.4o 15512

105.1%

-28.4%

Other expense

interest expense 862 -1.5% 812 1.5%

interest income 22 0.1% 51 0.1%

Other 259 0.4% 281 0.5%

Otherexpense 581 1.0% 1042 -1.9%

Loss before income tax expense benefit

Income tax expense benefit

3773
19

-6.4% 16554
0.0% 59

-30.4%

-0.1%

Net loss 3792 6.4% $06495 3ft2%
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Benelux market to direct market Neutralizing the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations total

revenue increased 8.9% as compared to the reported 8.2% and international revenue grew 14.0% as compared to

the reported 10.3%

Cost of revenue Cost of revenue increased $0.9 million from $12.8 million in 2009 to $13.6 million in

2010 The increase in cost of revenue was primarily due to an increase in revenue As percentage of revenue

cost of revenue decreased from 23.4% for the year ended December 31 2009 to 23.1% for the year ended

December 31 2010 The decrease in cost of revenue as percentage of revenue was primarily due to an increase

in
average selling prices for products sold internationally partially offset by an increase in revenue from newer

products which have higher product cost as percentage
of revenue than our existing products

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses increased $0.1 million from

$11.4 million in 2009 to $11.5 million in 2010 As percentage of revenue research and development expenses

decreased from 20.9% in 200Q to 1.5% in 2010 Expenses related to clinical and regulatory activities including

third party consulting costs and costs associated with clinical trial enrollment increased $1.3 million The

increase was primarily due to

$1.9 million increase in third party clinical and regulatory consulting costs due to transitioning to third

party to manage most of our clinical and regulatory activities

$0.4 million reduction in clinical trial enrollment related expenses primarily due to reduction in

enrollment related expense related to the EXCLUDE clinical trial during 2010 as compared to 2009 and

$1.0 million reduction in product development and research related
expenses in 2010 as compared to

2009 due primarily to reduction in personnel related costs and third party consulting costs

Selling general and administrative expenses Selling general and administrative expenses increased $1.9

million from $35.1 million in 2009 to $37.0 million in 2010 The increase was primarily due to

$2.9 million increase in headcount-related and travel
expenses

due to an increase in average headcount

of approximately ten percent or approximately twenty people primarily associated with an increase in

sales and marketing personnel

$0.9 million reduction in legal expenscs due to resolution of the DOJ investigation and related class

action lawsuit and

$0 million reduction in share hased compensation due primarily in large non recun-ing expense
of

$0.6 million in 2009

Goodwill impairment As result of reduction in our market capitalization during the first quarter of

2009 we believed an indication of impairment existed and we performed an interim analysis of our goodwill as

of March 31 2009 The analysis concluded that the carrying value of our goodwill exceeded the estimated fair

value and we recognized full impairment loss of $6.8 million as of March 31 2009

Settlement reserve During 2009 in conjunction with the DOJ investigation and related qui tam complaint

we recorded settlement reserve of $4.0 million which represents the net present value of the settlement amount

See Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statements

Net interest expense Net interest expense was $0.8 million for 2010 and 2009 Net interest expense for

2009 included $0.1 million in
expense associated with the write-off of deferred financing costs in connection

with the termination of credit facility and interest
expense

and warrant amortization associated with the partial

year
of new credit facility which was entered into effective May 2009 Net interest expense increased during

2010 as result of an increase in average net debt outstanding for the year partially offset by the non-recurring

$0.1 million write-off of deferred financing fees during 2009
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Other income Other income consists of foreign currency transaction losses grant income and

non-employee option expense related to the fair market value change for fully vested options outstanding for

consultants which are accounted for as free-standing derivatives In 2010 other income of $0.3 million included

$0.6 million of grant income primarily due to non recurring one time grant from the United States

Internal Revenue Service of $0.5 million

$0.2 million of expenses related to foreign currency transaction losses due to partial settlements of

intercompany balances and

$0.2 million for certain non employee option expenses due to an increase in the fair market value of the

options

In 2009 other expense of $0.3 million included

$0.2 million related to foreign currency transaction losses associated with partial settlements of

intercompany balances and

$0 million of certain non-employee option expense due to an increase in the fair market value of the

options

Year Ended December 31 2009 compared to December 31 2008

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated our results of operations expressed as dollar

amounts and as percentages of total revenue

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008

tcof %of
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue

dollars in thousands

Revenue 54534 100.0% 55257 100.0%

Cost of revenue 12751 23.4% 13225 23.9%

Gross profit 41783 76.6% 42033 76.1%

Operating expenses

Research and development expenses 11.415 20.9% 10609 19.2%

Selling general and administrative expenses 35113 64.4% 42.422 76.8%

Goodwill impairment 6812 12.5c

Settlement reserve 3955 7.3%

Total operating expenses 57295 105.1% 53031 96.0%

Loss from operations 15512 28.4c 10998 -19.9%

Other expense income

Interest expense 812 1.5% 364 -0.7%

Interest income 51 0.1% 382 0.7%

Other 281 0.5% 756 1.4%

Other expense income 1042 -1.9% 774 1.4%

Loss before income tax benefit 16554 30.4% 10225 -18.5%

Income tax bcnefit 59 0.1% 57 -0.1%

Net loss $06495 3ft2c $00167 l6%

Revenue Total revenue decreased $0.7 million or 1.3% from $55.3 million in 2008 to $54.5 million in

2009 Revenue from domestic sales decreased $2.8 million or 6.0% and revenue from international sales

increased $2.1 million or 24.9% The decrease in domestic re enue was due primarily to decrease in revenue

from the sale of minimally invasive products During 2008 we introduced and sold our ORLab systems to laree
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majority of customers who utilize our minimally invasive products which is the targeted customer for our

ORLab system Neutralizing the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations total revenue decreased

0.8% as compared to the reported 1.3% and international revenue grew 28.2% as compared to the reported

24.9%

Cost of revenue Cost of revenue decreased $0.5 million froni $13.2 million in 2008 to $12.8 million in

2009 The decrease in cost of revenue was primarily due to reduction in total revenue and reduction in

revenue from the sale of capital equipment including our ORLab system which
carry higher cost of revenue

than our disposable products As percentage of revenue cost of revenue decreased from 23.9% for the year

ended December 31 2008 to 23.4% for the
year

ended December 2009 The decrease in cost of revenue as

percentage of revenue was due to reduction in revenue from capital equipment partially offset by an increased

mix of international sales which carry lower average selling price than domestic sales and the introduction of

new products which generally carry higher product cost initially

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses increased $0.8 million from

$10.6 million in 2008 to $11.4 million in 2009 As percentage of revenue research and development expenses

increased from 19.2% in 2008 to 20.9% in 2009 The increase was primarily attributable to $1.2 million

increase in consulting expenses to support clinical trial activities an increase in clinical trial expense of $0.2

million and an increase in share-based compensation of $0.4 million partially offset by decrease in product

development project costs of $0.8 million

Selling general and administrative expenses Selling general and administrative expenses decreased $7.3

million from $42.4 million in 2008 to $35.1 million in 2009 The decrease was primarily due to lower

headcount-related and travel expenses of $6.1 million primarily the result of reduction in our sales force which

occurred during the fourth quarter of 2008 and $0.7 million decrease in marketing expenses due primarily to

reduced spending in support of tradeshow activities These reductions in expenses were partially offset by an

increase in legal expense of $0.5 million related primarily to our DOT investigation and an increase in share

based compensation expense of $0.7 million due primarily to the conversion of 2008 executive and management

bonuses to be paid in restricted stock As percentage of total revenue selling general and administrative

expenses decreased from 76.8% in 2008 to 64.4% in 2009

Goodwill impairment As result of reduction in our market capitalization duiing the first quarter of

2009 we believed an indication of impairment existed and we performed an interim analysis of our goodwill as

of March 31 2009 The analysis concluded that the carrying value of our goodwill exceeded the estimated fair

value and we recognized full itopairtoent loss of $6.8 million as of March 31 2009

Settlement reserve During 2009 in conjunction with the DOT investigation and related qui tarn complaint

we recorded settlement reserve of $4.0 million which represents the net present value of the settlement amount

See Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statements

Net interest income expense Net interest inconie expense decreased $0.8 million from income of

$18214 in 2008 to expense of $0.8 million in 2009 The decrease in income was primarily due to thc write off of

deferred financing costs of $0.1 million in connection with the termination of our credit facility with PNC Bank

formerly National City Bank increased interest expense associated with borrowings under the term loan

cnmpnnent nf nur new credit facility nf $0.2 millinn driven hy higher effective interest rate and an increase in

average borrowings outstanding and $0.2 million related to the amortization of the discount on long term debt

for the warrant issued in conjunction with our new credit facility

Other expense income Other expense income consists of foreign currency transaction losses gains

grant income and non-employee option expense income related to the fair market value change for fully vested

options outstanding for consultants which are accounted for as free standing derivatives In 2009 other expcnse

of $0.3 million included $0.2 million related to foreign currency
transaction losses associated with partial
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settlements of intercompany balances and $0.1 million of certain non-employee option expense due to an

increase in the fair market value of the options Other income of $0.8 million in 2008 included income of $0.5

million associated with reduction in fair market value of certain non-employee stock options and $0.3 millioa

in
grant inenme related tn ntir grant agreement

with the Cleveland Clinic Pniindatinn partially nffset hy $0.1

million related to foreign currency transaction losses associated with the partial settlement of intercompany

balances

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31 2010 we had cash cash equivalents and short-term investments of $12.6 million and

short-term and long term debt of $2.8 million net of $0.1 million discount on long term debt resulting in

net cash position of $9.8 million We had net working capital of $17.6 million and an accumulated deficit of

$97.8 million

Cash flows used in operating activities Net cash used iii operati ig activities was $33434 during 2010

The primary uses of cash were as follows

The net loss of $3.8 million offset by non cash expenses
of $5.4 million including $2.2 million of

depreciation and $2.8 million of share based compensation

net use of cash related to changes in operating assets and liabilities of $1.6 million due primarily to

the following

An increase in accounts receivable of $2.3 million due primarily to an increase in sales during the

latter half of the fourth quarter of 2010 as compared to the latter half of the fourth quarter of 2009

An increase in inventory of approximately $0.9 million due primarily to new products and return

to more normalized inventory levels from an unusually low level at the end of 2009

decrease of $0.5 million in prepaids and other current assets due primarily to the collection of

$0.4 million receivable related to value added taxes

An increase in accounts payable of $0.9 million primarily associated with increased inventory

purchases and

An increase in other liabilities of $0.3 million due primarily to the receipt of $0.4 million licensing

fee from distributor

Cash flows used in investing activities Net cash used in investing activities was $3.3 million during 2010

The priniary uses of cash were

use of cash of $1.8 million related to the purchase of equipment which consists primarily of loans of

our generators i.e our ablation and sensing unit to our customers and

Net investment purchases of $1 .5 million reflecting net investment of excess cash in short term

investments

Cash flows used in financing activities Net cash used in financing activities during 2010 was $1.4 million

which was primarily due to the repayment of debt on our outstanding term loan of $2.2 million These payments

were partially offset by $0.4 million in proceeds related to stock option exercises and $0.5 million in proceeds

related to the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan

Credit facility On May 2009 we entered into Loan and Security Agreement the Agreement with

Silicon Valley Bank SVB that provided for term loan and revolving credit facility under which we could

borrow maximum of $10.0 million We could borrow up to $10.0 million under the revolving loan facility with

the availability subject to borrowing base formula On May 2009 we borrowed the maximum amount of

$6.5 million under the term loan In connection with the term loan SVB received warrant to purchase 371732

shares of our common stock at 1.224 per share exercisable for term of ten years the Warrant The Warrant
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was immediately exercisable and was exercised via net share settlement exercise on October 2009 resulting

in the issuance of 276143 shares of our common stock The Agreement also includes up to $1.0 million

sublimit for stand-by letters of credit

On November 2009 effective September 30 2009 we entered into Consent Waiver and First Loan

Modification Agreement with SVB which amended among other things the financial covenants in the

Agreement On March 26 2010 we entered into Waiver and Second Loan Modification Agreement with SVB
which amended among other things the financial covenants in the Agreement and waived compliance

violation which occurred during February 2010

On September 13 2010 we entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with SVB

and an Export-Import Bank Loan and Security Agreement the Amended Agreement The Amended

Agreement increased our credit facility from $10.0 million to approximately $14.0 million The Amended

Agreement also increased our borrowing capacity under the revolving loan facility by expanding total

availability eliminating term Loan reserve requirement adding sublimit secured by certain of our foreign

accounts receivable and inventory up to $2.0 million and adding incremental borrowing availability secured by

portion of our domestic inventory

The Amended Agreement contains covenants that include among others covenants that limit our ability to

dispose of assets enter into mergers or acquisitions incur indebtedness incur liens pay dividends or make

distributions on our capital stock make investments or loans and enter into certain affiliate transactions in each

case subject to customary exceptions for credit facility of this size and type Additional covenants apply when

we have outstanding borrowings under the revolving loan facility or when we achieve specific covenant

milestones Financial covenants under the credit facility as amended include minimum EBITDA limitation

on capital expenditures and minimum adjusted quick ratio Further minimum fixed charge ratio applies

when we achieve specific covenant milestones The occurrence of an event of default could result in an increase

to the applicable interest rate by 3.0% an acceleration of all obligations under the Amended Agreement an

obligation to repay all obligations in full and right by SVB to exercise all remedies available to it under the

Amended Agreement and related agreements including the Guaranty and Security Agreement As of

December 31 2010 we were in compliance with all of the financial covenants of our amended credit facility In

addition if the guarantee by the Export-Import Bank of the United States ceases to be in full force and effect we

must repay all loans under the Export-Import agreement As of December 2010 no loans were outstanding

under the Export-Import Agreement

lnterest on the term loan accrues at rate of 10.0c per year and interest on the revolving loan will accrue at

fluctuating rate equal to SVBs announced prime rate of interest subject to floor of 4.0% plus between 1.0%

and 2.0% depending on our Adjusted Quick Ratio as defined in the Agreement Principal on the term loan is

being aniortized over 36 months of equal principal payments of approximately $181000 plus applicable interest

The Agreement matures on April 30 2012 and is secured by all of our assets including intellectual property

As of December 31 2010 we had no borrowings under our revolving credit facility and borrowing

availability of approximately $8.0 million Also as of December 31 2010 we had $2.9 million outstanding under

our term loan which includes $2.2 million classified as current maturities of long-term debt The Warrant was

recorded as discount on long-term debt at its fair value and is being amortized over the term of the loan For the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 amortization expense related to the debt discount totaled

approximately $185000 and $169000 respectively The effective interest rate on borrowings under the term

loan including amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs is 17.9% As of December 31 2010 we

had an outstanding letter of credit of $250000 issued to our corporate credit card program provider which

expires on July 31 2011

On March 15 2011 we and SVB entered into First Loan Modification Agreement the Loan

Modification Agreement and an Export Import Bank First Loan Modification Agreement the Ex Im

Agreement and collectively with the Loan Modification Agreement the Modification Agreements hich set
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forth certain amendments to our credit facility with SVB The Loan Modification Agreement provided for new

$7.5 million term loan The proceeds of the new term loan were used to repay the current principal amount of the

existing term loan of approximately $2.5 million to pay interest and certain fees and expenses and for other

general corpnrate purposes Fees and discount totaling apprnximately Sl350fl0 were written off as result of

the extinguishment of the existing term loan The new term loan has five-year term and principal payments in

the amount of $125000 together with accrued interest are due and payable monthly The term loan accrues

interest at fixed rate of 6.75% which represents reduction of 3.25% from the rate applicable to the existing

term loan

The Modification Agreements also provided for two year extension of the maturity date of the existing

revolving credit facility from April 30 2012 to April 30 2014 The applicable borrowing rate however was

reduced from 1.00% to 2.00% above the prime rate to 0.25c to 0.75% above the prime rate The maximum

borrowing amount under the revolving facility remained at $10.0 million with availability of approximately $8.0

million and no borrowings outstanding as of March 15 2011

On July 2008 we entered into two year credit facility with PNC Bank formerly National City Bank
which was terminated effective May 2009 and the outstanding balance was repaid in full

Unsecured promissory note Under the terms and conditions of the Bill of Sale and Assignment

Agreement with CooperSurgical Inc Cooper we entered into an unsecured promissory note agreement for

$0.4 million which bore interest at 5.0% The note was paid in full in January 2008 and was recorded as

additional cash paid for acquisition in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows during 2008

Uses of liquidity and capital resources Our future capital requirements depend on number of factors

including possible acquisitions and joint ventures thc rate of market
acceptance

of our current and future

products the resources we devote to developing and supporting our products future expenses to expand and

support our sales and marketing efforts costs relating to changes in regulatory policies or laws that affect our

operations and costs of filing costs associated with clinical trials and securing regulatory approval for new

products and costs associated with prosecuting defending and enforcing our intellectual property rights Global

cconomic turmoil may adversely impact our revenue access to the capital markets or future demand for our

products

We believe that our current cash cash equivalents and short term investments along with the cash we

expect to generate or use for operations or access via our credit facility will be sufficient to meet our anticipated

cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next twelve months Significant cash

needs over the next twelve months include debt sen ice of approximately $2.4 million $0.2 million
per

month

plus interest on our outstanding term loan along with paynients under our settlement agreement with the DOJ

and Relator of approximately $0.6 million over the next twelve months and payments under the distributor

termination agreement and consulting agreements of approximately $0.3 million If these sources of cash are

insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain

revised or additional credit facility The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in

dilution to our stockholders If additional funds are raised through the issuance of debt securities these securities

could have rights senior to those associated with our common stock and could contain covenants that would

restrict our operations Additional financing may not be available at all or in amounts or terms acceptable to us

If we are unable to obtain this additional financing we may be required to reduce the scope of our planned

research and development and selling and marketing efforts

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

DOJ Settlement

On February 2010 we entered into settlement agreement among the Company the DOJ the 010 and

the Relator in the DOJ investigation and qni taut complaint Settlement Agreement The Settlement
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Agreement and dismissal of the qui tam complaint definitively resolve all claims related to the DOJ investigation

and qui tam complaint We have not admitted nor will we admit to any wrongdoing in connection with the

settlement

The Settlement Agreement provided that we would pay settlement amount of approximately $3.8 million

total payments based on the settlement inclusive of interest are approximately $4.2 million and legal fees to

counsel for the Relator of $0.2 million Payment of the settlement amount is being made over five year period

majority of the amount payable is payable during the fourth and fifth years Payments of the Relators legal

fees are being made in ratable quarterly payments over four years with the first payment being made in February

2010

As part of the resolution we also entered into five year Corporate Integrity Agreement with 01G This

agreement acknowledges the existence of our corporate compliance program and provides for certain other

compliance related activities during the five-year term of the agreement Those activities include specific written

standards monitoring training education independent review disclosure and reporting requirements

Purchase Agreement

On June 15 2007 we entered into purchase agreement with MicroPace Pty Ltd Inc MicroPace The

agreement as amended provides for MicroPace to produce derivative of one of their products tailored for the

cardiac surgical environment known as the MicroPace ORLab for worldwide distribution by AtriCure

Pursuant to the terms of this amended agreement in order for us to retain exclusive distribution rights beyond

2011 we are required to purchase minimum of 40 units during the period December 2010 through

December 31 2011 to extend exclusivity through 2012 and an additional 40 units during 2012 to extend

exclusivity through December 31 2013 Units purchased in excess of yearly minimums in year reduce future

minimum purchase requirements

Distributor Termination

During July 2010 we terminated distributor agreement with European distributor Under the terms of the

agreement we paid the distributor 200000 approximately $265000 repurchased saleable disposable product

inventory for approximately 107000 approximately $140000 and paid 75000 approximately $100000 for

capital equipment Additionally we entered into consulting agreement with the distributor to provide ongoing

consulting services through September 30 2012 In exchange for these services beginning October 2010 the

distributor will earn 50000 approximately $70000 per quarter for total of 400000 approximately

5535000 Additionally during the third quarter of 2010 the distributor earned 30000 approximately $45000

for consulting services

The following sets forth our approximate aggregate obligations at December 31 2010 for future payments

under contracts and other contingent commitments

Contractual Obligations Total Less than year 1-3 years 3-5 years

DOJ Settlement 3675000 587500 $1962500 $1125000

Long term debt and capital leases 3170854 2390562 780292

Class action settlement3 2000000 2000000

Purchase obligationW4 1602692 1102692 500000

Operating leases5 1368359 628803 738908 648

Royalty obligations 1340588 540588 400000 400000

Obligations to fund research grants 565960 565960

Distributor termination/consulting agreement 465500 266000 199500

LST settlement agreement 21875 21875
__________ __________

Total contractual obligations $14210828 58.103.980 $4581200 $1.525648
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The DOJ settlement provides that we pay settlement amount of $3955405 which represents the net

present value of the settlement amount to he paid to the DOJ the Relator and Relators counsel total

payments based on the settlement inclusive of interest are $4350000 and payable over five years

Long term debt represents principal repayment related to our term loan that matures in 2012 Interest on the

term loan accrues at rate of 10% per year and is included above Capital leases consist of principal and

interest payments related to computer equipment

Represents the amount of the Definitive Stipulation of Settlement agreement related to the Levine class

action lawsuit

Represents estimated minimum number of ORLab units to be purchased from MicroPace in order to

maintain exclusive distribution rights Represents 2011 2012 purchase of an additional 80 units In addition

includes outstanding purchase orders with other vendors as of December 31 2010

Represents lease commitments under various operating leases

Represents minimum payments required under the terms of royalty agreement not to exceed in aggregate

$2.0 million in royalties from January 12010 through December 31 2015 Through 2010 $0.2 million had

been paid Also represented is another royalty agreement which is total royalty of 5% of product sales and

was estimated using 2010 sales See Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies to our Consolidated

Financial Statements

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2010 we had operating lease agreements not recorded on the Consolidated Balance

Sheets Operating leases are utilized in the normal course of business

Also as of December 31 2010 we had an outstanding letter of credit of $250000 issued to our corporate

credit card program provider The letter of credit expires on July 31 2011

Inflation

Inflation has not had significant impact on our historical operations and we do not expect it to have

significant impact on our results of operations or financial condition in the foreseeable future

Critical Acconnting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial

statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities revenue and expenses and disclosures of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements On periodic basis we evaluate our estimates including those

related to sales retums and allowances accounts receivable inventories and share-based compensation We use

authoritative pronouncements historical experience and other assumptions as the basis for making estimates

Actual results could differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates

used in the preparation of our financial statements

Share-Based Employee Compensation We follow FASB ASC 718 Compensation Stock

Compensation ASC 718 to record share based compensation for all share-based awards made to employees

and directors including employee stock options restricted stock performance shares and employee stock

purchases related to an employee stock purchase plan based on estimated fair values Our employee share-based

compensation expense recognized under ASC 71 for the years ended December 2010 2009 and 2008 was

$2.8 million $3.9 million and $2.7 million respectively on before and after tax basis
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FASB ASC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of share based payment awards on the date of

grant using an option pricing model The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is

recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in our Consolidated Statement of Operations The

expense has been reduced for estimated forfeitures FASB ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the

time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates

We estimate the fair value of options on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model

Black-Scholes model Our determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant

using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding number of highly

complex and subjective variables These variables include but are not limited to our expected stock price

volatility and the peer groups expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards and actual and

projected employee stock option exercise behaviors For non-employee options the fair value at the date of grant

is subject to adjustment at each vesting date based upon the fair value of our common stock and current

assumptions of the other variables used in the Black-Scholes model

We estimate the fair value of restricted stock and performance share awards based upon the grant date

closing market price of our common stock Our determination of fair value is affected by our stock price as well

as assumptions regarding the number of shares expected to be granted and in the case of performance shares the

likelihood that the performance measures will be achieved

We also have an employee stock purchase plan ESPP which is available to all eligible employees as

defined by the ESPP plan document Under the ESPP shares of our common stock may be purchased at

discount We estimate the number of shares to be purchased under the Plan and record compensation expense

based upon the fair value of the stock at the beginning of the purchase period using the Black-Scholes model

We have historically issued stock options to non-employee consultants as form of compensation for

services provided to us We account for the options granted to non-employees prior to their vesting date in

accordance with ASC 505-50 Equity-Based Payments to Non Employees Because these options do not

contain specific performance provisions there is no measurement date of fair value until the options vest

Therefore the fair value of the options granted and outstanding prior to their vesting date is remeasured each

reporting period During the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively $19154 and $19675 of

compensation expense was recorded as result of the remeasurement of the fair value of these unvested stock

options

Because the options require settlement by our delivery of registered shares and because the tax withholding

provisions in the awards allow the options to be partially net-cash settled these options when vested are no

longer eligible for equity classification and are thus subsequently accounted for as derivative liabilities under

FASB ASC 815 until the awards are ultimately either exercised or forfeited Accordingly the vested

non-employee options are classified as liabilities and remeasured at fair value through earnings at each reporting

period

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 $164959 $140620 and $522992

respectively of expense income was recorded as result of the remeasurement of the fair value of these stock

options As of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively fully vested stock options to acquire 41049 and

52359 shares of common stock held by non employee consultants remained unexercised and liability of

$268478 and $180288 was included in accrued liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

In connection with our $6.5 million term loan we issued warrant to purchase shares of our common stock

The warrant which was legally detachable and separately exercisable from the debt agreement allowed Silicon

Valley Bank SVB to purchase 371732 shares of our common stock at 1.224 per share exercisable for

term of 10 years The warrant was immediately exercisable and was subsequently exercised by SVB on

October 2009 through net share settlement transaction in which 276143 shares were issued Upon issuance
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of the term loan and the warrant we allocated the related proceeds between these two financial instruments based

on their relative fair values in accordance with FASB ASC 470 Debt Proceeds of $455000 were allocated to

the warrant and recorded as additional paid in capital and the remaining proceeds of $6045003 were recorded

as the initial net calTying salue of the debt

Revenue Recognition Revenue is generated primarily from the sale of our disposable surgical devices

Pursuant to the Companys standard terms of sale revenue is recognized when title to the goods and risk of loss

transfers to customers and there are no remaining obligations that will affect customers final
acceptance of the

sale Generally the Companys standard terms of sale define the transfer of title and risk of loss to occur upon

shipment to the respective customer The Company generally does not maintain
any post-shipping obligations to

the recipients of the products Typically no installation calibration or testing of this equipment is performed by

AtriCure subsequent to shipment to the customer in order to render it operational Product revenue includes

shipping revenue of $0.7 million $0.7 million and $0.8 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Cost of

freight for shipments made to customers is included in cost of revenue Sales and other value-added taxes

collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities arc excluded from product revenue The

Company sells products primarily through direct sales force and through wholly-owned subsidiary AtriCure

Europe B.V Terms of sale are generally consistent for both end users and distributors and payment terms are

generally net 30 days for end-users and net 60 days for distributors

The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with PASB ASC 605 Revenue Recognition ASC
605 The timing of revenue recognition is determined based upon factors such as passage of title installation

payment terms and ability to return products We recognize revenue when all of the following criteria are met

there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists ii delivery of the products and/or services has

occurred iiithe selling price is fixed or determinable and iv collectability is reasonably assured

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable The Company evaluates the collectability of accounts

receivable in order to determine the appropriate reserve for doubtful accounts In determining the amount of the

reserve the Company considers the aging of account balances historical credit losses customer-specific

information and other relevant factors Increases to the allowance for doubtful accounts results in

corresponding expense Periodically the Company reviews accounts receivable and adjusts the allowance based

on current circumstances and charges off uncollectible receivables against the allowance when all attempts to

collect the receivable have failed

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first in first out FIFO cost

method and consist of raw materials work in process and finished goods reserve for inventory is estimated

and recorded for excess slow moving and obsolete inventory as well as inventory with carrying value in

excess of its net realizable value Write oIls are recorded when the product is destroyed The Company reviews

inventory on hand at least quarterly and records provisions for excess and obsolete inventory based on several

factors including our culTent assessment of future product demand anticipated release of new products into the

market historical experience and product expiration The industry is characterized by rapid product development

and frequent new product introductions Uncertain timing of product approvals variability in product launch

strategies product recalls and variation in product utilization all impact the estimates related to excess and

obsolete inventory

Property and EquipmentProperty and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

Depreciatiun is computed un the stiaight-line method foi financial tepurting purposes over the estimated useful

lives of the assets The estimated useful life by major asset category is the following machinery and equipment

is three to seven years computer and other office equipment is three years furniture and fixtures is three to sesen

years and leasehold improvements and leased equipment under capital lease are the shorter of their useful life

or remaining lease term Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred

Included in property and equipment are generators and other capital equipment such as the ASB that are

loaned at no cost to direct customers that use our disposable products These generators are depreciated over
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three year period and such depreciation is included in cost of revenue The total of such depreciation was $1.4

million $1.1 million and $1.1 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other than Goodwill We review property and equipment and

definite-lived intangibles for impairment using our best estimates based on reasonable and Supportable

assumptions and projections in accordance with FASB ASC 360 Property Plant and Equipment ASC 360
The Company recorded charge of $28523 for the impairment of fixed assets in 2010 In 2009 the Company
recorded charge of $5517 for the impairment of fixed assets charge of $0.2 million was recorded in 2008 for

the impairment of fixed assets and machinery and equipment related to discontinued product lines

Goodwill and Intangible Assets As of December 31 2008 the Company had $6.8 million in goodwill

recorded Goodwill represents the excess of costs over the fair value of the net assets acquired in business

combinations We historically tested goodwill for impairment annually during our fourth quarter or more

frequently if impairment indicators were present or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying value of

the asset exceeded the estimated fair value ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other ASC 350 requires

two step approach to determine any potential goodwill impairment The first step Step requires

comparison of the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value Goodwill is considered potentially

impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit is greater than the estimated fair value If potential impairment

exists based upon completion of Step Step must be completed which compares the implied fair value of

reporting units goodwill to its carrying value Step involves an analysis allocating the fair value determined in

Step as if it was the purchase price in business combination If the calculated fair value of the goodwill

resulting from this allocation is lower than the carrying value of the goodwill of the reporting unit an impairment

loss is recorded The Company recorded full impairment loss related to its goodwill during the three months

ended March 31 2009 based on the results of our Step analysis During the three month period ended June 30

2009 the Cumpany perfut med the Step analysis and concluded that the charge recuTded was apprupriate See

Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets for additional information related to this impairment

Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized on straight line basis over the estimated

periods benefited which
range from four to eight years

Income Taxes Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method in accordance with FASB
ASC 740 Income Taxes ASC 740 under which deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary

differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of our assets and liabilities Deferred taxes are

measured using provisions of currently enacted tax laws valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is

recorded when it ic mare likely than not that such assets will nnt be tully realized Tax credits are accounted for

as reduction of income taxes in the year in which the credit originates

The Companys estimate of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets requires it to make significant

estimates and judgments about future operating results The Companys ability to realize the deferred tax assets

depends on its future taxable income as well as limitations on their utilization deferred tax asset is reduced by

valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be

realized prior to its expiration The projections of operating results on which the establishment of valuation

allowance is based involve significant estimates regarding future demand for the Companys products

competitive conditions product development efforts approvals of regulatory agencies and product cost If actual

results differ from these projections or if expectations of future results change it may be necessary to adjust the

valuation allowance

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

ln October 2009 the FASB issued new guidance in ASC 985 Software which amends the accounting

and disclosure for revenue recognition These amendments effective for fiscal years beginning on or after

Juae 15 2010 early adoption is permitted modify the criteria for recogni/ing revenue in multiple element
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arrangements and the scope of what constitutes non software deliverable The Company is currently assessing

the impact on its consolidated financial position and results of operations

In January 2010 the FASB issued new guidance in ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

which requires reporting entities to make new disclosures about recurring or nonrecurring fair value

measurements including significant transfers into and out of Level and Level fair value measurements and

ii information on purchases sales issuances and settlements on gross basis in the reconciliation of Level

fair value measurements This new guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after

December 15 2009 except for Level reconciliation disclosures which are effective for interim and annual

periods beginning after December 15 2010 The Company has incorporated the additional disclosures required

for Level fair value measurements The Company will adopt Level disclosures beginning in the first quarter

of 2011



ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company has financial instruments accounted for as free-standing derivatives related to certain of the

Companys share-based payment arrangements that are outside the scope of FASB ASC 718 and are subject to

FASB ASC 815 which requires vested stock options held by certain non-employee consultants to be accouated

for as liability awards until these awards are exercised or forfeited The fair value of these awards is remeasured

at each financial statement date until the awards are settled or expire Income expense recorded based on the

remeasurement of these options was $0.2 million $0.1 million and $0.5 million for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively As of December 31 2010 stock options to acquire 41049

shares of common stock held by non-employee consultants remained unexercised and liability of $0.3 million

is included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet The Company is exposed to

the volatility of the market price of its stock If the market price of AtriCure stock increased by $1 as of

December 31 2010 the Company would have recorded approximately $35000 in additional expense related to

these awards

The Company is exposed to various market risks which include potential losses arising from adverse

changes in market rates and prices such as foreign exchange fluctuations and changes in interest rates

Borrowings under the term loan with Silicon Valley Bank hears interest at rate of 10.0% per year Interest on

the revolving loan will accrue at fluctuating rate equal to the Banks announced prime rate of interest subject to

floor of 4.0% pIus between 1.0% and 2.0% depending on the Companys Adjusted Quick Ratio as defined in

the Agreement At December 31 2010 our effective borrowing rate was 17.9% and the carrying value and fair

value of the outstanding balance under the term loan was $2.9 million Based upon this debt level 10%

increase in the interest rate would not have resulted in material impact to our financial results

For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 products sold by AtriCure Europe B.V accounted for

11.1% and 9.8% respectively of the Companys total revenue Since such revenue was primarily denominated in

Euros the Company is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations between the Euro and the U.S Dollar To date the

effect of the foreign exchange rate fluctuations on AtriCures financial results has not been significant For the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 foreign currency transaction losses of $171227 and $140593

respectively were recorded in connection with partial settlements of the intercompany receivable balance with

the subsidiary For revenue denominated in Euros if there is an increase in the rate at which Euros are exchanged

for U.S Dollars it will require more Euros to equal specified amount of U.S Dollars than before the rate

increase In such cases and if products are priced in Euros the Company will receive less in U.S Dollans than

was received before the rate inciease went into effect If products are priced in U.S Dollars and competitors

price their products in Euros an increase in the relative strength of the U.S Dollar could result in the Companys

price not being competitive in market where business is transacted in Euros The Euro to U.S dollar conversion

rate fluctuations may impact our reported revenue and expenses

The Company currently invests its cash primarily in money market accounts U.S government agencies and

securities corporate notes corporate bonds medium term notes money market securities and commercial paper

Although the Company believes its cash to be invested in conservative manner with cash preservation being

the primary investment objective the value of the securities held will fluctuate with changes in the financial

markets including among other things changes in interest rates credit quality and general volatility This risk is

managed by investing in high quality investment grade securities with very short-term maturities

Finaucial instiuruents that potentially subject the Company tu credit iisk cunsist uf cash and cash equivalent

balances Certain of AtriCures cash and cash equivalents balances exceed FDIC insured limits or are invested in

money market accounts with investment banks that are not FDIC insured The Company places its cash and cash

equivalents in what it believes to be credit worthy financial institutions As of December 31 2010 3.950655 of

the cash balance was in excess of the FDIC limits
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

AtriCure Inc

West Chester Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AtriCure Inc and subsidiary the

Company as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations

stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 Our

audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These financial statements

and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys nianagement Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement The Company is not required to has

nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting Our audit included

consideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also

includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estiniates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of the Company at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows

for each of the three years in the period ended December 2010 in conformity with accounting principles

genrally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion such financial statenient schedule when

considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole present fairly in all

material respects the information set forth therein

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Cincinnati Ohio

March 31 2011
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2010 and 2009

2010 2009

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4230709 8905425

Short-term investments 8340028 6816673

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts of $8764 and

$24400 respectively 9480064 7248087

Inventories net 5680033 4869708

Other current assets 2917571 3511335

Total current assets 30648405 31351228

Property and equipment net 2723227 3008699

Intangible assets 89375 287653

Other assets 254707 334756

Total Assets 33715714 34982336

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 4511516 3599943

Accrued liabilities 6330405 5979176

Current maturities of debt and capital leases 2193356 2227431

Total current liabilities 13035277 11806550

Long term debt and capital leases 661624 2669666

Other liabilities 3282883 3416360

Total Liabilities 16979784 17892576

Commitments and contingencies Note 10

Stockholders Equity

Common stock $.001 par valuc 90000000 shares authorized and

ID663585 and l535328 issued and outstanding respectively 15664 lD33
Additional paid-in capital 114402234 110900087

Accumulated other comprehensive income 79.625 144290

Accumulated deficit 97761593 93969970

Total Stockholders Equity 16735930 17089760

Total Liabilities and Stockholders Equity 33715714 34982336

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 and 2008

2010 2009 2008

Revenue $59006188 54533558 55257023

Cost of revenue 13618454 12750745 13224504

Gross profit 45387734 41782813 42032519

Operating expenses

Research and development expenses 11530820 11414889 10608668

Selling general and administrative expenses 37048715 35112006 42422133

Goodwill impairment 6812389
Settlement reserve 3955405

____________

Total operating expenses 48579535 57294689 53030801

Loss from operations 3191801 15511876 10998282

Other income expense

Interest expense 861573 812326 364071
Interest income 22219 51089 382285

Other 258582 280514 755564

Loss before income tax benefit 3772573 16553627 10224504
Income tax expense benefit 19050 58639 57252

Net loss 3791623 $06494988 $00167252

Basic and diluted net loss per share 0.25 1.13 0.72

Weighted average
shares outstanding basic and diluted 15095250 14563.710 14191000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

61



ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Stock

Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income Loss Equity Loss

Balance December31 2007 14132424 14l3 103524814 67307.730 5286 36236502
Issuance of common stock under

equity incentive plans 87537 88 337252 337340

Issuance of common stock under

stock purchase plan 54923 55 103.584 103639

Non employee stock option fair

market value adjustment 1681 1681

Share based employee

compensation expense 2669322 2669322

Reversal of prior period

unrealized gains on

investments 12129 12129 12129
Foreign currency translation 49946 49946 49946
Net loss 10167.252 10167252 10167252

Comprehensive toss 310.229327

Balance December 31 2008 14.274884 14275 106636653 77474982 56789 29119157

Issuance of common stock under

equity incentive plans 684790 685 357.801 357t16
Issuance of common stock under

stock puiehase plan 117471 117 280918 281035

Non employee stock option fair

maiket value adjustment 19.675 19.675

Share-based emplo cc

compensation expense 386921 3865.921

Issuance ol common stock under

warrants 276143 276 44721 44997
tiniealized Gain on

investments 2.685 268i 2685

Foteign curieney translation 198394 198.394 198.394

Net loss 16494.988 16494988 16494988

Cnmpiehensive Ins 31 6203Qfl0

Balance December 31 009 15353288 S15353 3110.900.087 593969.970 144290 17089760

Issuance of common stock under

equity incentive plans 213709 214 231874 32.088

Issuance of common stock under

stock puiehase plan 96588 97 498423 498520

Non employee stock option fair

market value adjustment 19154 19.1

Shate based employee

compensation expense 2.752696 2752696

Unrealized loss on investments 3006 3.006 3006
Foreign cuireney translation 61659 61659 61659
Net lws t3791623 3791623 379lo23

Comprehensive loss 3856288

Balance Decemhei 31 2010 15.663285 S15664 114402234 397761.593 79.625 1673s.930

See accompanying ootes to consolidated financial statements
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in provided by operating

activities

Share-based compensation expense

Depreciation

Amortization of deferred financing costs

Write off of deferred financing costs

Amortization of discount on long term debt

Amortization of intangible assets

Gain Loss on disposal of equipment

Change in allowance for doubtful accounts

Goodwill impairment

Settlement reserve

Changes in assets and liabilities excluding eflects of acquired business

Accounts recei able

Inventories

Gther current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Gther non-current assets and non-current liabilities

Net cash used in provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of equipment

Proceeds from sale of equipment

Purchases of available for sale securities

Maturities of available-foi sale securities

Change in restricted cash and cash equivalents

Cash paid for acquisition

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid for interest

ach paid fnr income taxes

Non cash investing and financing activities

Purchases of equipment in current liabilities

Proceeds from sale of equipment in accounts receivable

Assets acquired thiough capital
lease

Warrant issued in conjunction with credit
facility

727431 7.493.269 721917
6500000 6000000

67619 35110 340932
498520 281.037 103640

353356 33335 239873

1443174 914009 7280.664

136827 123483 48043

4674716 2543026 5220
890542 11448451 13000652

4230709 8905425 1144841

See accompanying nofes fo consolidated financial statements

2010 2009 2008

3791623 S16.494988 $10167252

2771850

2165.006

111065

185314

198278

36604
15636

2299937
850147

24339

893281

237071

3885596

2137300

87.473

102485

169106

781500

5517

9581
6812389

3955407

685.986

1504706

169163

1550090
140.624

2.671.003

2400704

113678

281500

151518

70440

609337

1149231
342710
597461

745874
348451 85671 150514

33.434 419948 5709940

1.813812 1.360459 1747790
5738 2000

11124852 8015866 l90076
9598491 1201.877 8894670

6000000 6000000

__________ __________
417292

333493 2172.448 1170968Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments on debt and
capital leases

Proceeds from borrowings of debt

Payment of debt fees and premium on ietiicment of debt

Proceeds from issumcc of common stock under employee stock purchase plan

Proceeds from stock option exercises

Net cash used in provided by financing acti ities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

417516 460.927 127656

20.610 17300 141110

61976

89469

b746

105651

4n000

21.036

107197
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of the Business AtriCure Inc the Company or AtriCure was incorporated in the State of

Delaware on October 31 2000 The Company develops manufactures and sells devices designed primarily for

the surgical ablation of cardiac tissue and devices for the exclusion of the left atrial appendage The Company
sells its products to hospitals and medical centers globally International sales were $11488302 $10414357
and $8338932 in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and AtriCure Europe By the Companys wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the Netherlands All

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Cash and Cash Equivalents The Company considers highly liquid investments with maturities of three

months or less at the date of acquisition as cash equivalents in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements

Short-Term InvestmentsThe Company places its investments primarily in U.S Government agencies and

securities corporate bonds and commercial
paper

with maturities less than one year The Company classifies all

investments as available-for-sale Such investments are recorded at fair value with unrealized gains and losses

recorded as separate component of stockholders equity The Company recognizes gains and losses when these

securities are sold using the specific identification method

Revenue Recognition The Company accounts fut icvcnuc in accui dance with Financial Accuunting

Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 605 Revenue Recognition ASC
605 The Company determines the timing of revenue recognition based upon factors such as passage of title

installation payment terms and ability to return products The Company recognizes revenue when all of the

following criteria are met there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists ii delivery of the products

and/or services has occurred iiithe selling price is fixed or determinable and iv collectability is reasonably

assured

Revenue is generated from the sale of the Companys surgical devices Our surgical devices consist

primarily of individual disposable handpieces and equipment generators Our customers need the combination of

the generator and the handpieces to have functional system The Company believes that the generator and

handpiece are considered single unit of accounting under ASC 605 because neither the generator nor handpiece

have value to the customer on standalone basis Therefore because the customer needs both the generator and

handpiece to have functional system revenue is recognized upon the later of delivery of the generator or the

handpiece

Pursuant to the Companys standard terms of sale revenue is recognized when title to the goods and risk of

loss transfers to customers and there are no reniaining obligations that will affect the customers final acceptance

of the sale Generally the Companys standard terms of sale define the transfer of title and risk of loss to occur

upon shipment to the respective customer The Company generally does not niaintain any post-shipping

obligations to the recipients of the products Typically no installation calibration or testing of this equipment is

performed by the Company subsequent to shipment to the customer in order to render it operational

Product revenue includes shipping and handling revenue of $656.57 $669328 and $757722 in 2010 2009

and 2008 respectively Cost of freight for shipments made to customers is included in cost of revenue Sales and

other value-added taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are excluded from

revenue The Company sells its products primarily through direct sales force and through AtriCure Europe

B.V Terms of sale are generally consistent for both end users and distributors except that payment terms are

generally net 30 days for end-users and net 60 days for distributors
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Sales Returns and AllowancesThe Company maintains provision for sales returns and allowances to

account for potential returns of defective or damaged products products shipped in error and price reductions

given to customers The Company estimates such provision quarterly based primarily on specific identification

basis Increases to the provision result in reduction of revenue

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable The Company evaluates the collectability of accounts

receivable in order to determine the appropriate reserve for doubtful accounts In determining the amount of the

reserve the Company considers aging of account balances historical credit losses customer-specific information

and other relevant factors An increase to the allowance for doubtful accounts results in corresponding increase

in expense The Company reviews accounts receivable and adjusts the allowance based on current circumstances

and charges off uncollectible receivables against the allowance when all attempts to collect the receivable have

failed

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in first out cost method

FIFO and consist of raw materials work in process and finished goods reserve for inventory is estimated

and recorded for excess slow moving and obsolete inventory as well as inventory with carrying value in excess

of its net realizable value Write offs are recorded when product is destroyed The Company reviews inventory

on hand at least quarterly and records provisions for excess and obsolete inventory based on several factors

including current assessment of future product demand anticipated release of new products into the market

historical experience and product expiration The Companys industry is characterized by rapid product

develupment arid frequent new product introductions Unecitain timing of product approvals variability iii

product launch strategies and variation in product utilization all impact the estimates related to excess and

obsolete inventory

Property and Equip inent Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

Depreciation is computed using the straight line method of depreciation for fInancial reporting purposes and

applied over the estimated useful lives of the assets The estimated useful life by major asset category is the

following machinery and equipment is three to seven years computer and other office equipment is three years

furniture and fixtures is three to seven years and leasehold improvements and equipment leased under capital

lease are the shorter of their useful life or remaining lease term Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as

incurred

Included in property and equipment are generators and other capital equipment such as the Companys
switchbox units and cryosurgical consoles that are loaned at no cost to direct customers that use the Companys

disposable products These generators are depreciated over period of one to three
years which approximates

their useful lives and such depreciation is included in cost of revenue The estimated useful lives of this

equipment are based on anticipated usage by our customers and the timing and impact of expected new

technology rollouts by the Company To the extent the Company experiences changes in the usage of this

equipment or introductions of new technologies the estimated useful lives of this equipment may change in

future period Depreciation related to these generators was $1369200 $1125786 and $1069135 in 2010 2009

and 2008 respectively As of Decemher 31 7010 and 7009 the net carrying amount of loaned equipment

included in net property and equipment in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets was $1630163 and

$1756638 respectively

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other than GoodwillThe Company reviews property and equipment

and definite lived intangibles for impairment using its best estimates based on reasonable and supportable

assumptions and projections in accordance with FASB ASC 360 Property Plant and Equipment ASC 360
In 2010 the Company recorded gain of $65127 on the sale of fixed assets and charge within operating
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinaed

expense of $28523 for the impairnient of fixed assets In 2009 the Company recorded charge within operating

expense of $5517 for the impairment of fixed assets The Company recorded charge within cost of revenue of

$151 18 in 2008 for the impairment of fixed assets and machinery and equipment related to discontinued

product lines

Goodwill and Intangible Assets As of December 31 2008 the Company had $6812389 in goodwill

which represented the excess of costs over the fair value of the net assets acquired in business combinations The

Company historically tested its goodwill for impairment annually during its fourth quarter or more frequently if

impairment indicators were present or changes in circumstances indicated that carrying value of the asset

exceeded the estimated fair value FASB ASC 350 Intangib1es Goodwill and Other ASC 350 requires

two-step approach to detei mine
auy potential goodwill iuipaiiiuent The first step Step requires comparison

of the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value Goodwill is considered potentially impaired if the

carrying value of the reporting unit is greater than the estimated fair value If potential impairment exists based

upon completion of Step Step must be completed which compares the implied fair value of reporting

units goodwill to its carrying value Step involves an analysis allocating the fair value determined in Step as

if it was the purchase price in business combination If the calculated fair value of the goodwill resulting from

this allocation is lower than the carrying value of the goodwill of the reporting unit an impairment loss is

recorded During the first quarter of 2009 the Companys market capitalization declined and was less than its

recorded net book value which indicated that potential impairment existed The Conipany recorded full

impairment loss related to its goodwill during the first quarter of 2009 based on the results of its Step analysis

floring the second quarter of 2109 the Company performed its Step analysis and concluded that the charge

recorded was appropriate

Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized on straight line basis over the estimated

periods benefited which range from four to eight years

Grant Income The Company received research grants in 2010 and 2008 which were recognized as funds

earned and not as awarded by awarding agencies No grant income was earned during the year ended

December 31 2009

Income Taxes Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method in accordance with FASB

ASC 740 Income Faxes ASC 740 under which deterred income taxes are provided for the temporary

differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Companys assets and liabilities

Deferred taxes are measured using provisions of currently enacted tax laws valuation allowance against

deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more likely than not that such assets will not be fully realized Tax

credits are accounted for as reduction of income taxes in the year in which the credit originates

The Companys estimate of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets requires it to make significant

estimates and judgments about its future operating results The Companys ability to realize the deferred tax

assets depends on its future taxable income as well as limitations on their utilization deferred tax asset is

reduced by valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will

not be realized prior to its expiration The projections of the Companys operating results on which the

establishment of valuation allowance is based involve significant estimates regarding future demand for the

Companys products competitive conditions product development efforts approvals of regulatory agencies and

product cost If actual results differ from these projections or if the Companys expectations of future results

change it may be
necessary to adjust the valuation allowance

Net Loss Per Share Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average

number of common shares outstanding during the period Since the Company has experienced net losses for all
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

periods presented net loss per share excludes the effect of 3408304 3164o3o and 3290203 stock options

restricted stock and performance based shares as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively because

they are anti-dilutive Therefore the number of shares calculated for basic net loss per share is also used for the

diluted net loss per share calculation

Comprehensive Loss and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income LossIn addition to net losses

the comprehensive loss includes foreign currency exchange rate adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on

investments The comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively was

$3856288 $16293909 and $10229327

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss consisted of the following

Unrealized

Gains Losses Foreign

on Short-Term Currency Other

and Long-Term Translation Comprehensive
Investments Adjustment Income Loss

Balance as of December 31 2007 12129 6843 5286

Current-period change 12129 49946 62075

Balance as of December 31 2008 56789 56789

Current-period change 2685 198394 201079

Balance as ufDeeeuibei 31 2009 2685 141605 144290

Current period change 3006 61659 64665

Balance as of December 31 2010 321 79946 79625

Foreign Currency Transaction Losses The Company recorded foreign currency transaction losses of

$171227 $140593 and $64176 for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively in

connection with partial settlements of its intercompany balance with its subsidiary

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development costs are expensed as incurred These costs

include compensation and other internal and external costs associated with thc development and research related

to new products or concepts preclinical studies clinical trials and cost of products used in trials and tests

Share-Based Employee Compensation The Company follows FASB ASC 718 Compensation Stock

Compensation ASC 718 to record share based compensation for all share-based payment awards made to

employees including employee stock options restricted stock performance shares and employee stock

purchases related to an employee stock purchase plan based on estimated fair values The Companys employee

share based compensation expense recognized under ASC 718 for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 was $2752696 $3865922 and $2669322 respectively on before and after tax basis

FASB ASC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of share based payment awards on the date of

grant using an option pricing model The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is

recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in the Companys Consolidated Statement of Operations

The expense has been reduced for estimated forfeitures FASB ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at

the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates

The Company estimates the fair value of options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model Black-Scholes model The Companys determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the Companys stock price as well as assumptions

regarding number of highly complex and subjective variables These variables include but are not limited to the

Companys and the
peer groups expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards and actual and

projected employee stock option exercise behaviors For non employee options the fair value at the date of grant

is subject to adjustment at each vesting date based upon the fair value of the Companys common stock and

current assumptions of the other variables used in the Black Scholes model

The Company estimates the fair value of restricted stock and performance share awards based upon the

grant date closing market price of the Companys common stock The Companys determination of fair value is

affected by the Companys stock price as well as assumptions regarding the number of shares expected to be

granted and in the case of performance shares the likelihood that the performance measures will be achieved

The Company also has an employee stock purchase plan ESPP or the Plan which is available to all

eligible employees as defined by the Plan Under the ESPP shares of the Companys common stock may be

purchased at discount The Company estimates the number of shares to be purchased under the Plan and

records compensation expense based upon the fair value of the stock at the beginning of the purchase period

using the Black-Scholes model

The Company has historically issued stock options to non employee consultants as form of compensation

for services provided to the Company The Company accounts for the options granted to non-employees prior to

their vesting date in accordance with ASC 505-50 Equity-Based Payments to Non Employees Because these

options do not contain specific performance provisions there is no measurement date of fair value until the

options vest Therefore the fair value of the options granted and outstanding prior to their vesting date is

remeasured each reporting period During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 $19154 $19675

and $1681 respectively of expense was recorded as result of the remeasurement of these unvested stock

options

Because the options require settlement by the Companys delivery of registered shares and because the tax

withholding provisions in the awards allow the options to be partially net cash settled these options when

vested are no longer eligible for equity classification and are thus subsequently accounted for as derivative

liabilities under FASB ASC 815 until the awards are ultimately either exercised or forfeited Accordingly the

vested non-employee options are classified as liabilities and remeasured at fair value through earnings at each

reporting period During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 $164959 $140620 and

$522992 respectively of expense income was recorded as result of the remeasurement of the fair value of

these fully vested stock options

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively fully vested options to acquire 41 049 and 52359 shares

of common stock held by non employee consultants remained unexercised and liability of $268478 and

$180288 was included in accrued liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31

2010 and 2009 respectively

In connection with the Companys $6.5 million term loan the Company issued warrant to purchase shares

of the Companys common stock The warrant which was legally detachable and separately exercisable from the

debt agreement allowed Silicon Valley Bank SVB to purchase 371732 shares of the Companys common

stock at $1 .224
per share and was exercisable for term of ten years The warrant was immediately exercisable

and was subsequently exercised by SVB on October 2009 through net share settlement transaction in which

276143 shares were issued Upon issuance of the term loan and the warrant the Company allocated the related

proceeds between these two financial instruments based on their relative fair values in accordance with FASB

ASC 470 Debt Proceeds of $455000 were allocated to the warrant and recorded as additional paid in capital

and the remaining proceeds of $6045003 were recorded as the initial net carrying value of the debt
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ATRICURE INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Use of Estimates The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenue and expense during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

Fair Value Disclosures The fair value of the Companys financial instruments including cash and cash

equivalents accounts receivable short term investments short and long-term other assets accounts payable

accrued expenses other liabilities and fixed interest rate debt approximate their fair values

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In October 2009 the FASB issued new guidance in ASC 985 Software which amends the accounting

and disclosure for revenue recognition These amendments effective for fiscal years beginning on or after

June 15 2010 early adoption is permitted modify the criteria for recognizing revenue in multiple element

arrangements and the scope of what constitutes non-software deliverable The Company is currently assessing

the impact on its consolidated financial position and results of operations

In January 2010 the FASB issued new guidance in ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

which requires reporting entities to make new disclosures about recurring or nonrecurring fair value

measurements including significant transfers into and out of Level and Level fair value measurements and

ii information on purchases sales issuances and settlements on gross basis in the reconciliation of Level

fair value measurements This new guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after

December 15 2009 except for Level reconciliation disclosures which are effective for interim and annual

periods beginning after December 15 2010 The Company has incorporated the additional disclosures required

for Level fair value measurements The Company will adopt Level disclosures beginning in the first quarter

of 2011

FAIR VALUE

FASB ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 defines fair value as the

exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or

most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between niarket participants on the

measurement date Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs

and minimize the use of unobservable inputs The standard describes fair value hierarchy based on three levels

of inputs of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable that may be used to measure

fair value which are the following

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the

ability to access at the measurement date An active market for the asset or liability is market in which

transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing

information on an ongoing basis The valuation under this approach does not entail significant degree

of judgment

Level Inputs other than Level that are observable either directly or indirectly such as quoted

prices for similar assets or liabilities quoted prices in markets that are not active or other inputs that are

observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets

or liabilities The valuation technique for the Companys Level assets is based on quoted market prices

for similar assets from observable pricing sources at the reporting date
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Level 3Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant

to the fair value of the assets or liabilities Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the

extent that observable inputs are not available thereby allowing for situations in which there is little if

any market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date The fair value of the Companys

Level derivatives are estimated on the grant date using the Black Scholes model and they are revalued

at the end of each reporting period using the Black Scholes model

In accordance with ASC 820 the following table represents the Companys fair value hierarchy for its

financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December 31 2010

Assets

Money market funds

Commercial paper

U.S government agencies and securities

Corporate bonds

Total assets

Liabilities

Derivative instruments

Total liabilities

___________

In accordance with FASB ASC 820 the following table represents the Companys fair value hierarchy for

its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December 2009

Assets

Money market funds

Commercial paper

U.S government agencies and securities 4018252

Corporate bonds 400976
_________ ________ __________

Total assets 4419228 $9571223
__________

Liabilities

Derivative instruments $180288 180288

Total liabilities $180288 180288

The fair value of the Level liabilities is estimated using the Black-Scholes model including the following

assumptions

As of December 31 2010 As of December 31 2009

Risk free interest rate 0.12% 1.86% 0.55% 2.94C/c

Expected life of option years 0.16 4.71 1.13 5.71

Expected volatility of stock 65.00% 61.00%

Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for

Identical Assets

Level

Significant Other

Observable Inputs

Level

Significant Other

Unobservable

Inputs

Level Total

$1222618

2399038

1222618

2399038

5836594 5836594

704207 704207

$6540801 $3621656 $10162457

$268478 268478

$268478 268478

$7173778

2397445

7173778

2307445

4018252

400976

$13990451
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The Company has historically issued stock options to non employee consultants as form of compensation

for services provided to the Company Once these non employee options have vested the awards no longer fall

within the
scope

of ASC 505-50 Because the options require settlement by the Companys delivery of registered

shares and because the tax withholding provisions in the awards allow the options to be partially net-cash settled

these vested options are no longer eligible for equity classification and are thus accounted for as derivative

liabilities under FASB ASC 815 Derivatives and Hedging until the awards are ultimately either exercised or

forfeited Accordingly the vested non-employee options are classified as liabilities and remeasured at fair value

through earnings at each reporting period In calculating the fair value of the options they are estimated on the

grant date using the Black-Scholes model subject to change in stock price utilizing assumptions of risk-free

interest rate contractual life of option expected volatility weighted average volatility and dividend yield Due to

the lack of certain observable market qootes the Company utilizes valuation models that rely on some Level

inputs Specifically the Companys estimate of volatility is weighted 75% and 25% between the Companys

implied volatility and the implied volatility of group of comparable companies respectively

2010 2009 2008

Fair Value Measurements Fair Value Measurements Fair Value Measurements

Using Signiticant Other Using Significant Other Using Significant Other
Unubservable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

Level Level Level

Derivative Instruments Derivative Instruments Derivative Instruments

Beginning Balance 180288 40368 660827

Tntal lnsses gains realized

unrealized included in

earnings 164959 140620 522993

Purchases issuances and

settlements 76769 700 97466

Ending Balance 268478 180288 40368

Losses included in earnings or

changes in net assets attributable to

the change in unrcalized losses

relating to assets still held at

reporting date $064959 $040620 522993

INVESTMENTS

As of December 31 2010 the Company had no long-term investments Short term investments as of

December 31 2010 consisted of the following

Unrealized

Cost Basis Gains losses Fair Value

U.S Government agencies and securities $5836623 29 $5836594

Commercial paper 1799214 13 1799227

Corporate bonds 704503 296 704207

Total $8340340 $312 $8310028
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As of December 31 2009 the Company had no long-term investments Short-term investments as of

December 31 2009 consisted of the following

Unrealized

Cost Basis Gains losses Fair Value

U.S Government agencies and securities $4014972 $3279 $4018251

Commercial paper 2397783 337 2397446

Corporate bonds 401233 257 400976

Total $6813988 $2685 $6816673

The Company has not experienced any significant realized gains or losses on its investments in the periods

presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives The following table

provides summary of the Companys intangible assets with definite lives

Proprietary

Manufacturing Non-Compete Trade

Technology Agreensent Name Total

Net carrying amount as of December 31 2007 558778 94792 $197083 850653

Amortization 214000 12500 55000 281500

Net carrying amount as of December 31 2008 344778 82292 142083 569153

Amortization 214000 12500 55000 281500

Net carrying amount as of December 31 2009 130778 69792 87083 287653

Amortization 130778 12500 55000 198278

Net carrying amount as of Deceniber 31 2010 57292 32083 89375

Amortizable intangible assets are being amortized oer eight years for non-compete arrangement four

years for trade name usage and five years for proprietary manufacturing technology For the years cnded

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 amortization expense related to intangible assets with definite lives was

$198278 $281500 and $281500 respectively

Future amortization expense related to intangible assets with definite lives is projected as follows

Year Amortization

2011 44583

2012 12500

2013 12.500

2014 12500

2015 7292

Total $89375

Goodwill represents the excess of costs over the fair value of the net assets acquired in business

combinations The Company historically tested its goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quartor or
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more frequently if impairment indicators were present or changes in circumstances indicated the carrying value

of the asset exceeded the estimated fair value FASB ASC 350 requires two step approach to determine
any

potential goodwill impairment The first step Step requires comparison of the carrying value of the reporting

unit to the fair value of the unit Goodwill is considered potentially impaired if the carrying value of the reporting

unit is greater than the estimated fair value If potential impairment exists based upon completion of Step Step

is required which compares the implied fair value of reporting units goodwill to its carrying value Step

involves an analysis allocating the fair value determined ia Step as if it was the purchase p1-ice in business

combination If the calculated fair value of the goodwill resulting from this allocation is lower than the carrying

value of the goodwill of the reporting unit an impairment loss is recorded

As result of reduction in the Companys market capitalization during the first quarter of 2009 the

Company believed an indication of impairment existed and performed Step analysis of its goodwill as of

March 31 2009 The Step process concluded that the carrying value of the Companys single reporting unit

exceeded its estimated fair value

To estimate the fair value of the reporting unit for Step the Company utilized the market valuation

approach Under the market valuation approach the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is based on the

Companys market capitalization using the closing market price of the Companys stock and number of shares

outstanding as of March 31 2009 The Company also considered control premium that represents the estimated

amount an investor would pay for controlling interest in the Company An income approach was also used to

cnrrnhnrate the results of the Step test The discounted cash finw method was used tn measure the fair value of

the Companys equity under the income approach Determining the fair value using discounted cash flow

method includes assumptions about future market conditions and operating results The judgments were based

upon historical experience current market trends and projected cstimated future revenue and profit margins The

Company believed that these estimates and assumptions were reasonable and that different estimates and

assumptions could have resulted in different outcome Determining the control premium to apply to the

reporting unit is subjective process that involves the use of estimates and judgments The income approach

supported the interim Step test result using the market valuation approach in determining that the carrying

value of the reporting unit exceeded the fair value

Step of the goodwill impairment tcst compares the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill with

the carrying amount of the goodwill If the carrying amount of the Companys goodwill exceeds the implied fair

value of goodwill an impairment loss is recognized for an amount equal to that excess As required the

Company performed Step of the goodwill impairment test during the three months ended June 30 2009 Based

on the results of this test the Company concluded its goodwill was fully impaired and that the impairment of

$6812389 which represented the cumulative impairment since inception on before and after tax basis was

appropriately recorded as of March 31 2009 This impairment was recorded as an increasc in operating expenses

loss from operations and net loss in the Consolidated Statement of Operations during the three months ended

March 31 2009

The following table provides summary of the Companys changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill

Net canying amount as of December 31 2008 6.812389

Goodwill impairment 6812389

Net carrying amount as of December 31 2009 and 2010
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INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following at December 31

2010 2009

Raw material $2583030 $1839610

Work in process 698462 411738

Finished goods 2430047 2801530

Reserve for obsolescence 31506 183170

Inventories net $5680033 $4869708

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31

2010 2009

Machinery equipment and vehicles 7032214 6248020

Computer and other office equipment 1519574 1276273

Furniture and fixtures 303669 384535

Leasehold improvements 69094 65435

Equipmcnt under capital leases 207847 207847

Construction in progress 169014 75806

Total 9301412 8257916

Less accumulated depreciation 6578185 5249217

Property and equipment net 2723227 3008699

Total property and equipment depreciation was $2 165006 $2 132.300 and SI 329972 in 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively

ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at December

2010 2009

Accrued class action settlement reserve $2000000 $2000000

Accrued commissions 1178854 1251681

Other accrued liabilities 808876 703286

Accrued bonus 894492 779949

Accrued settlement reserve current portion 486975 562500

Accrued nun-employee stock options 262478 80.88

Accrued taxes and VAT payable 435495 269491

Accrued vacation 257235 175607

Accrued severance 56374

Total S6330405 S5979.l76
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INDEBTEDNESS

Long-term debt and capital leases consisted of the following at December

2010 2009

Credit facility due 2012 net of discount on debt $2788309 $4769662

Capital leases 66671 127435

Total debt and capital leases 2854980 4897097

Less Current maturities 2193356 2227431

Total long-term debt and capital leases 661624 $2669666

On May 2009 the Company and SVB entered into Loan and Security Agreement the Agreement
that provided for term loan and revolving credit facility under which the Company could borrow maximum

of $10.0 million The Company could borrow up to $10.0 million under the revolving loan facility with the

availability subject to borrowing base formula On May 2009 the Conipany bor owed the maximum amount

of $6.5 million under the term loan In connection with the term loan SVB received warrant to purchase

371732 shares of the Companys common stock at $1 .224 per share exercisable for term of ten years the

Warrant The Warrant was immediately exercisable and was exercised via net share settlement exercise on

October 2009 resulting in the issuance of 276143 shares of the Companys common stock The Agreement

also includes up to $1.0 million sublimit for stand by letters of credit

On November 2009 effective September 30 2009 the Company entered into Consent Waiver and First

Loan Modification Agreement with SVB which amended among other things the financial covenants in the

Agreement On March 26 2010 the Company entered into Waiver and Second Loan Modification Agreement

with SVB which amended among other things the financial covenants in the Agreement and waived

compliance violation which occurred during February 2010

On September 13 2010 thc Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement

with SVB the Amended Agreement and an Export Import Bank Loan and Security Agreement The

Amended Agreement increased the Companys credit facility from $10.0 million to approximately 14.0 million

The Amended Agreement also increased the Companys borrowing capaciy under revolsing loan facility by

expanding total availability eliminating Term Loan resers requirement adding sublimit secured by certain

of the Companys foreign accounts receivable and inventory up to 52.0 million and adding incremental

borrowing availability secured by portion of the Companys domestic inventory

Interest on the term loan accrues at rate of 10.0% per year and interest on the revolving loan will accrue at

fluctuating rate equal to SVBs announced prime rate of interest subject to floor of 4.0% plus between 1.0%

and 2.0% depending on the Companys Adjusted Quick Ratio as defined in the Agreement Principal on the

term loan is being paid over 36 months in equal principal payments of $180556 plus applicable interest The

Amended Agreement matures on April 30 2012 and is secured by all of the Companys assets including

intellectual property

The Amended Agreement contains covenants that include among others covenants that limit the

Companys and its subsidiaries ability to dispose of assets enter into mergers or acquisitions incur

indebtedness incur liens pay dividends or make distributions on the Companys capital stock make investments

or loans and enter into certain affiliate transactions in each case subject to customary exceptions for credit

facility of this size and type Additional covenants apply when the Company has outstanding borrowines under

the revolving loan facility or when the Company achieves specific covenant milestones Financial cos enants
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under the credit facility as amended include minimum EBITDA limitation on capital expenditures and

minimum adjusted quick ratio Further minimum fixed charge ratio applies when the Company achieves

specific covenant milestones The occurrence of an event of default could result in an increase to the applicable

interest rate by 3.0% an acceleration of all obligations under the Amended Agreement an obligation of the

Company to repay all obligations in full and right by SVB to exercise all remedies available to it under the

Amended Agreement and related agreements including the Guaranty and Security Agreement As of

December 31 2010 the Company was in compliance with all of the financial covenants of the amended credit

facility In addition if the guarantee by the Export Import Bank of the United States ceases to be in full force and

effect the Company must repay all loans under the Export-Import agreement

As of December 31 2010 the Company had no borrowings under its revolving credit facility and borrowing

availability of $8136523 Also as of December 31 2010 the Company had $2888889 outstanding under its

term loan which includes $2166667 classified as current maturities of long-term debt The Warrant was

recorded as discount on long-term debt at its relative fair value and is being amortized over the term of the loan

For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 amortization
expense

related to the debt discount totaled

$185314 and $169106 respectively The effective interest rate on borrowings under the term loan including

amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs is 17.9% The Company had an outstanding letter of

credit of $250000 issued to its corporate credit card program provider as of December 31 2010 The letter of

credits expiration date is July 31 2011

As of December 2010 the Company had capital leases for computer equipment that expire at various

terms through 2013 The cost of the assets under lease was $207847 The assets are depreciated over their

estimated useful lives which equal the terms of the leases Accumulated amortization on the capital leases was

$137414 at December 31 2010

Maturities on long-term debt gross of discount on long term debt including capital lease obligations are as

follows

2011 $2193356

2012 751706

2013 10498

Total maturities on long-term debt and capital lease $2955560

As of December 31 2009 the Company had no borrowings under its revolving credit facility and borrowing

availability of $1054 144 Also as of December 31 2009 the Company had $5055556 outstanding under its

term loan which included $2166667 classified as current maturities of long term debt As of December

2009 the Company had an outstanding letter of credit of $250000 issued to its corporate credit card program

provider

On March 15 2011 we and SVB entered into First Loan Modification Agreement the Loan

Modification Agreement and an Export Import Bank First Loan Modification Agreement the Ex Im

Agreement and collectively with the Loan Modification Agreement the Modification Agreements which set

forth certain ameodments to our credit facility with SVB The oao Modification Agreement provided for new

$7.5 million term loan The proceeds of the new term loan were used to repay the current principal amount of the

existing term loan of approximately $2.5 million to pay interest and certain fees and expenses and for other

general corporate purposes Fees and discount totaling approximately $135000 were written off as result of

the extinguishment of the existing term loan The new term loan has five
year term and principal payments io

the amount of $125000 together with accrued interest are due and payable monthly The term loan accrues

interest at fixed rate of 6.75% which represents
reduction of 3.25% from the rate applicable to the existing

term loan
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The Modification Agreements also provided for two-year extension of the maturity date of the existing

revolving credit facility from April 30 2012 to April 30 2014 The applicable borrowing rate however was

reduced from 1.00% to 2.00% above the prime rate to 0.25% to 0.75% above the prime rate The maximum

bolTowing amount under the revolving facility remained at $10.0 million with availability of approximately $8.0

million and no borrowings outstanding as of March 15 2011

10 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases The Company leases various types of office manufacturing and warehouse facilities and

equipment under noncancelable operating leases that expire at various terms through 2014 Future minimum

lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows

Year Amount

2011 628803

2012 440015

2013 298893

2014 648

Total $1368359

Rent expense was approximately $668219 $793845 and $566132 in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Royalty Agreements The Conipany has certain royalty agreements in place with terms that include the

payment of royalties based on product sales One royalty agreement which was effective January 2010 has

rate of 1.5% of product sales and includes minimum quarterly payments of $50000 through 2015 and

maximum of $2000000 in total royalties over the term of the agreement Another royalty agreement which was

effective in 2003 and has term of at least twenty years has royalty rates of 5% of product sales Parties to the

royalty agreements have the right at any time to terminate the agreement immediately for cause Royalty expense

of $33 1652 $205082 and $200000 was recorded as part of cost of revenue for the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Purchase Agreement On June 15 2007 the Company entered into purchase agreement with MicroPace

Pty Ltd Inc MicroPace The agreement as amended provides for MicroPace to produce derivative of one

of their products tailored for the cardiac surgical environment known as the MicroPace ORLab for worldwide

distribution by AtriCure Pursuant to the terms of this amended agreement in order for the Company to retain

exclusive distribution rights beyond 2011 the Company is required to purchase minimum of 40 units during the

period December 2010 through December31 2011 to extend exclusivity through 2012 and an additional 40

units during 2012 to extend exclusivity through December 31 2013 The Company purchased five units in

December 2010 Units purchased in excess of yearly minimums in year reduce future minimum purchase

requirements

Life Support Technology LST b.v In September of 2007 multiple proceedings between the Company and

Life Support Technology LST b.v or LST. former distributor of AtriCure products in Europe were settled

The settlement agreement provides for the Company to pay LST 257360 euros in 16 payments of 16085
with the final payment due January 2011 If the U.S Dollar to Euro conversion rate on any

of the 16 payment

due dates set forth in the agreement is less than $1.36 to the Euro the Company will owe LST additional

compensation up to maximum of 28.3 10 which reduces over time The Company has recorded liabilities of

$23783 and $109755 as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively
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Distributor Termination During July 2010 we terminated distributor agreement with European

distributor Under the terms of the agreement we paid the distributor 200000 approximately $265000

repurchased saleable disposable product inventory for approximately 107000 approximately $140000 and

paid 75000 approximately $100000 for capital equipment Additionally we entered into consulting

agreement with the distributor to provide ongoing consulting services through September 30 2012 In exchange

for these services beginning October 2010 the distributor will earn 50000 approximately $70000 per

quarter for total of 400000 approximately $535000 Additionally during the third quarter of 2010 the

distributor earned 30000 approximately $45000 for consulting services

Legal The Company is not party to any material pending or threatened litigation except as described

below

Class Action Lawsuits

AtriCure Inc and certain of its cunent and former officers were named as defendants in purported

securities class action lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York

Levine AtriCure Inc Case No 06 CV 14324 United States District Court for the Southern District of New

York The suit alleges violations of the federal securities laws and seeks damages on behalf of purchasers of the

Companys common stock during the period from the Companys initial public offering in August 2005 through

February 16 2006 The Company filed motion to dismiss the lawsuit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction

TIns ututiuji was denied in September 2007 and motion for recunsiderution of that denial was denied in

January 2009 Although the Company admitted no wrongdoing as of December 31 2009 the Company recorded

liability of $2.0 million which represented an estimate of the potential defense and/or settlement costs In

addition the Company recorded related receivable of $2.0 million from its insurance carrier for the potential

defense and/or settlement costs as recovery is expected beyond reasonable doubt On October 22 2010 the

parties signed Definitive Stipulation of Settlement agreement for $2000000 which is subject to notice to the

class as well as approval by the court The Company expects to recover all of the $2000000 loss through an

insurance claim and has recorded $2000000 asset within current assets which represents the amount expected

to be recovered beyond reasonable doubt from the insurance claim

On December 12 2008 AtriCure Inc and ccrtain of its current executive officers were named in putative

class action lawsuit which is now captioned In re AtriCure Inc Securities Litigation filed in the U.S District

Court for the Southern District of Ohio Western Division The plaintiffs allege violations of Sections 10b and

20a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule lOb promulgated thereunder and seek unspecified

damages against AtriCure Inc and certain of its current executive officers The plaintiffs allege among other

things that the defendants issued materially false and misleading statements that failed to disclose that the

Company improperly promoted certain products to physicians and caused the filing of false claims for

reimbursement The class period alleged ran from May 10 2007 through October 31 2008 in July 2009 the

Company tiled motion to dismiss and in September 2009 the plaintiffs filed their memorandum in opposition

to the Companys motion to dismiss to which the Company responded on November 2009 On March 29

2010 the court granted in part and denied in part the Companys motion to dismiss and in particular dismissed

the claim that the Company caused the filing of false claims for reimbursement On October 2010 the court

ordered final approval of the settlement for $2750000 which was funded by the Companys insurance carrier

Department of Justice Investigation

On October 27 2008 the Company received letter from the Department of Justice DOJ informing thc

Company that the DOJ was conducting an investigation for potential False Claims Act FCA and common lass
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violations relating to its surgical ablation devices Specifically the letter stated that the DOJ was investigating the

Companys marketing practices utilized in connection with its surgical ablation system to treat atrial fibrillation

AF specific use outside the FDAs 510k clearance The letter also stated that the DOJ was investigating

whether the Company instructed hospitals to bill Medicare for cardiac surgical ablation using incorrect billing

codes The Company cooperated with the investigation and operated its business in the ordinary course during

the investigation As of December 31 2009 the Company reached tentative settlement with the DOJ to resolve

the investigation and recorded liability and charged operating expenses for total of $3955405 which

represented the net present value of the proposed settlement amount to be paid to the DOJ the Relator and

Relators counsel total payments based on the settlement inclusive of interest were estiniated to be $4350000

payable over five years

On February 2010 the settlement was finalized pursuant to the preliminary terms and the Company
entered into settlement agreement with the DOJ the 01G and the Relator in the gui taut complaint discussed

below The settlement agreement definitively resolved all claims related to the DOJ investigation The Company
did not admit nor will it admit to any wrongdoing in connection with the settlement As of December 31 2010
the Company made $675000 in payments including interest and has liability related to this settlement

totaling $3420545 of which $486975 is classified as culTent

As part of the resolution the Company also entered into five year Corporate Integrity Agreement with the

01G This agreement acknowledges the existence of the Companys corporate compliance program and provides

fur certain nther compliance related activities during the five
year term of the agreement Those activities include

specific written standards monitoring training education independent review disclosure and reporting

requirements

Qui Tarn Complaint

On July 10 2009 copy of gui tarn complaint against the Company was unsealed The gui taut complaint

filed in the U.S District Court for the Southern District of Texas was originally filed by the Relator in August

2007 The complaint which was related to the DOJ investigation alleged cause of action under the FCA

relating to the Companys alleged marketing practices in connection with its surgical cardiac ablation devices In

August 2009 the DOJ declined to intervene in the gui tauu complaint The gui tarn complaint was settled in

February 2010 in accordance with the DOJ settlement agreement

The Company may from time to time become party to additional legal proceedings

11 INCOME TAXES

The Company files federal state and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of

limitations Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method in accordance with FASB ASC 740

under which deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary differences between the financial reporting

basis and the tax basis of the Companys assets and liabilities Deferred taxes are measured using provisions of

currently enacted tax laws valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more likely

than not that such assets will not be fully realized Tax credits are accounted for asa reduction of inconie taxes in

the year in which the credit originates The Company does not expect any significant unrecognized tax benefits to

arise over the next twelve months
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The detail of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 is as follows

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforward

Research and development credit carryforward

Equity compensation

Intangible assets

Fixed assets

Accruals and reserves

Inventury

Other net

Subtotal

Less valuation allowance

Total

2010

19568885

3265636

3093142

891977

265075

208721

16687

1540

27311663

27.311663

2009

19134088

2922889

2445138

916680

409473

256507

108778

428

26193982

26193982

The Companys provision for income taxes is as follows

Current income tax expense benefit

Deferred tax benefit

Increase in valuation allowance

Total income tax expense benefit

2010

19050

1117681

1117681

19050

2009

58639

4027943

4027943

58639

2008

57252

3204151

3204151

57252

The Conipany has federal net operating loss canyforward of $52378143 which will begin to expire in

2021 and state net operating loss carryforwards of $22458603 which have varying expirations ranging from

years to 20 years The Company also has foreign net operating loss carryforward of $5733804 which will

begin to expire in 2016 Additionally the Company has federal research and development credit carryforward

of $3265636 which will begin to expire in 2022

The Companys 2010 2009 and 2008 effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate as

follows

Tax at statutory rate

RD credit

Valuation allowance

Goodwill impairment

DOJ Settlement

State income taxes

Foreign NOL rate change

Foreign tax rate differential

9.03 342747 1.85

29.45 1117681 24.33

7.89

307050
4027943

1305885

640326

295.697

49140
131903

115423

58639

2010 2009

34.00% $1290415 34.00% $5628232

2008

Other

Effective tax rate

3.12

3.29

3.63

4.04

0.50%

3.87

118504 1.79

124915 0.30

137929 0.80

153183 0.70

19050 0.35%

34.00% $347633

2.02 206376

31.34 3204151

3.56 364346

0.83 84847

2.80 288051

0.57% 57.252
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The Companys pretax book loss for AtriCure Inc and its subsidiary Atricure Europe B.V was

$2240034 and $1532539 respectively for 2010 $15001246 and $1552381 respectively for 2009

and $9136096 and $1088406 respectively for 2008

On January 2007 the Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 Application of the provisions of FIN

48 did not result in any change to the Companys tax account balances The Company has continued to examine

its tax positions and has concluded that each meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold of FIN 48 and

is appropriately measured The Company does not expect any significant unrecognized tax benefits to arise over

the next twelve nionths The Company currently has not had to accrue interest and penalties related to

unrecognized tax benefits however when or if the situation occurs the Company will recognize interest and

penalties within the income tax expense benefit line in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of

Operations and within the related tax liability line in the Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company files

federal state and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations All of the

Companys federal state and foreign income tax returns open under the statutes of limitations remain subject to

examination

12 CONCENTRATIONS

During fiscal 20102009 and 2008 approximately 19.4% 22.0% and 17.5% respectively of the

Companys total net revenue was derived from its top ten customers During 2010 2009 and 2008 no customer

accounted for more than 10% of thc Companys revenue

The Company maintains cash balances which at times exceed FDIC limits As of December31 2010

$3950655 of the cash balance was in excess of the FDIC limits

13 RELATED PARTY

During February 2009 the Company entered into consulting agreement with Enable Medical

Technologies an entity founded and owned by Michael Hooven the Companys co founder and also one of

its directors Under the terms of the agreement Enable Medical Technologies provided research and

des elopment consulting sen ices related to product and procedural development activities Under the agreement

Enable Medical Technologies received $216000 as development fee and upon completion of certain

milestones earned an additional %5000 The agreement expired in July 2009

The Company entered into Consulting Agreement dated as of January 2007 with Michael Hooven

Under the terms of the agreement Mr Hooven provided consulting services and advice to the Company with

respect to the creation and development of new products and product platforms relating to cardiac arrhythmias

and the prevention or reduction of strokes using cardiac devices The term of the consulting services portion of

the agreement was for one year and expired on December 2007 The agreement also contained certain

non compete and non-solicitation provisions which expired on December 31 2009

14 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors the AtriCure Inc 401k Plan defined contribution plan covering substantially all

employees of the Company the Plan Eligible employees may contribute up to 50% of their pre-tax annual

compensation During 2008 the Company made matching contributions of 50% of the first 6% of employee

contributions to the Plan The Plan was amended effective January 2009 primarily to reflect modifications to

the definition of compensation and employee eligibility and effective January 2009 employer contributions to
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the Plan were suspended The Companys matching contributions expensed during 2008 were $452887

Additional amounts may be contributed to the Plan at the discretion of the Conipanys board of directors No

such discretionary contributions were made during 2010 2009 or 2008

15 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company has several share-based incentive plans the 2001 Stock Option Plan the 2001 Plan the

2005 Equity Incentive Plan the 2005 Plan and the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan the ESPP

During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company identified computational error in the calculation of its

employee share based compensation expense for current and prior year periods after upgrading to new version

of the Companys third party equity software The well-known equity accounting software incorrectly calculated

share bnsed compensation expense by inappropriately applying forfeiture rates over the vesting periods of the

share awards The correction of the error during the fourth quarter of 2009 resulted in changes to the timing of

share-based compensation expense over the vesting period of the awards during the relevant periods but did not

change the cumulative share-based compensation expense related to those awards Because share based

compensation expense is non-cash item there is no impact to net cash provided by operations in any period

The cumulative impact of the error was $495629 which was included in operating expenses within the 2009

Consolidated Statement of Operations

The Company believes the correction of this error is not material to its previously issued historical

consolidated financial statements and the Company does not plan to restate prior periods that were impacted by

this error

2001 Plan and 2005 Plan

The 2001 Plan is no longer used for granting incentives Under the 2005 Plan the Board of Directors may

grant
incentive stock options to employees and any parent or subsidiarys employees and may grant nonstatutory

stock optionsrestricted stock stock appreciation rights performance units or performance shares to employees

directors and consultants of the Company and any parent or subsidiarys employees directors and consultants

The administrator currently the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has the power to determine

the terms of
any awards including the cxercise price of options the number of shares subject to each award the

exercisabihty ol the awards and the torm of consideration

Options granted under the 2001 Plan and the 2005 Plan generally expire 10 years from the date of grant

Options granted from the 2001 Plan are generally exercisable beginning one year from the date of grant in

cumulative yearly amounts of 25% of the shares granted Options granted from the 2005 Plan generally vest at

rate of 25% on the first anniversary date of the grant and ratably each month thereafter Certain options granted

were exercisable at the time of the grant and the underlying unvested shares are subject to the Companys

repurchase rights as stated in the applicable plan agreement

As of December 31 2010 5303131 shares of common stock had been reserved for issuance under the 2005

Plan The shares authoriLed for issuance under the 200 Plan include shares reserved but unissued under the

2001 Plan as of August 10 2005 shares returned to the 2001 Plan as the result of the termination of options

or the repurchase of shares issued under such plan and annual increases in the number of shares available for

issuance on the first day of each year equal to the lesser of

3.25% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the first day of the fiscal year

825000 shares or

an amount the Companys Board of Directors may determine
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On January 2010 an additional 498982 shares were authorized for issuance under the 2005 Plan

representing 3.25% of the outstanding shares on that date As of December 31 2010 there were 705599 shares

available for future grants under the plans

Activity under the plans during 2010 was as follows

Weighted

Weighted Average
Number of Average Remaining Aggregate

Shares Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Stock Options Outstanding Price Term Value

Outstanding at January 12010 2533977 8.20

Granted 447750 5.58

Cancelled or forfeited 109369 $10.32

Exercised 85004 4.16

Outstanding at December 31 2010 2787354 7.82 5.96 $8490966

Vested and expected to vest 2750555 7.85 5.92 $8335814

Exercisable at December31 2010 2024371 8.23 5.00 $5667075

Weighted
Number of Average

Shares Grant Date

Restricted Stock Outstanding Fair Value

Outstanding at January 2010 360909 3.26

Awarded 162600 5.69

Forfeited 5300 3.17

Released 146509 3.09

Outstanding at December 31 2010 371700 4.39
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Activity under the plans during 2009 was as follows

Weighted

Weighted Average
Number of Average Remaining Aggregate

Shares Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Stock Options Outstanding Price Term Value

Outstanding at January 2009 2629310 $8.51

Granted 118500 $2.62

Cancelled or forfeited 192936 $9.64

Exercised 20897 $1.60

Outstanding at December 31 2009 2533977 $8.20 6.03 $2937181

Vested and expected to vest 2486288 $8.22 5.96 $2881439

Exercisable at December 31 2009 1826766 $7.98 5.25 $2523284

Weighted
Number of Average

Shares Grant Date

Restricted Stock Outstanding Fair Value

Outstanding at January 2009 161893 $2.15

Awarded 666320 $2.48

Forfeited 28500 $2.83

Released 438804 $1.68

Outstanding at December 31 2009 360909 $3.26

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was

$311542 $65403 and $770381 respectively and as result of the Companys tax position no tax benefit was

recognized related to the stock option exercises For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

$353356 $33335 and $239873 respectively in cash proceeds was included in the Companys Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows as result of the exercise of stock options The total fair value of restricted stock

vested during the tsselve months ended December 31 2010 and 2009 was $80683 and $1246247 respectively

The exercise price per share of each option is equal to the fair market value of the underlying share on the

date of grant The Company issues registered shares of common stock to satisfy stock option exercises and

restricted stock grants

The Company recognized expense related to stock options and restricted stock for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 of $2178338 $3577317 and $2494369 respectively As of

December 31 2010 there was 53926955 of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested share based

compensation arrangements $2537148 relating to stock options and $1389807 relating to restricted stock

This cost is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 2.0 years for stock options and 1.7

years for restricted stock

The Company has issued performance shares to certain employees and consultants to incent and reward

them for the achievement of specified performance over various service periods The participants received

awards for specified number of shares of the Companys common stock at the beginning of the award period

which entitles the participants to the shares at the end of the award period if achievement of the specified metrics

and service requirements occurs As of December 31 2010 the Company has the potential to issue 249.250
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shares of common stock based upon each parhcipant meeting all of the specified metncs In accordance with

FASB ASC 718 the Company estimates the number of shares to be granted based upon the probability that the

performance metric and service period will be achieved The fair value of the estimated award based on the

market value of the Companys stock on the date of award is expensed over the award period During the years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company recognized expense related to the performance shares of

$380337 and $185413 respectively The probability of meeting the specified metrics is reviewed quarterly As

of December 31 2010 there were no unrecognized compensation costs related to non vested share-based

compensation arrangements associated with these performance shares

Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP

During the second quarter of 2008 the Company established its 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

ESPP which is available to eligible employees as defined in the plan Under the ESPP shares of the

Companys common stock may be purchased at discount currently 15% of the lesser of the closing price of

the Companys common stock on the first trading day or the last trading day of the offering period The offering

period currently six months and the offering price are subject to change Participants may not purchase more

than $25000 of the Companys common stock in calendar year and effective January 2009 may not

purchase more than 1500 shares during an offering period Beginning on January 2009 and on the first day of

each fiscal year thereafter during the term of the ESPP the number of shares available for sale under the ESPP

shall be increased by the lesser of two percent 2% of the Companys outstanding shares of common stock as

of the close of business on the last business day of the prior calendar year not to exceed 600.000 shares nr ii
lesser amount determined by the Board of Directors At December 31 2010 there were 623581 shares available

for future issuance under the ESPP including 307066 shares approved for issuance by the Companys Board of

Directors effective January 2010 Share-based compensation expense with respect to the ESPP was $194021

$103191 and $33903 for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 and 2008 respectively

Valuation and Expense Information Under FASB ASC 718

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to employee share based

compensation under FASB ASC 715 for 2010 2009 and 2008 This expense was allocated as follows

2010 2009 2008

Cost of revenue 146154 284817 151270

Research and development expenses 537221 757660 346698

Selling general and administrative expenses 2069321 2823444 2171354

Total 752696 $3865921 $2669322

In calculating compensation expense the fair value of the options is estimated on the grant date using the

Black Scholes model including the following assumptions

2010 2009 2008

Risk free interest rate 1.79 2.88% 2.07 3.08% 1.89 3.54%

Expected life of option years 6.00 to 6.25 6.00 to 6.25 6.00 to 6.25

Expected volatility of stock 66.00- 1.00% 53.50- 62.00% 43.00- 51.00%

Weighted-average volatility 69.30% 60.43% 44.3 1%

Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
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The Companys estimate of volatility is based on the Companys trading history and other companies in the

industry For grants made after December 31 2009 the Companys estimate of volatility was weighted 75% and

25% between the Companys trading history and other companies in the industry respectively The risk-free

interest rate assumption is based upon the U.S treasury yield curve at the time of grant for the expected option

life The simplified method is utilized in determining the expected life of the option

The fair value of restricted stock awards is based on the market value of the Companys stock on the date of

the awards

Based on the assumptions noted above the weighted average estimated fair value per share of the stock

options and restricted stock granted for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was as follows

2010 2009 2008

Stock options $3.59 $1.53 $4.71

Restricted stock 5.69 2.48 2.15

Non-Employee Stock Compensation

The Company has issued nonstatutory common stock options to consultants to purchase shares of commoa

stock as form of compensation for services provided to the Company Such options vest over service period

ranging from immediately to four years After January 2006 all stock options to non-employee consultants

have four year vesting period and vest at rate of 25% on the first anniversary date of the grant and ratably

each month thereafter

The fair value at the date of grant which is subject to adjustment at each vesting date was determined using

the Black-Scholes model There were no non-employee stock options granted during the twelve months ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 The values attributable to the non-vested portion of the non-employee stock

options have been amortized over the service period on graded vesting method and the vested portion of these

stock options was remeasured at each vesting date

The Company accounts for the options granted to non employees prior to their vesting date in accordance

with ASC 505-50 Equiiy-Based Payments to Non-Employees Because these options do not contain specific

performance provisions there is no measurement date of fair value until the options vest Therefore the fair

value of the options granted and outstanding prior to their vesting date is remeasured each reporting period Stock

compensation expense with respect to unvested non-employee stock options totaled $19154 $19675 and $1.68

for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Once these non-employee stock options have vested the awards no longer fall within the scope of ASC
505-50 Because the stock options require settlement by the Companys delivery of registered shares and because

the tax withholding provisions in the awards allow the stock options to be partially net-cash settled these vested

stock options are no longer eligible for equity classification and are thus accounted for as derivative liabilities

under FASB ASC 815 Derivatives and l-1edging until the stnck options are ultimately either exercised or

forfeited Accordingly the vested non employee stock options are classified as liabilities and remeasured at fair

value through earnings at each reporting period During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

$164959 $140620 and $522992 respectively of expense income was recorded as result of the

remeasurement of the fair value of these stock options As of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively fully

vested stock options to acquire 41049 and 52359 shares of common stock held by non-employee consultants

remained unexercised and liability of $268478 and $1 80288 was included in accrued liabilities in the

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 2010 and 2009 respectivcly
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16 SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company considers reporting segments in accordance with FASB ASC 280 Segment Reporting The

Company develops manufactures and sells devices designed primarily for the surgical ablation of cardiac tissue

and systems designed for the exclusion of the left atrial appendage These devices are developed and marketed to

broad base of medical centers in the United States and internationally Management considers all such sales to

be part of single reportable segment

Geographic revenue was as follows

Revenue

United States

International

Total

2010

$47517886

11488302

$59006188

2009

$44119201

10414357

$54533558

2008

$46918091

8338932

$55257023

Substantially all of the Companys long-lived assets are located in the United States

17 SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED
Dollars in thousands except per share data

For the Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 20092 2010 2009

Opeiating Results

Revenue

Gross profit

Loss froni operations

Net income loss

Net income loss per share

basic and diluted 0.13 0.56 0.05 0.10 0.07 0.32

As result of reduction in the Companys market capitalization during the quarter ended March 2009

the Company believed an indication of impairment existed and as such performed an interim analysis of

goodwill as of March 31 2009 as required by FASB ASC 350 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

ASC 350 The analysis concluded that the carrying value of our goodwill exceeded the estimated fair

value and as such the Company recognized full impairment loss of $6.8 million during 2009 See Note

Goodwill and Intangible Assets to our Consolidated Financial Statements

During the third quarter ended September 30 2009 the Company recorded $4.0 million in
expense

related

to settlement with the DOJ See Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Amounts may not sum to consolidated totals for the full year due to rounding Basic and diluted net loss per

share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented Therefore the sum of the quarterly per share

amounts will not necessarily equal the total for the year

$13952

10679

1690
2009

$13674

10729

7932
7965

$14192

11229

666
765

$13778

10670

1033
1443

$14473

11174

831
1029

$13281

10003

4432
4697

$16389

12306

238
12

$13800

10380

2114
2390

0.00 0.16
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18 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 15 2011 the Company and SVB entered into First Loan Modification Agreement the Loan

Modification Agreement and an Export Import Bank First Loan Modification Agreement the Ex Im

Agreement and collectively with the Loan Modification Agreement the Modification Agreements which set

forth certain amendments to the Companys credit facility with SVB The Loan Modification Agreement

provided for new $7500000 term loan The proceeds of the new term loan were used to repay the current

principal amount of the existing term loan of $2527778 to pay interest and certain fees and expenses and for

other general corporate purposes Fees and discount totaling approximately $135000 were written off as

result of the extinguishment of the existing term loan The new term loan has five year term and principal

payments in the amount of $125000 together with accrued interest are due and payable monthly The term loan

accrues interest at fixed rate of 6.75% which represents reduction of 3.25% from the rate applicable to the

existing term loan

The Modification Agreements also provide for two-year extension of the maturity date of the existing

revolving credit facility from April 30 2012 to April 30 2014 The applicable interest rate was reduced from

1.00% to 2.00% above the prime rate to 0.25% to 0.75% above the prime rate dependent on the Companys

Adjusted Quick Ratio The maximum amount of availability under the revolving facility remained at

$10000000 with borrowing capacity of approximately $8000000 as of March 15 2011 No borrowings were

outstanding on the revolving credit facility as of March 15 2011
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SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deductions Balance

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable

Year ended December 31 2010 24400 7987 23623 8764

Year ended December 31 2009 40480 16080 24400

Year ended December 31 2008 26181 20979 6680 40480

Reserve for sales returns and allowances

Year ended December 31 2010 3445 55353 3445 53353

Year ended December 31 2009 71251 67806 3445

Year ended December 31 2008 73937 71251 73937 71251

Allowance for inventory valuation

YearendedDecember3l2010 183170 46617 $198281 31506

Year ended December 31 2009 183895 25346 26071 183170

Yearended December31 2008 116858 121854 54817 183895

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

Year ended December 312010 $26193982 $1117681 $27311663

Year ended December 31 2009 22166000 4028000 26194000

Year ended December 31 2008 18962000 3204000 22166000
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures

as defined in Rules 13a 15e and 15d 15e of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act as

of the end of the period covered by this report Our management including the Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer supervised and participated in the evaluation Based on the evaluation we concluded

that as of the end of the period covered by this report our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in

providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we tile or submit

under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

SECs forms and rules and the material information relating to the Company is accumulated and communicated

to management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow

timely decisions regarding required disclosures

Control systems no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable not absolute

assurance that control objectives are met Because of inherent limitations in all control systems no evaluation of

controls can provide assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud if any within company will be

detected Additionally controls can be circumvented by individuals by collusion of two or more people or by

management override Over time controls can become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree

of compliance may deteriorate Further the design of any system of controls is based in part upon assumptions

about the likelihood of future events There can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its

stated goals under all future conditions Because of the inherent limitations in any cost effective control system

misstatements due to errors or fraud may occur and not be detected

Managements Anaual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control

over financial reporting The Companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements

for external
purposes

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America Internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of

the assets of the Company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management

and directors of the Company and iiiprovide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements The Companys management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 No matter how well designed because of inherent limitations

in all control systems internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements should

they occur Also projections of
any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

control procedures may deteriorate In making this assessment the Companys management used the criteria set

forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control

Integrated Framework Based on such assessment management has concluded that the Companys internal

control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2010 This annual report does not include an

attestation report of the Companys registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
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reporting Managements report was not subject to attestation by the Companys registered public accounting

firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only

managements report in this annual report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

quarter ended December 31 2010 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the

Companys internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement for our

2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days

after the end of 2010 the Proxy Statement

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement

ITEM 12 SECURITV OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 2010

Number of securities

remaiuiug available for

future issuance tinder

Number of securities to Weighted-average equity compensation
be issued upon exercise exercise price of plans excluding

of outstanding options outstanding options securities reflected in

warrants and rights warrants and rights21 columna
Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders1 3408304 $7.82 705599

Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders

Total 3408304 $7.82 705599

Represents outstanding stock options restricted stock and performance shares as of December 31 2010

The weighted average exercise price is calculated without taking into account restricted stock and

performance shares that will become issuable without any cash consideration or other payment as esting

requirements and/or performance goals are achieved

Amounts include awards under our 2001 Stock Option Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan but exclude

shares purchased under our 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The remaining information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement
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ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The financial statements required by Item 15a are filed in Item of this Form 10-K

The financial statement schedules required by Item 15a are filed in Item of this Forni 10-K

The following exhibits are included in this Forni 10-K or incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K

Exhibit No Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference to our Registration

Statement on Form Registration No 333 124197 filed on April 20 2005

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement

on Form S-l Registration No 333-124 197 filed on April 20 2005

4.1 Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement dated June 2002 between AtriCure Inc

and each of the signatory Investors incorporated by reference to Amendment No to our

Registration Statement on Form 5-1 Registration No 333-124197 filed on June 14 2005

4.2 Amendment No to Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement dated March 2005

between AtriCure Inc and each of the signatory Investors incorporated by reference to

Amendment No ito our Registration Statement on Form S-I Registration No 333-124 197
filed on June 14 2005

4.3 Specimen common stock certificate incorporated by reference to Amendment No to our

Registration Statement on Form S-i Registration No 333-124 197 filed on July 2005

4.4 Warrant to purchase AtriCure Inc common stock issued to Silicon Valley Bank on May 2009

incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form i0-Q filed on August 10 2009

10.1 2001 Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference to Amendment No ito our Registration

Statement on Form S-I Registration No 333 i24l97 filed on June 14 2005

10.2 Agreement dated as of July 18 2006 by and between AtriCure Inc and the Cleveland Clinic

incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 20 2006

10.3 Amendment No dated as of December 2008 to Agreement dated as of July 18 2006 by and

between AtriCure Inc and the Cleveland Clinic incorporated by reference to our Annual Report

on Form 10-K filed on March 16 2009

10.4 Amendment No effective as of December 28 2009 to Agreement dated as of July 18 2006 by

and between AtriCure Inc and the Cleveland Clinic incorporated by reference to our Annual

Report on Form 10 filed on March 30 2010

10.5 Employment Agreement dated as of January 2007 between AtriCure Inc and Julie Piton

incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form filed on January 2007

10.6 Amendment of Employment Agreement dated as of April 17 2007 between AtriCure Inc and

Julie Piton incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 20

2007

10.7 Amendment No to Employment Agreement effective as of January 2010 between AtriCure

Inc and Julie Piton incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

March i2 2010

10.8 Employment Agreement dated as of February 2007 between AtriCure Inc and David

Drachman incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 14

2007
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Exhibit No Description

10.9 Amendment No ito Employment Agreement effective as of January 12010 between AtriCure

Inc and David Drachman incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed

on March 12 2010

10.10 2005 Equity Incentive Plan as amended on September 19 2007 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form S-8 Registration Statement File No 333 152014 filed on

June 30 2008

10.11 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants

Form S-8 Registration Statement File No 333 152013 filed on June 30 2008

10.12 Form of Performance Share Agreement incorporated by reference to our Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on October 31 2008

10.13 Amended Form of Performance Share Agreement incorporated by reference to our Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on March 30 2009

10.14 Settlement Agreement as of February 2010 by and among the United States of America acting

through the United States Department of Justice and on behalf of the Office of Inspector General

of the Department of Health and Human Services the Company and the Relator incorporated by

reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2010

10.15 Corporate Integrity Agreement between the Office of Inspector General of the Department of

Health and Human Services and AtriCure Inc incorporated by reference to our Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on February 2010

10.16 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 13 2010 between

Silicon Valley Bank and AtriCure Inc tincorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form

filed on September 17 2010

10 17 Export Import Bank Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 13 2010 between

Silicon Valley Bank and AtriCure Inc incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form

8-K filed on September 17 2010

10.18 First Loan Modification Agreement dated as of March 15 2011 between Silicon Valley Bank and

AtriCure Inc incorporated by refcrence to our Current Report on Form filed on March 16

2011

10.19 Export Import Bank First Loan Modification Agreement dated as of March 15 2011 between

Silicon Valley Bank aud AtriCure Inc incoiporated by reference to uui Cuiieut Report on Fuiiu

8-K tiled on March 16 2011

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touchc LLP

31.1 Rule 13a-14a Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Rule 3a 14a Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

37 Certification piirsoant to IS IJ.S.C Section 1350 hy the Chief Executive Officer as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 by the Chief Financial Officer as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

Portions of this exhibit havc been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchangc

Commission pursuant to request for confidential treatment

Compcnsatory plan or arrangement

94



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

Form 10-K to he signed on our behalf hy the undersigned thereiintn duly allthnri7ed

AtriCure Inc

REGISTRANT

Date March 31 2011 /5/ David Drachman

David Drachman

President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Date March 31 2011 /s/Julie Piton

Julie Piton

Vice President of Finance and Administration

and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

KNOW ALL MEN AND WOMEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears

below constitutes and appoints David Drachman his attorney-in-fact with the power of substitution for him in

any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this Form 10-K and to file the same with exhibits

thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission

granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and each of them full power and authority to do and perform each and every

act and thing requisite and necessary to be done therewith as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or

could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys in-fact and any of them or his

substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue thereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Form 10-K has been signed by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 31 2011

Signature Titles

/s/ Richard Johnston Richard Johnston

Richard NI Johnston Chairman ott/ic Board

/s/ David Drachman David Drachman

David Drachman Directo President and Chief Eecuti cc Officer

Principal Evecntive Officer

/s/ Julie Piton Julie Piton

Julie Piton Vice President of Finance and Administration

and Ghief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Acconnting Officer

/s/ Mark Collar Mark Collar

Mark Collar Director

/s/ Donald Harrison Donald Harrison

Donald Harrison Director

/s/ Michael Hooven Michael Hooven

Michael Hooven Director
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Signature Titles

Is Elizabeth Krell Elizabeth Krell

Elizabeth Krell Director

Is Mark Lanning Mark Lanning

Mark Lanning Director

Is Karen Robards Karen Robarcls

Karen Robards Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference to our Registration

Statement on Form Registration No 333 124197 filed on April 20 2005

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement

on Form 5-1 Registration No 333-124197 filed on April 20 2005

4.1 Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement dated June 2002 between AtriCure Inc

and each of the signatory Investors incorporated by reference to Amendment No to our

Registration Statement on Form 5-1 Registration No 333 124197 filed on June 14 2005

4.2 Amendment No to Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement dated March 2005

between AtriCure Inc and each of the signatory Investors incorporated by reference to

Amendment No ito our Registration Statement on Form 5-1 Registration No 333 124197
filed on June 14 2005

4.3 Specimen common stock certificate incorporated by reference to Amendment No to our

Registration Statement on Form S-i Registration No 333-124197 filed on July 2005

4.4 Warrant to purchase AtriCure Inc common stock issued to Silicon Valley Bank on May 2009

incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 10 2009

10.1 2001 Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference to Amendment No to our Registration

Statement on FormS Registration No 333-124197 filed on June 14 2005

10.2 Agreement dated as of July 18 2006 by and between AtriCure Inc and the Cleveland Clinic

incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form filed on July 20 2006

10.3 Amendment No dated as of December 2008 to Agreement dated as of July 18 2006 by and

between AtriCure Inc and the Cleveland Clinic incorporated by reference to our Annual Report

on Form 10 filed on March 16 2009

10.4 Amendment No effective as of December 28 2009 to Agreement dated as of July 18 2006 by

and between AtriCure Inc and the Cleveland Clinic incorporated by reference to our Annual

report on Form 10 filed on March 16 2009

10.5 Employment Agreement dated as of January 2007 between AtriCure Jnc and Julie Piton

incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form filed on January 2007

i0.6 Amendment of Employment Agreement dated as of April 17 2007 between AtriCure Inc and

Julie Piton incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form filed on April 20

2007

10.7 Amendment No to Employment Agreement effective as of January 2010 between AtriCure

Inc and Julie Piton incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form filed on

March 12 2010

10.8 Employment Agreement dated as of February 2007 between AtriCure Inc and David

Drachman incorporated by reference to our Current Repnrt Form 8-K filed on February 14

2007

10.9 Amendment No to Employment Agreement effective as of January 2010 between AtriCure

Inc and David Drachman incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form filed

on March 12 2010

10.10 2005 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form

Registration Statement File No 333-152014 filed on June 30 2008
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Exhibit No Description

10.11 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants

Form Registration Statement File No 333-1520 13 filed on June 30 2008

10.12 Form of Performance Share Agreement incorporated by reference to our Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on October 31 2008

10.1311 Amended Form of Performance Share Agreement incorporated by reference to our Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on March 30 2009

10.14 Settlement Agreement as of February 2010 by and among the United States of America acting

through the United States Department of Justice and on behalf of the Office of Inspector General

of the Department of Health and Human Services the Company and the Relator incorporated by

reference to our Current Report on Form filed on February 2010

10.15 Corporate Integrity Agreement between the Office of Inspector General of the Department of

Health and Human Services and AtriCure Inc incorporated by reference to our Current Report

on Form filed on February 2010

10.16 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 13 2010 between

Silicon Valley Bank and AtriCure Inc incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form

8-K filed on September 17 2010

10.17 Export Import Bank Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 13 2010 between

Silicon Valley Bank and AtriCure Inc incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form

filed on September 17 2010

10.18 First Lnan Mndificatinn Agreement dated as of March 15 2011 between Silicon Valley Bank and

AtriCure Inc incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 16

2011

10.19 Export Import Bank First Loan Modification Agreement dated as of March 15 2011 between

Silicon Valley Bank and AtriCure Inc incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form

8-K filed on March 16 2011

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP

31 Rule 3a- 14a Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Rule 3a 14a Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 by the Chief Executive Officer as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 by the Chief Financial Officer as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange

Commission pursuant to request for confidential treatment

Compensatory plan or arrangement
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Corporate Information

Board of Directors Management Investor Relations Contact

Richard Johnston

Chairman of the Board

Retired Member Camden Partners

Holdings LLC

David Drachman

AtriCure Inc

Mark Collar

Retired Division President

The Procter Gamble Co

Donald Harrison M.D
Charter Life Sciences LP

Michael Hooven
Enable Medical Technologies LL.C

Elizabeth Krell Ph.D

JK Consultants

Mark Lanning

Hillenbrand Inc

David Drachman

President Chief Executive

Officer and Director

Julie Piton

Vice President Finance and

Administration and Chief

Financial Officer

James Lucky
Vice President Regulatory

Affairs and Ouality Assurance

Frederick Preiss

Vice President Operations

Salvatore Privitera

Vice President Engineering

and Product Development

Stewart Strong

Vice President

United States Sales

Julie Piton

Vice President Finance and Administration

and Chief Financial Officer

Annual Meeting

May 18 2011

900 a.m EDT
AtriCure Inc

6217 Centre Park Drive

West Chester OH 45069

Corporate Headquarters

AtriCure Inc

6217 Centre Park Drive

West Chester OH 45069

513.755.4100

513.755.4108

www.atricure.com

Karen Robards

Robards Company LLC

Form 10-K

The Form 10 is available on the

Internet by acceaaing Atricurea

webaite at w.atricure.com copy

of the company moat recent Form

10-K aa tiled with the u.s secunties

and Exchange commiaaion or 5E
including consolidated financial

statements and the notes and achedules

thereto will be provided to stockholders

upon written requeat to the companya
Investor Relations contact

Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains torward looking statements within the meaning of the Private securities

Litigation Reform Act of iggs Forward-looking statements include statements that addreas activities

events or developments that Atricure expects believes or anticipataa will or may occur in the future

auch as earnings estimates other predictions of financial pertormance launches by Africure of new

products and market acceptance of Afncures producta Forward looking statements are based on

Atricures experience and perception of current conditions trends expected future developments and

other factors it believes are appropriate under the circumstancea and are subiect to numerous risks and

uncertainties many of which are beyond Atricures control Theae risks and uncertainties include the

rate and degree of market acceptance of Africures products Atricures ability to develop and market

new and enhanced products the timing of and ability to obtain and maintain regulatory clearances and

approvals for its products compafifion from cdsfing and new products and techniques or Atricures

ability to effectively react to other risks and uncertainties described from time to time in Atncures sEc

filings such as fluctuaf ion of quarterly financial resulfs reliance on third party manufacturers and suppliers

macroeconomic conditions litigation or other proceedings government regulation and stock price volatility

Forward looking statements are made only as of the date of this report Atricure does not guarantee

any forward looking stafement and actual results may differ materially from those proecfed Atricure

undertakes no obligation to publicly update any forward looking statement whefher as result of new

information future events or otherwise

This material may discuss uses of Atricure devices for the surgical treatment of afrisi fibrillation which are

investigational and have not been approved by the u.s Food and Drug Administration
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